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Introduction from Chair and Chief Executive 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, we welcome you to the Annual Report and Accounts of the 
Trust for the year that ended on 31st March, 2019. This document includes the Annual Report of the 
Board, the Quality Report (often called the Quality Accounts), and the financial accounts for the 
year together with the Report of the External Auditors. Whilst it’s a large publication, and can be 
quite complex in places owing to the statutory or regulatory requirements, we hope that you will 
find it informative about our work during the year. 
 
It has been another successful year for the Trust, with the following being key areas of 
achievement- 
 

 We have continued to meet almost all of the national NHS standards on a continuous basis; 
and for those where we have not met the target, we have been consistently the best 
performer in Greater Manchester and in the top sector nationally. 

 Through careful management of our available resources, and the skill and commitment of 
all of our staff colleagues, we have delivered the agreed Control Total of a deficit of £23.35 
million (before payments from the Provider Sustainability Fund), and delivered efficiency 
savings of £12.57 million in the year. 

 Our continuing innovation and quality of care have been recognised nationally, with a range 
of nominations for national awards. 

 
Towards the end of the year, we were subject to a regular inspection process from the Care Quality 
Commission, including a review of our governance and financial management. Whilst the 
outcomes of this process have not yet been published, we have confidence that they will have 
seen and noted the great work undertaken by our colleagues, both on the hospital site and in 
community settings. 
 
Looking forward, we work closely with our partners both in the Tameside and Glossop area, and 
more broadly across Greater Manchester. It was very pleasing to see that the work and structures 
that we have established locally have been recognised in the NHS 10-year plan published by NHS 
Improvement and NHS England; and indeed form the basis of how the NHS is expected to develop 
in the future, having a much more integrated approach with local authorities around both the 
provision of social services functions and the other determinants of health where the local authority 
has a role to play. We also work closely with a range of other stakeholders, including the voluntary 
sector, to ensure that they can play their full role. A key part of this work has been the development 
of our Neighbourhood Hubs as locations where the patient can access a range of services, beyond 
just NHS, which can assist them has been a key development. 
 
Like much of the NHS, we remain a financially-challenged organisation, despite the magnificent 
efforts of colleagues which have enabled us to deliver the financial outcomes that we planned, and 
have thereby given us credibility with regulators for future years. As part of the transition process 
under the NHS 10-year plan, we will be preparing a plan by the end of 2019 for regulators, setting 
out how we will become a financially sustainable organisation over the 5-year period envisioned in 
the 10-year plan; and we await the national guidance to produce this. 
 
We hope that you will find the remainder of the report interesting, and look forward to discussing it 
with you at the Annual Members’ Meeting on Thursday, 19th September 2019. 
 
 
Jane McCall       Karen James 
Trust Chair       Chief Executive 
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Performance Report 

 
Overview of Performance 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. This section of the Annual Report and Accounts gives an introduction to the Trust’s 

performance over the year that ended 31st March, 2019. More detailed information is given 
in Performance Analysis section starting at page 10. 

 
1.2. This section also outlines the purpose of the Trust, our history, and the key issues and 

risks that the Board have identified as affecting our work and ability to meet the strategic 
objectives that we have set ourselves. 

 
2. Statement of Purpose and Activities 
 

2.1. The Trust exists, as part of the National Health Service, to provide health services to the 
population of England; and more specifically, mainly to provide them to the residents of the 
areas of Tameside  Metropolitan Borough Council, and the Glossop, Tintwistle and St 
John's areas of Derbyshire. We provide a District General Hospital service, including an 
Accident and Emergency Department, together with community-based and intermediate 
care services. This range of services enables us, in combination with our partners, to 
provide care beyond the traditional acute setting. 
 

2.2. With a significant part of our area in the Greater Manchester Region, we are closely 
involved with development of Greater Manchester's health and social care system; and as 
part of this wider approach, we are continuing to move towards greater integration of the 
health and social care systems in the Tameside area. These changes would not 
necessarily apply to the Derbyshire side of our area, but we are seeking to apply them in 
those areas in association with the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group.. Across all of 
our area, we are seeking to be a leader in the development of digital and other services to 
divert patients from needing acute services, and providing them with care as close to home 
as possible; through such initiatives as Digital Care and closer working with our social care 
colleagues. 
 

2.3. The Trust's business model is to move, over time, to being a provider of integrated care 
across both health and social care services. We have already moved forward in this work 
over the previous few years, with a consolidation of services being provided by the Trust 
and also other services which the Trust does not provide (such as Primary Care) being co-
ordinated through the establishment of Neighbourhoods. The neighbourhood 
arrangements work to bring together health, social care and other local services in a single 
location, so that patients and service users have easier and co-ordinated access. With our 
key partners in the local health economy, we are also working in a linked fashion to better 
co-ordinate the interface between health provision (NHS) and social care provision (Local 
Authorities) so that the overall care and experience for patients and their carers is 
improved. However, it is important to recognise that there are limits to the work that can 
properly be undertaken by the Trust, given both the division of responsibilities reflected in 
legislation, and also the requirement that the objective of the Trust is the provision of 
services for the NHS. During the year, the Board has reviewed and reformulated its 
strategy, reflecting developing national and Greater Manchester objectives. 
 

2.4. The Trust's organisational structure is as a Public Benefit Corporation, incorporated under 
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the provisions of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended, principally by the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012). The Board considers that this remains the most 
appropriate legal form for the provision of these services, given the legislative 
requirements.  

 
3. History of the Trust 
 

3.1. The Trust was authorised as a Foundation Trust in February 2008, the successor to 
various organisations that have been responsible for the provision of care on the Tameside 
General Hospital site for many years. The Trust now provides secondary and community 
healthcare services to the populations of the Tameside Metropolitan Borough area, and the 
Glossop, Tintwistle and St John's areas of Derbyshire. We are also working closely with 
our partners across the piece to deliver integrated care through the creation of co-
ordinated provision in five neighbourhoods, which bring together primary and secondary 
health with social care and local voluntary and community services, for the benefit of 
patients. 

 
3.2. The Trust is a Public Benefit Corporation, incorporated under the National Health Service 

Act 2006. As such, it is subject to regulation by Monitor (now part of NHS Improvement), 
who are responsible for regulating its organisational performance and governance. It is 
also regulated by the Care Quality Commission, who have primary responsibility for 
regulating the quality of care provision in the Trust (as with all registered providers of care). 
The Trust also has regulatory relationships with other statutory regulators including the 
Human Tissue Authority and the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority; and 
maintains relations with the statutory regulators for its individual members of staff, 
including the General Medical Council and the Nursing and Midwifery Council.  

 
4. Key Issues and Risks 
 

4.1. The Board recognises that the delivery of the objectives that it has set for the Trust can be 
affected by a range of issues. There is a policy and process in place to enable the Trust, 
through the Board, its Committees and management, to identify risk, set out and measure 
steps to mitigate and manage risk, and to identify the potential impacts if the risk 
eventuates. 

 
4.2. Key external matters affecting the ability of the Trust to deliver its objectives include- 

 

 National policy decisions, including those related to funding, national pay arrangements, 
and development priorities set out by NHS England through the Standard Contract; 

 The expectations of clinical regulators, particularly the Care Quality Commission, and 
changes to those expectations from time to time; 

 The position of the staffing market for key specialist staff, particularly clinical colleagues, 
who are a key factor in being able to provide high-quality and safe services. 

 
4.3. The Board maintains a Board Assurance Framework (BAF) which sets out the strategic 

risks that the Board has identified as affecting the achievement of the strategic objectives. 
During the year, the BAF was considered, with suggestions for updates, at each formal 
meeting of the Board. The Board is considering a change in the way it oversees the BAF, 
given that the risks are strategic and might be expected to be longer-term in changing and 
responding to actions to mitigate or manage them. 

 
4.4. For the 2018-2019 year, the key strategic risks identified by the Board were- 

 

 The challenges in the recruitment and retention of sufficient staff with the skills and 
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experience to ensure that services are delivered in a safe way and providing a good patient 
experience; 

 Ensuring that the Trust is able to deliver the agreed financial plan (including the challenging 
efficiency plans) and maintain access to loan support from the Department of Health; 

 Ensuring that there are effective partnership arrangements for the Trust's work with 
partners at the local and regional health economy levels, which will deliver the anticipated 
benefits from the integrated provision of services by the partners. 

 
4.5. These risks are broadly expected to remain as the key challenges in the 2019-2020 year. 

The Trust continues to address these challenges as part of key systems, including the 
Tameside and Glossop locality and the Greater Manchester region. 
 

4.6. During the year, the Board has been updated in public session on the national 
expectations on Trusts related to the United Kingdom leaving the European Union. The 
Trust has complied with all relevant national requirements. The Board has reviewed the 
potential risks, and has concluded that this is not a significant strategic risk for the 
organisation given the matters being dealt with directly by NHS central bodies and HM 
Government. 

 
5. Going Concern 
 

5.1. Having given careful consideration to all information in their possession, the Directors have 
concluded that there is a reasonable expectation that Tameside and Glossop Integrated 
Care NHS Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the 12 months following the approval of this statement.  For this reason they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 

 
5.2. In coming to this conclusion, the Directors recognise that there is material uncertainty that 

affects whether the Trust should adopt this basis. The Directors have had particular regard 
to the following matters. 

 
5.3. The Trust is planning for an income and expenditure deficit of £5.7 million in 2019/20, on 

the basis that the Trust will achieve the necessary performance to receive the agreed 
allocation from the Provider Sustainability Fund and the Financial Recovery Fund.  As at 
31st March 2019, the Trust had net liabilities of £21.9 million, and anticipates this will 
increase to £32.9 million by 31st March 2020, reflecting the planned deficit for 2019/20. In 
order to deliver the agreed financial plan, the Trust will have to achieve efficiency savings 
of at least £11.5m within the year. 

 
5.4. In order to meet the Trust's liabilities within the year, the Directors anticipate seeking a 

further £11.0 million from the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) in loan 
support. This would bring the total Trust loan liability to £108.5 million.  

 
5.5. The Directors have cause to believe that DHSC will provide the required loans, as NHS 

Improvement has indicated that they will approve a financial plan for the year predicated 
on those loans becoming available. The Directors have also had regard to the guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State under Section 42A of the National Health Service Act 
2006, regarding his policy on granting loan support to NHS provider organisations. 

 
5.6. If loan support is not provided, the Trust would not be able to meet its debts as they fell 

due.  The Trust would need to enter discussions with Commissioners and regulators 
regarding the future of provision, particularly Commissioner-Requested Services under 
Condition CoS 7 of the Trust's Provider Licence.  As with any Trust placing reliance on the 
DHSC for financial support, the Directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty that 
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this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial statements, 
they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. 

 
5.7. The Directors have also considered the following factors in concluding that the Trust is a 

going concern; 

 

 The level and basis of expected income for 2019/20, supported by fully signed off contracts 
and agreed activity levels; 

 Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  (Tameside & Glossop Clinical 
Commissioning Group) to the Trust’s overall service strategy;  

 Robust assessment of the impact of the block contract agreed with the main commissioner, 
specifically for 2019/20 but looking to the medium-term;  

 Robust assessment of the impact of Payment by Results tariffs for secondary 
commissioner contracts, specifically in 2019/20 but looking to the medium-term;  

 Full identification of potential risks and opportunities incorporated into the financial plan for 
2019/20, including the potential impact of planned demand management initiatives; 

 The long-term financial settlement announced by HM Government for the NHS; 

 The priorities set out in the 10-year plan published by NHS England, and in particular the 
expectations within that for the provider sector and individual providers to become 
financially self-sustainable in the medium-term; 

 Prior Board agreement to apply to DHSC for loan funding as required during the course of 
the 2019/20 year, up to a total of £11.0 million.   

 
5.8. The capital expenditure programme for 2019/20, as agreed by the Board, has been risk 

assessed to reflect the requirements of the Trust to ensure delivery of Commissioner-
Requested Services. 
 

5.9. Based on these indications, the Directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the 
accounts on a going concern basis.  However, the matters referred to above represent a 
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and, therefore, to continue realising its assets and discharging its liabilities 
in the normal course of business.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments 
that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate. 

 
6. Summary of Performance 
 

6.1. The Board considers that the Trust’s performance during the year has been satisfactory, 
with the Trust continuing to deliver high-quality services to the population of Tameside and 
Glossop. We have continued to be recognised for our innovative work during the year, and 
the recent inspection by the Care Quality Commission appears not to have identified any 
significant areas of concern. As can be seen in the next section, throughout the year we 
have continued to meet most of the targets set in the NHS Constitution, including for 
cancer and referral-to-treatment delays; and have met the required trajectory performance 
for A&E waiting times. 

 
6.2. Our financial performance has also been strong, with the Trust achieving the Control Total 

agreed with NHS Improvement for the year (a deficit of £23.35 million before payments 
from the Provider Sustainability Fund), and delivering a substantial set of efficiency 
schemes totalling slightly under £12.57 million. Whilst the Trust continues formally to be 
subject to Enforcement Undertakings agreed with NHS Improvement (Monitor), which were 
updated during the year, we have met all of the conditions that were set for the Trust. The 
Board has noted that, as part of accepting the Control Total for 2019-2020, there is an 
obligation to put in place a Financial Recovery Plan by the end of the 2019 calendar year; 
and awaits the detailed guidance from NHS Improvement to construct this. 
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Performance Analysis 
 

7. Key Performance Measures 
 

7.1. The Board recognises the importance of being able to measure performance in order to 
effectively manage and improve it. The following are the key metrics (KPI's) that were 
reported to the Board regularly during the course of the year, stated with the agreed target 
and performance over the course of the year- 

 

 Target Actual 

Safe Service 

Mortality- SMR (rolling 12-months) 100 or less 114.9 1 

Mortality- SHMI (rolling 12-months) 100 or less 122 2 

MRSA- Actual cases 0 11 

C. Difficile- Actual cases 96 or less 60 

C. Difficile- Avoidable cases N/A 8 

Safe Staffing- Registered staff hours on shift against 
planned 

N/A 94.05% 

Safe Staffing- Care Assistant staff hours on shift against 
planned 

N/A 104.19% 

Harm-free care (all harms) N/A 92.7% 

Harm-free care (new harms) 95% or better 97.99% 

Emergency re-admission within 30 days 12% or less 12.3% 

Breaches of 'Duty of Candour' requirements 0 0 

Trolley waits in A&E (12 hours +) 0 0 

Responsive Service Provision 

Less than 4-hour wait in A&E- Types 1 and 3 activity 95% or better 91.7% 

Less than 4-hour wait in A&E- Type 1 activity only N/A 81.6% 

Referral to treatment-complete pathways at 18 weeks 92% or better 92.35% 

Referral to treatment- incomplete pathways at 52 weeks 0 0 

Urgent operations suffering a second cancellation 0 0 

Delayed Transfer of Care (days) 600 or less per 
month 

Average 531 per 
month 

Caring Service Provision 

Friends and Family Test- positive responses (all) 92% or better 91.4% 

Friends and Family Test- response rate (A&E and 
Inpatients) 

N/A 22.72% 

Complaints responded to within the agreed timescale 90% or better 94.76% 

Complaints upheld by the Health Service Ombudsman 0 0 

Staff Attendance 96% or better 94.65% 

                                                 
1
 Rolling 12-month period to January 2019 

2
 Rolling 12-month period to September 2018 
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 Target Actual 

Effective Service provision 

Discharge Summaries- A&E issued within 48 hours 95% or better 83.6% 

Discharge Summaries- Inpatients issued within 48 hours 95% or better 82.1% 

Discharge Summaries- Outpatients issued within 5 days 95% or better 87.7% 

Well-Led Service provision 

Delivery of efficiency schemes £13 million £12.57 million 

Spend on agency staffing £9.5 million £6.4 million 

Use of Resources rating 3 3 

NHS Improvement rating- Single Oversight Framework 3 3 

CQC Rating Good Good 3 

 
Certain figures in the above table are not available to the end of March 2019 at the date of 
publication of this report, as the underlying processes to produce the data could not be completed 
in the time available. 
 

7.2. The Board receives exception reports where performance has not reached expectations, 
setting out the reasons for the position and the actions that management proposes to take 
to move back to compliance. Exception reports are also presented for certain items, 
whether or not performance is below expectation, where there are regulatory expectations 
to that effect. 

 
7.3. The Board has set the KPI's in part to assist it in assessing the level of assurance 

available regarding the risks to strategic performance set out in the Board Assurance 
Framework, maintaining compliance with CQC minimum requirements, and the 
requirements of the NHS Improvement Licence. During the year, the Trust has been 
developing robust systems for KPI identification and measurement in respect of 
Community services, having determined that the systems in place when services were 
transferred to the Trust did not provide sufficient assurance. There are no national 
standard indicators for these services, so the Trust is engaging in leading-edge 
development in this area. The Board expects that it will be able to set KPI's and begin 
monitoring during the course of the 2019-2020 year. 

 
7.4. For each indicator, there is a level of uncertainty as to the achievement possible during the 

course of the year, which generally reduces (either positively or negatively) as the year 
progresses and there is less time for changes to be given effect  There is also 
environmental uncertainty, given that factors affecting performance may well be outside of 
the control of the Trust; for example, the prevailing weather conditions or political choices 
that affect funding or quality requirements for services. For each indicator there is also a 
risk that the Trust will fail to achieve the set performance. It is management's responsibility 
to ensure that all available actions are taken to achieve targets, and the Board will hold 
management to account for the actions that are taken. Equally, however, external factors 
beyond any reasonable anticipation or control may influence performance. 

 
8. Development and performance through the year 
 
 

                                                 
3
  This rating is at the publication of this report, when the report from the CQC inspection in March- April 2019 was not 

yet available. 
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Income and Expenditure Summary 
 

8.1. In 2018/19, the Trust agreed a Control Total (CT) with NHS Improvement of £23.370m 
deficit, prior to the potential receipt of Provider Sustainability Funding (PSF) of £4.221m, 
leaving a net financial plan of £19.149m deficit.  

 
8.2. The Trust’s year-end deficit was £23.348m, with the Trust also delivering all requirements 

to be eligible for the full £4.221m of PSF funding, as well as receiving additional PSF 
funding of £3.287m. This resulted in an adjusted net deficit, excluding exceptional items, of 
£15.840m, £3.309m better than planned. The exceptional item of £0.169m relates to the 
depreciation on a donated asset.  

 
8.3. Each of the tables in the report sets out the Trust’s planned and actual figures for 2018/19 

as well as the 2017/18 actual and 2019/20 plan figures for comparison. 
 

8.4. The table below illustrates the summary statement of the Trust’s financial position:- 
 

 
 

8.5. The Trust’s actual adjusted deficit in 2018/19 saw an improvement of £7.887m compared 
to the 2017/8 position. A number of contributory factors led to the improvement as 
articulated below:- 

 

 Agreeing a CT – by agreeing a CT, the Trust was eligible for receipt of PSF, which was not 
the case in 2017/18; this improved the Trust’s deficit by £7.508m. 
 

 Trust Efficiency Programme (TEP) – the Trust set an ambitious efficiency target in 
2018/19; this target helped to offset increased pressures in expenditure.  
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Analysis of Income 
 

8.6. The Trust received £225.795m of income in 2018/19, the breakdown is outlined in the table 
below:-  

 

 
 

8.7. The Trust has seen an increase in income of £13.037m between 2017/18 and 2018/19.  
This is in relation to: 

 

 Income from activities – increased by £6.832m when compared to 2017/18 with the 
key increases described below:- 

 Income to offset the impact of the national pay reform. 
 Funding from the Local Authority to support investment in Delayed Transfers of 

Care and enablement funding to support admission avoidance and early 
discharge of winter. 

 The reduction in CCG and NHS England income is largely offset by an increase 
in Local Authority income and relates almost entirely to a change in the 
commissioning and the payment of services rather than changes in activity. 
 

 Other income – PSF funding received from NHS Improvement in 2018/19; offset by 
one off income streams in 2017/18. The overachievement of PSF relates to additional 
national PSF based on financial achievement, delivery of the Trust’s Emergency 
Department four-hour target, general distribution and bonus.  

 
Analysis of Expenditure 

 
8.8. The table below provides a summary of the key areas of operating expenditure incurred by 

the Trust:- 
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8.9. The increase in financial expenditure of £5.596m between 2017/18 and 2018/19 is due to 
the following:- 

 

 Pay awards and incremental drift - in 2018/19, the NHS agreed a new pay deal, which 
resulted in a significant increase in staff costs. The impact of the new pay deal was 
funded nationally and consequently the Trust received a corresponding increase in 
clinical income.  

 Investments in staffing to improve quality and safety. 

 Cost of borrowing to offset the Trust’s deficit. 
 

Offset by:-  
 

 Reduction in contributions to the Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST) 

 Delivery of the TEP. 
 

8.10. The Trust is planning for £241.232m of expenditure in 2019/20, £4.719m more than 
2018/19; pay inflation and the transfer of the services associated with the Walk in Centre 
being the most significant contributory factors of the increase.   

 
Analysis of TEP 
 

8.11. The Trust delivered efficiency savings of £12.569m in 2018/19, £0.431m less than 
planned. This was £2.531m or 25.2% more than the Trust achieved in 2017/18. The 
Trust delivered a level of savings that was proportionately higher than most neighbouring 
organisations but maintained strong performance standards. The table below indicates 
the savings delivered over the last two years, plan and actual for 2018/19 and the 
proposed plan for 2019/20:- 

 

 
 
In 2019/20, the Trust is planning for a challenging £11.580m of saving.  
 
Capital Spending 
 

8.12. The Trust planned for £5.600m of capital expenditure in 2018/19, of which, £2m related 
to potential external funding and the balance of £3.6m being internally generated. The 
Trust invested £4.628m in capital expenditure in 2018/19, with a breakdown of the types 
of expenditure conveyed in the table below:- 

 

 
 

8.13. Whilst £5.600m was planned, £1m of the external funding was delayed due to reasons 
outside of the Trust’s control. The balance of external funding, a donated asset, was 
replaced by successful national bids for funding outlined below. This resulted in a revised 
capital plan of £5.027m with actual expenditure equating to £4.628, £0.399m less than 
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the revised plan.  
 
8.14. As a result of the Trust agreeing a CT in 2018/19, it was able to access national capital 

funding and was successful in a number of areas:- 
 

 £1.300m that was invested in the expansion of the Trust’s Emergency Department. 

 £0.127m invested in providing free Wi-Fi for patients. 
 

8.15. The Trust is planning for capital investments of £4.637m in 2019/20.  Of this investment, 
the Trust is anticipating receiving £1.493m from external sources. 

 
Cash Support 
 

8.16. The Trust received Uncommitted Revenue Support loans of £21.728m in 2018/19, which 
are repayable in 2021/22.   The Trust now has a total loan liability of £97.505m, which is 
currently repayable between 2012 and 2022.  The 2019/20 annual plan assumes 
additional loans totalling £11.533m. The Trust’s acceptance of a CT results in the interest 
rate on loans falling from 3.5% to 1.5%, which could save over £0.5m. 

 
Use of Resources (UoR) Risk Rating 
 

8.17. The Trust is assessed by NHS Improvement with a Use of Resources (UOR) risk rating.  
This generates a rating between one and four, with one being the best. 

 
8.18. The UOR rating incorporates four measures of financial robustness, as set out below:- 

 
1. Liquidity 
2. Capital servicing coverage 
3. Income and expenditure (I&E) margin 
4. I&E variance from plan 
5. Agency expenditure against NHSI ceiling 
 
The table below illustrates the Trust’s 2018/19 position against each of the measures identified 
above:- 
 

 
 
9. Environmental Matters 
 

9.1. The Trust recognises that its operations have an impact on the environment, particularly 
through the need to use fuel, electricity and specific consumable items in order to provide 
services to the required standards. It is the policy of the Board to minimise our impact on 
the environment, as far as possible, where that is consistent with our other obligations. 

 
9.2. Detailed reporting about our environmental performance, together with our future strategy, 

can be found in the Sustainable Development section of this report on page 76.  
 
10. Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 
 

10.1. In accordance with the national guidance issued by NHS England, the Board has 
conducted a self-assessment during the year of its compliance with the national 
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guidelines for EPRR. Based on detailed work undertaken, the Board declared that it was 
in Substantial compliance, with a compliance rate against the Core Standards between 
89% and 99%. For each Core Standard where compliance could not be declared, there 
was a clear plan to deliver compliance within the following 12 months. 

 
10.2. Of the 64 Core Standards that apply to the Trust, the assessment approved by the Board 

was- 
 

Fully compliant Partially compliant Not compliant 

59 2 3 

 
 
11. Social, community and human rights 
 

11.1. As a significant organisation in the local economy, the Trust recognises that it will have 
an impact on the local communities that it serves. In particular, as the main provider of 
secondary healthcare in the area, we are both a significant employer and contract with 
local suppliers for goods and services. 

 
11.2. We engage with the communities that we serve, in order both to inform the development 

of services and to understand the impact of our work on local communities. In particular, 
we are participating with the CCG and Tameside Council in a Public Engagement Forum 
structure, designed to enable us to obtain community feedback on various areas of 
policy development and delivery, with a particular focus on areas where policy 
development needs to be co-ordinated to be effective. We also benefit from the input of 
Governors, who have a statutory responsibility to represent the views of Trust Members 
and the public on the services provided by the Trust. 

 
11.3. Information on the Trust's policies related to the employment of staff can be found in this 

report starting at page 35. 
 
11.4. The Trust has adopted policies related to procurement that recognise that there may be 

advantages to locally-sourcing some products or services. Our policy, consistent with 
that of Government, is to ensure that local providers, and particularly small and medium-
sized enterprises in the locality, obtain a fair opportunity to bid to provide goods or 
services when required by the Trust. Details of opportunities to bid are available on the 
national contracting service web-sites. All procurement exercises are undertaken in 
accordance with the Trust's local control systems, and also the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 where they apply. 

 
11.5. As a public authority, the Trust is obliged to act in a way that protects and promotes 

human rights as defined under the Human Rights Act 1998. There are a number of areas 
where the work of the Trust may impact on the human rights of those utilising the 
services, including ensuring that consent is informed and a free choice; ensuring the 
liberty of the subject; and the prevention of prohibited discrimination to both staff, 
patients and the community. The policy of the Trust remains to protect and promote the 
human rights of those it deals with pro-actively, as far as possible within the constraints 
of its working environment. In that respect, it sets out below a statement on compliance 
with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, although not formally bound by those provisions. 

 
11.6. The Trust has adopted control systems, through the Standing Financial Instructions and 

other arrangements, to actively seek to prevent fraud, bribery and corrupt payments. A 
Local Counter-Fraud service is maintained to support the Trust in this area, and actively 
investigates allegations. During the year there have been a number of investigations, 
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which have in appropriate cases resulted in both disciplinary and external action. More 
detail is given in the report of the Audit Committee’s work, starting on page 61. 

 
12. Compliance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015 
 

12.1. The Trust is understood not to be formally subject to the reporting provisions set out in 
Part 6 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, as it is not a 'commercial organisation' as defined 
in the Act. However, the Board has decided that it will give an overview as if these 
responsibilities applied to the Trust. 
 

12.2. As part of the National Health Service, the majority of the supplies used by the Trust are 
obtained through the NHS supply chain arrangements, which operate nationally and 
provide support to all NHS providers. The NHS supply chain arrangements include 
arrangements to ensure that supplies provided to the NHS can be reasonably assured 
not to have involved slavery or human trafficking; and the Trust relies of these 
arrangements as its assurance for supplies obtained through the NHS supply chain. 

 
12.3. For supplies obtained outside of the NHS supply chain arrangements, the Trust's 

procurement arrangements include undertakings by suppliers that the goods have been 
obtained in a manner compliant with the Modern Slavery Act, and that the appropriate 
checks have been undertaken for the earlier parts of the supply chain. The Trust retains 
a right of inspection if a query is raised as to the provenance of any goods supplied. 

 
12.4. The Trust is also aware of the potential for certain operations, such as building works 

undertaken on site, to involve offences under the Act. We require contractors to provide 
proof that the individuals working on site are lawfully able to be present in the UK and to 
work, are paid and taxed according to law, and otherwise meet the requirements in place 
to comply with the Modern Slavery Act. These requirements are also imposed on any 
sub-contractors down the chain for works being undertaken on site. 

 
13. Events since the year-end 
 

13.1. There have not been any significant events to report between the end of the financial 
year, and the date of the approval of this report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________ 
 
Karen James 
Chief Executive 
 
22nd May, 2019 
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Accountability Report 

 
Director's Report 

 
14. Directors 
 

14.1. During the year ended on 31st March, 2019, the following served as Directors of the 
Trust- 

 
Sallie Bridgen 
Patricia Cavanagh 
Anne Dray 
Cathy Elliott 
Karen James 
Pauline Jones (retired 30th September 2018) 
Jane McCall 
 

Tracey McErlain-Burns (retired 30th November 
2018) 
Peter Noble 
Brendan Ryan 
Sam Simpson (appointed 1st June 2018) 
Martyn Taylor 
Peter Weller (appointed 1st February 2019) 
Claire Yarwood (retired 31st May, 2018)

 
14.2. During the year, the following Directors held the offices indicated- 

 

Trust Chair Jane McCall 

Trust Deputy Chair Anne Dray (also Senior Independent Director) 

Chief Executive Karen James 

 
14.3. Given the retirement of Anne Dray from the Board in December 2019, the Board 

(following consultation with the Council of Governors) appointed Martyn Taylor to be both 
Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director from 1st May, 2019. 

 
15. Director's and Governors' Interests 
 

15.1. In accordance with the requirements of the national guidance published by NHS England 
and applied through the NHS Standard Contract, the Trust maintains a Register of 
Interests (which includes information on gifts and hospitality). This includes details of the 
interests declared by Directors, and is published on-line at 
https://tgicft.mydeclarations.co.uk.The published register is updated on a live basis, as 
new entries are made by relevant staff and Directors. 

 
16. Cost allocation and charging 
 

16.1. Throughout the year ended 31st March 2019, and at all subsequent times until the 
approval of this annual report by the Board, the Trust has been compliant with the 
guidance on cost allocation and charging that has been issued for the NHS by Her 
Majesty's Treasury. 

 
17. Payment to suppliers 
 

17.1. The Trust is subject to the provisions of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, which 
set out a requirement that all public bodies will pay all valid, undisputed invoices in a 
timely manner and in any event within 30 days of confirmation that they are valid and 
undisputed. The Trust does not participate in the Better Payment Practice Code, as the 
provisions of the Regulations set out the required statutory standard for the Trust. 

https://tgicft.mydeclarations.co.uk/
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17.2. The Trust's performance for the year ended 31st March 2019, calculated in accordance 

with Regulation 113(7) of the Regulations and reported in line with the requirements set 
out by NHS Improvement, is- 

 

 NHS Contracts Other invoices Total 

Number £000’s Number £000’s Number £000’s 

Invoices paid within 30 days 455 17,996 14,893 97,223 15,348 115,219 

Invoices required to be paid within 30 days 1,878 26,188 43,930 139,661 45,808 165,849 

Proportion of those paid to required (%) 24.2 68.7 33.9 69.6 33.5 69.47 

 
 
18. Review of systems of internal control 
 

18.1. Supported by the work of the Audit Committee and internal audit, the Board has 
reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of internal control in place during the course of 
the year. The review has been informed by the findings of the various internal audit 
reviews conducted during the year, together with relevant external reviews. 

 
18.2. The outcomes of the Board's review are covered in the Annual Governance Statement, 

made by the Accounting Officer and bound into this report. 
 
19. Governance and being Well-Led 
 

19.1. The Board recognises that, as a Foundation Trust, it is important that the governance 
structures in place (both corporate and clinical) support and enable the Trust to be well-
led. Key factors in delivering this include- 

 

 Having the Board meeting regularly, with a clear view as to its strategic role and holding 
management to account; 

 Operating as a single, unitary Board, with the Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
working together and recognising the contribution brought by colleagues; 

 Support through a comprehensive system of Committees, which both support the 
development of strategy and engage in more detailed accountability work; 

 Effective engagement with the Council of Governors, whose responsibility to appoint Non-
Executive Directors is key to ensuring that the Board is effective. 

 
19.2. The governance provided at Board level is supported by a full structure of management-

level groups, which are linked to the appropriate Executive Directors and support their 
accountability to the Board and the Board’s Committee structure. 

 
19.3. More detail about specific aspects of the governance structures can be found in the 

Annual Governance Statement, the section of this report on the work of the Board and 
Council starting at page 50, and the work of the Board’s Committees starting at page 59. 

 
19.4. In arriving at the overall evaluation of the Trust's performance that is set out at page 52, 

the Trust has had regard to the guidance in the Well-Led Framework. This has included 
reviewing the control systems in place, through the Quality & Governance Committee 
and the Audit Committee, against the Framework's guidance in order to provide the 
Board with robust positive assurance that the Trust is meeting these expectations. The 
Board is also supported by the various Committees in managing risk through the Board 
Assurance Framework. The risks on the Framework are reviewed at least annually 
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following the adoption of that year's corporate objectives, to ensure the relevant risks are 
identified; and regularly monitored through the course of the year. 

 
19.5. The regular reviews of internal control systems undertaken by the internal audit service 

include action plans to address deficiencies, many of which will fall within the broad 
scope of the Well-Led Framework. Action plans from reviews are scrutinised in the first 
instance by the Audit Committee, and a six-monthly update on progress is provided to 
the Committee to ensure that all actions are implemented appropriately. In terms of the 
Board Assurance Framework, the Board has reviewed and revised how the Framework 
is reported to the Board to ensure that the Board had clarity between strategic and 
operational risks, and also a greater line of sight to the key actions being taken to 
manage and mitigate the risks. 

 
19.6. After careful review, the Board confirms that there are no material inconsistencies 

between the contents of this Annual Report and- 
 

a. the Annual Governance Statement 
b. The Corporate Governance Statement submitted to NHS Improvement, under Conditions 

G6 and FT4 of the NHS Improvement Licence, approved by the Board on 22nd May 2019; 
c. the Quality Report that starts at page 105; 
d. The report from the Care Quality Commission on the Trust, dated 7th February 2017 and 

the action plans approved as a consequence. 
 
Non-NHS Income 
 

19.7. During the year, the Trust has received certain income beyond the provision of services 
for the purposes of the NHS in England, which we are required to report separately on 
under current legislation. The total income received in this year was £268,000, and the 
split between the various categories can be seen in the Annual Accounts at note 3.1. The 
funds raised were re-invested in the services provided by the Trust. 

 
19.8. The law requires that the Trust ensures that its income from goods or services provided 

for the purposes of the health service in England exceeds its income from goods or 
services provided for other purposes. In the year, the Trust complied with this 
requirement. 

 
20. Director's disclosure to the Trust Auditors 
 

20.1. The Directors, individually and collectively, acknowledge their responsibility for the 
accuracy and reliability of the contents of this Annual Report. Each individual who is a 
Director of the Trust at the date of the approval of this Report confirms that- 

 
a. So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information which the Auditor is 

unaware of; 
b. Each Director has taken all steps that they should have taken as a Director, in order to (a) 

make themselves aware of any relevant audit information, and (b) establish that the Auditor 
was also aware of the information. 

 
21. Director's responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts 
 

21.1. The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the accuracy and reliability of 
the contents of the Annual Report, the Quality Report and the Annual Accounts for the 
year ended 31st March 2019. The Board has been supported by its Committees in the 
preparation of these documents, and by the Internal Audit service and the external 
auditors; however, the responsibility for the contents of the documents remains with the 
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Directors themselves. 
 

21.2. Having carefully reviewed the contents of the documents, and taking into account the 
advice of the Audit Committee and the Quality and Governance Committee, the 
Directors consider that taken as a whole the Annual Report and Accounts are fair, 
balanced, and understandable; and provides the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to be able to assess the Trust's performance, 
business model and strategy. 
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Remuneration Report 
 
 

22. Annual Statement on Remuneration 
 
I am pleased to be able to present the report of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
related to Director remuneration in the year. 
 
During the year, the following major decisions have arisen for the Board Committee related to 
Executive Director pay- 
 

 Reviewing the remuneration of the Executive team, in the light of the changes to 
remuneration for staff through the national Agenda for Change and Medical Contract 
arrangements 

 Arrangements in respect of the position of Director of Nursing; with the former substantive 
Director taking ill-health retirement, the retention of an experienced Interim Director for a 
substantial period of the year, and recruitment to the expended post of Director of Nursing 
and Integrated Governance. 

 
The context in which the Committee considered these matters was the need to ensure that the 
Trust is able to recruit and retain an Executive team that is able to provide the necessary 
leadership to the Trust and its staff, in a challenging situation, whilst not over-rewarding. This is 
clearly a difficult balance, and the Committee has regard to the various benchmarking information 
available in reaching its judgements. During the year NHS Improvement published more detailed 
expectations for salary ranges across various types of NHS provider organisations. These have 
been taken into account as appropriate. 
 
Non-Executive Directors 
 
On behalf of the Council's Nomination Committee, I am also pleased to be able to present the 
report on remuneration and service decisions related to the Non-Executive Directors. Whereas the 
Board's Committee has decision-making authority, the Council Committee can only make 
recommendations to the Council, who have sole authority under the law for making decisions. 
 
During the year, we have continued to develop the process, with a full review of the appraisal and 
objective-setting arrangements for the Non-Executive Directors being agreed. The Non-Executive 
Directors continue to be paid a fee for service, at the same rate each, with additional payments 
(reflecting extra responsibilities) for those colleagues who serve as Chair of Audit Committee, 
Senior Independent Director and Deputy Chair. Council has not adjusted these during the course 
of the year. 
 

Jane McCall 
Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Chair of the Council's Nomination Committee 
 
23. Policy on remunerating Directors 
 

23.1. The Trust recognises that, in order to ensure that the Trust is led by Executive Directors 
with the skills, capacity and leadership required to provide an outstanding service to the 
public of the Tameside and Glossop area, it must adopt a remuneration policy that will 
attract and retain individuals with the necessary skills and personality. Equally, as an 
organisation funded by the public purse, it recognises that it must not pay excess 
amounts for the services of its Executive Directors, as this would not meet the 
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requirement to be economic, efficient and effective. 
 

23.2. The future policy on remuneration of Executive Directors, set by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, is as set out in the table on page 25. The Executive Directors 
are employed on individual contracts, which are negotiated and approved separately by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Other staff are generally employed on 
contracts following national terms and conditions: either the agreed national conditions 
for medical staff or the Agenda for Change arrangements. Those on national 
arrangements have pay set reflecting the national scales and progression requirements, 
rather than being subject to individual decision by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. However, the general approach of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee is to be guided by the general policy set out in the national agreements, 
unless there is an identified need to take a different approach. 

 
23.3. The future remuneration policy in respect of the Non-Executive Directors, including the 

Chair, is set by the Council of Governors with the advice of the Council’s Nomination 
Committee. The general policy of the Council is to set fees that enable the Trust to 
attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the skills, experience and knowledge to 
make an effective contribution to the work of the Board, and with specific regard to the 
skills needed by the Board to address identified future challenges. The Council also 
seeks to set remuneration levels at no greater a level than is required for that purpose. 

 
23.4. The key points in the future remuneration policy in respect of Non-Executive Directors 

are- 
 

 Fees; each Non-Executive Director receives fees for service (not a salary for employment). 
A single fee is in place for all Non-Executive Directors except the Chair, for whom a 
different fee arrangement has been approved.  Additional fees are payable for designated 
positions, namely the Deputy Chair, Senior Independent Director, and the Chair of the Audit 
Committee. 

 Pensions; Non-Executive Director positions are not pensionable, and do not participate in 
the NHS Pension Scheme arrangements. 

 Benefits in Kind; Non-Executive Directors are not eligible for benefits in kind. They are 
eligible to have expenses properly incurred refunded by the Trust. 

 
23.5. As can be seen from the table on page 28, during the year two Executive Directors 

received more than £150,000 in remuneration. The Committee has considered whether 
these figures remain reasonable, given the objectives set out above and in the table of 
future policy. The Committee has concluded that it has positive assurance that these 
figures are reasonable, by means of comparison with the data available on pay rates for 
the equivalent positions in Trusts of comparative size; and also in regard to the tables 
published by NHS Improvement for the four quartiles of salary payments, set out by size 
of acute provider. In respect of the Medical Director, the Committee has also had regard 
to the level of remuneration that would be payable for a full-time Consultant of equivalent 
experience, recognising that the Medical Director also has additional responsibilities as a 
Director. 

 
23.6. The Trust’s policy on setting notice periods, as noted in the table on page 25, is 

designed to ensure that the Trust can attract individuals of appropriate calibre to 
undertake Executive Director roles; and to provide some assurance that, when 
Executive Directors leave the organisation, there is sufficient time for the Trust to recruit 
a replacement and have them in post, in order to minimise disruption to the provision of 
services. 
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23.7. Each Executive Director is entitled, in the event that they are made redundant, to a 
redundancy payment. The calculation of any payment is based on the terms agreed 
nationally under the Agenda for Change arrangements, with a Director being entitled to a 
month’s pay for each completed year of service, up to a maximum of 24 months: and 
subject to a ‘cap’ of £80,000 annual salary. Under the provisions of the NHS Standard 
Contract, if a Director is made redundant and returns to work in the NHS within 12 
months, they are required to pay back a proportion of the redundancy payment to the 
Trust. No discretion arises in respect of the payments by reference to performance in 
office. 

 
23.8. In the event that an Executive Director lost office for disciplinary reasons, or for reason of 

a lack of competent performance in the office, no compensation would be payable. 
 
24. How we took into account other employees 
 

24.1. As noted above, employees in the Trust other than Directors are generally paid on two 
nationally-agreed schemes; the arrangements for medical staff, and the Agenda for 
Change arrangements. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has had regard to 
those arrangements, and in particular the national decisions on increases in rates of pay 
under those arrangements, in taking decisions regarding the Executive Directors during 
the course of the year. The Committee also had regard to guidance issued by NHS 
Improvement, on behalf of the Secretary of State, regarding pay and conditions for very 
senior staff. The Committee considered the anonymous comparator data produced by 
NHS Providers, in order to benchmark the remuneration being provided against Trusts of 
a similar size and operating within similar environments. 
 

24.2. The Committee has not consulted with employees in setting the policy related to the 
remuneration of the Executive Directors, as it largely reflects the national arrangements 
in place for the NHS under the Agenda for Change scheme. This was negotiated 
nationally between NHS Employers for the employing Trusts, and the various recognised 
Trade Unions on behalf of employees; and can therefore be regarded as producing a 
balanced compromise of the interests of both parties.
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Future Remuneration Policy table (Executive Directors) 
 
 

 How this component supports short 
and long-term objectives 

How this component operates Maximum 
payable 

Recovery or withholding 
provisions 

Salary Appropriate salary enables the 
recruitment and retention of Executive 
Directors with the required skills, 
experience and talent. 

Salary is paid pro-rata on a monthly basis, 
net of tax deductions, in accordance with the 
employment contract. 

As per individual's 
contracts 

There are no recovery or 
withholding provisions in respect of 
basic salary. 

Bonus The Committee considers that paying 
bonuses would not support the Trust's 
objectives. 

N/A N/A N/A 

Incentive 
schemes 

The Committee considers that operating 
an incentives scheme would not support 
the Trust's objectives. 

N/A N/A N/A 

Notice periods Having appropriate periods of notice 
enables the Trust to ensure smooth 
services during personnel changes 

Each contract makes provision for the notice 
period to be served by the individual. 
The Committee's policy is that the notice 
period should usually be six months. 

N/A The period of notice may only be 
shortened if the Committee is 
satisfied that there are appropriate 
alternative arrangements in place. 

Benefits in Kind No benefits in kind are offered, as the 
Trust considers them not to be 
necessary to support objectives. 

N/A 
Some Directors show taxable benefits in the 
table, owing to the operation of Inland 
Revenue rules. These are not benefits in 
kind but reflect expenses incurred. 

N/A Any improperly claimed benefits 
can be reclaimed (or their value) 
through contractual mechanisms. 

Pension benefits Provision of pension benefits 
encourages leaders to commit to the 
organisation. 
There is a national defined-benefit 
scheme that salaried leaders 
automatically enter. 

Each Executive Director participates in the 
NHS Pension Scheme arrangements, under 
the relevant statutory Regulations. 

Trust contribution 
of 14.3% of salary 

There are no withholding provisions 
for the Trust. 
Recovery, or withholding of pension 
payments, is a matter for NHS 
Business Services and governed by 
the relevant statutory Regulations. 

 
The policy statements above represent the current view of the Committee. The Committee is aware that the Department of Health and Social Care is considering 
issuing updated guidance to the NHS regarding the contractual arrangements for Executive Directors. Dependent on the contents of that guidance, which may be 
issued in a way to be compulsory on the Trust, the policy statements above may need to be updated.
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25. Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and attendance 
 

25.1. The Board has appointed all Non-Executive Directors to be members of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, under the leadership of the Trust Chair. 

 
25.2. During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the Committee met once. All members of the 

Committee were present at that meeting. 
 

25.3. During the year, the Committee were supported in their considerations by- 
 

 Karen James, Chief Executive 

 Amanda Bromley, Director of Human Resources 
 
26. The work of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee during the year 
 

26.1. During the 2018-2019 year, we have continued to undertake our statutory role to 
determine the remuneration and related terms and conditions for the Executive team, as 
required under the National Health Service Act 2006. Our discussions and decisions 
have been informed by reviewing the appraisal outcomes for the Executive Directors; the 
changes in remuneration for the generality of Trust staff through the national contract 
and pay arrangements; and the guidance set out in the Code of Governance for NHS 
Foundation Trusts. We have also had regard to comparative information, particularly that 
produced by NHS Providers. 

 
26.2. We also formally agreed the arrangements for the remuneration and terms of service of 

the Director of Nursing and Integrated Governance, in accordance with the 2006 Act. 
The key factors we considered were those set out above, and in particular the 
requirement in the Code of Governance to ensure that remuneration is sufficient to 
attract and retain persons with the skills and knowledge to effectively form the Executive 
leadership of the Trust; but is not more than required for that purpose. 

 
27. Service Contracts 
 

 Date of contract Unexpired term Notice period 

Patricia Cavanagh August, 2014 Indeterminate 6 months 

Karen James October, 2014 Indeterminate 6 months 

Pauline Jones February, 2016 Retired, 30th September, 2018 

Tracey McErlain-Burns February, 2017 Retired, 31st November, 2018 

Brendan Ryan October, 2014 Indeterminate 6 months 

Sam Simpson June, 2018 Indeterminate 6 months 

Peter Weller February, 2019 Indeterminate 6 months 

Claire Yarwood January, 2015 Left office, 31st May, 2018 
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28. Non-Executive Directors 
 

28.1. In accordance with best practice, the Non-Executive Directors are appointed on Letters 
of Appointment, rather than employment contracts. 

 

 Date of appointment End of current term Notice period 

Sallie Bridgen February, 2017 February, 2020 3 months 

Anne Dray January, 2014 December, 2019 3 months 

Cathy Elliott February, 2017 February, 2020 3 months 

Jane McCall January, 2018 January, 2021 3 months 

Peter Noble February, 2018 February, 2021 3 months 

Martyn Taylor May, 2015 April, 2021 3 months 

 
 
29. Expenses for Directors and Governors 
 
Directors 
 

 2018-2019 2017-2018 

Total number of Directors in office 14  16 

Number of Directors receiving expenses for the year  5 4 

Aggregate sum of expenses paid to Directors in the year £2,239 £400 

 
 
Governors 
 

 2018-2019 2017-2018 

Total number of Governors in office 29  29 

Number of Governors receiving expenses for the year  1 0 

Aggregate sum of expenses paid to Governors in the year  £72 £0 
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Remuneration Information 
 
30. Single Total Remuneration Figure 
 
Information for year ended 31st March, 2019 
 
 Salary  

(bands of £5,000) 
Expense 
payments 
(taxable) to 
nearest £100 

Performance pay 
and bonuses 
(bands of £5,000) 

Long-Term 
performance pay 
and bonuses 
(bands of £5,000) 

All pension 
related benefits 
(bands of £2,500) 

Total 
(bands of £5,000) 

Sallie Bridgen 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Amanda Bromley 95-100 0 N/A N/A 62.5-65 160-165 

Patricia Cavanagh 115-120 0 N/A N/A 65-67.5 185-190 

Anne Dray 15-20 0 N/A N/A 0 15-20 

Cathy Elliott 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Karen James 160-165 0 N/A N/A 10-12.5 170-175 

Pauline Jones c 40-45 0 N/A N/A 0 40-45 

Jane McCall 40-45 0 N/A N/A 0 40-45 

Tracey McErlain-Burns e 65-70 0 N/A N/A 167.5-170 235-240 

Peter Noble 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Brendan Ryan 165-170 0 N/A N/A 10-12.5 175-180 

Sam Simpson f 100-105 0 N/A N/A 40-42.5 145-150 

Martyn Taylor 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Peter Weller g 15-20 0 N/A N/A 15-17.5 30-35 

Claire Yarwood h 20-25 0 N/A N/A 5-7.5 25-30 

 
 
Notes are stated after the 2018 table
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Information for the year ended 31st March, 2018 

 
 Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) to 
nearest £100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-Term 
performance pay 
and bonuses 
(bands of £5,000) 

All pension 
related benefits 
(bands of £2,500) 

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Sallie Bridgen 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Amanda Bromley 90-95 0 N/A N/A 35-37.5 125-130 

Patricia Cavanagh 110-115 0 N/A N/A 67.5-70 180-185 

Paul Connellan a 20-25 0 N/A N/A 0 20-25 

Anne Dray 20-25 0 N/A N/A 0 20-25 

Cathy Elliott 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Anne Higgins b 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Karen James 160-165 0 N/A N/A 47.5-50 210-215 

Pauline Jones c 100-105 0 N/A N/A 30-32.5 130-135 

Trish Kalloo d 0-5 0 N/A N/A 0 0-5 

Jane McCall i 5-10 0 N/A N/A 0 5-10 

Tracey McErlain-Burns e 110-115 0 N/A N/A 35-37.5 150-155 

Peter Noble j 0-5 0 N/A N/A 0 0-5 

Brendan Ryan 165-170 0 N/A N/A 65-67.5 230-235 

Martyn Taylor 10-15 0 N/A N/A 0 10-15 

Claire Yarwood h 130-135 0 N/A N/A 50-52.5 180-185 

 
Notes 
a- Paul Connellan retired from the Board on 31

st
 October, 2017 

b- Anne Higgins retired from the Board on 31
st
 January, 2018 

c- Pauline Jones retired from the Board on 30
th
 September, 2018 

d- Trish Kalloo retired from the Board on 31
st
 May, 2017 

e- Tracey McErlain-Burns retired from the Board on 30
th
 November, 2018 

f- Sam Simpson joined the Board on 1
st
 June, 2018 

g- Peter Weller joined the Board on 1
st
 February, 2019 

h- Claire Yarwood retired from the Board on 31
st
 May, 2018 

i- Jane McCall joined the Board on 8
th

 January, 2018 
j- Peter Noble joined the Board on 5

th
 February, 2018 
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31. Total Pension Entitlement 
 
Information for the year ending 31st March, 2019 
 
 Real Increase 

in pension at 
pension age  

Real increase 
in pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 

Total accrued 
pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 
2019 

Lump sum at 
pension age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 31 
March 2019 

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 1

st
 

April 2018 

Real 
Increase/ 
(decrease) in 
cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value 

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31

st
 

March 2019 

 Band of £2,500 Band of £,2500 Band of £5,000 Band of £5,000 £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Amanda Bromley 2.5-5 2.5-5 30-35 75-80 414  106  533  

Patricia Cavanagh 2.5-5 2.5-5 50-55 140-145 927  159  1,114  

Karen James 0-2.5 0-2.5 70-75 210-215 1,453  157  1,653  

Pauline Jones a 0 50-52.5 25-30 185-190 N/A N/A N/A 

Tracey McErlain-Burns b 5-7.5 20-22.5 65-70 200-205 N/A N/A N/A 

Brendan Ryan 0-2.5 0-2.5 70-75 215-220 N/A N/A N/A 

Sam Simpson 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 95-100 624  97  760  

Peter Weller 0-2.5 2-2.5 30-35 100-105 533  25  704  

Claire Yarwood 0-2.5 0 50-55 145-150 1,012  23  1,179  

 
 
Notes 

a- Pauline Jones retired from the NHS on 29
th
 September, 2019 

b- Tracey McErlain-Burns left the employment of the NHS on 30
th
 November, 2019 
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32. Fair Pay multiple 
 

32.1. The Trust is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid Director in the organisation, and the median remuneration of the Trust’s 
workforce. 
 

32.2. The mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest-paid Director in the Trust (Mr 
Brendan Ryan, Medical Director) in the financial year 2018-2019 was £167,500 (financial 
year 2017-2018- £167,500). This was 7.18 times the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £23,338 (financial year 2017-2018- 7.38 times the median 
remuneration of £22,690) 

 
32.3. In 2018-2019, two employees received remuneration in excess of that paid to the 

highest-paid Director (2017-2018- three employees). Remuneration ranged from 
£215,186 to £226,889 (2017-2018- from £169,570 to £237,151). 

 
32.4. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and 

benefits in kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions 
and the cash-equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

 
33. Payments for loss of office 
 

33.1. During the 2018-2019 financial year, no Director received compensation for loss of office 
(2017-2018- none). One Executive Director acceded to benefits under the national 
pension scheme immediately on leaving office, as she had retired in accordance with the 
Rules of the Scheme. 

 
34. Payments to past senior managers 
 

34.1. During the 2018-2019 financial year, no payments have been made by the Trust to 
individuals who were previously Directors. 

 
 
 
_________________ 
 
Karen James 
Chief Executive  
 
22nd May, 2019 
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Staff Report 
 

35. Introduction 
 

35.1. Delivering our Strategy From Patient Care to Population Health requires a confident, 
capable and well-trained workforce empowering people to be healthy and independent. 
These changes will only become a reality if we have the right people, with the right skills 
and values, working in the right place, at the right time. We recognise that our staff are 
our main asset and we are committed to supporting our system workforce through this 
period of transformation. The transformational work has been underpinned by an 
Organisational Development programme to help support staff to manage change, the 
approach taken has been a “bottom-up” approach where staff are empowered and 
encouraged to come up with new ideas. Changes in the way that patients are cared for, 
predominantly closer to home through Neighbourhoods has commenced in earnest in 
the last year and this has been further enhanced by the co-location of Adult Social Care 
staff in community premises alongside District Nursing and Community teams.  
 

35.2. The Organisational Development Programme was effectively phase 2 of the 
Organisational Development programme which commenced in 2017/18. The programme 
encompassed a series of staff engagement events which ran weekly from September 
through to December and was open to all staff in all three organisations (Tameside & 
Glossop Clinical Commission Group (CCG), Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
(TMBC) and the Trust (ICFT)). These were facilitated by two Executive Directors, one 
from each of the organisations. In addition four System Wide Events were held to 
encourage neighbourhood teams to come together, to not only help develop 
relationships amongst the neighbourhood teams but also to learn about a particular 
service or help develop a particular pathway, for example Integrated Urgent Care and 
End of Life. 

 
35.3. In order to understand the impact of the transformational change with staff in 

neighbourhoods as part of the organisational development programme a survey has 
been devised to gauge the feeling of staff and to obtain the softer intelligence which is 
often hard to measure. The survey was completed in the early part of 2019 and will form 
the next phase of the Organisational Development programme delivered during 2019/20.  

 
35.4. The Board has in the last 12 months established a Workforce Committee, chaired by a 

Non-Executive Director, to ensure that there is an appropriate focus on the significant 
workforce issues and challenges that arise. 

 
35.5. A significant challenge for the Trust, in common with most NHS provider organisations, is 

the recruitment and retention of staff particularly amongst nursing and medical staff, 
whilst there are known national shortage it is incumbent upon the Trust  to try and 
mitigate these shortages in order to ensure the safe delivery of services without 
impacting upon both quality and finances. The Trust has successfully managed this 
within Radiology. Due to a number of vacancies of Radiologists the Trust has appointed 
a cohort of Radiographers who are undertaking university courses and training so they 
can work as advanced practitioners once trained and competent to independently report.  
During the year, the Workforce Committee has received specific reports relating to the 
recruitment and retention strategies for both medical and nursing positions, in order to 
address both the immediate and longer-term recruitment and retention challenges. 

 
34.3 Work has continued with the Trust’s Recruitment & Retention action plan, and it is 

pleased to report that our overall turnover figure at the end of March 2019 was 11.26%, 
against the target of 11.5%. The Trust has set its target for 2019/20 at 11% in order to 
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continue with its improvement trajectory.  
 
34.4 Whilst work has continued to improve retention there has also been significant focus on 

the reduction of bank and agency expenditure. The Trust has an internal bank for 
medical staff, and it is through the usage of this bank that we have successfully 
managed to reduce the overall agency expenditure during 18/19. The Trust successfully 
managed to operate within the NHS Improvement agency ceiling, with agency 
expenditure was £6.9m against a ceiling of £9.5m. This in part has also been achieved 
by the successful recruitment of Speciality Doctors within the Emergency Department 
and Clinical Fellows in Medicine, both of which have been notoriously difficult to recruit 
to in previous years. A proactive approach has been taken to attract to these roles, most 
notably through the use of Recruitment & Retention Premiums and by looking at our 
educational offer to these staff.  

 
35.6. The Board also recognises that, as a smaller NHS provider organisation on the edge of 

a substantial metropolitan area, there are specific local challenges that we face in the 
recruitment and retention of staff. These reflect having larger organisations, with a more 
varied range of specialist services, available in Greater Manchester with potentially 
greater opportunities to progress. The Trust has adopted an approach to develop our 
own staff, recognising their skills and experience by offering the opportunity to meet 
some of the challenges without needing to seek outside recruitment. 
 

35.7. As an Integrated Care Organisation, we are working with staff to consider new ways of 
working as we bring together colleagues from different organisations and teams to 
deliver integrated care. One such team is the team previously known as the Long Term 
Conditions team who are now part of the Extensivist service, who have received 
additional training to provide their service across a broader spectrum of conditions and 
are now working alongside our Extensivists to deliver care oriented around the needs of 
the patient. The extensivist model delivers all aspects of medical, social, psychological, 
functional and pharmaceutical needs of the patient.  It includes Health and Wellbeing 
support that will draw together all aspects of health and social care utilising community 
assets.  Capacity, productivity and skill mix remains a focus within our Community based 
integrated services.  Within District Nursing a New Models of Care work stream has 
been established, made up of District Nurse team leaders and GP Leads. The core aim 
of the group is to pilot new initiatives, based on the outcome of an audit into District 
Nursing; this, alongside the development of Community metrics and a community 
dashboard, will help inform and address these capacity, productivity and skill mix 
issues.  One such example is a pilot focussing on the feasibility of home care workers 
undertaking basic assessments or tasks that currently sit with the District Nurses.  This 
will reduce reliance on the District Nurse team to provide basic assessments or tasks, 
with home care workers providing these services instead (e.g. provision of prescription 
eye drops). This should reduce duplication and improve productivity. 

 
35.8. The Trust continues to offer a range of training programmes for staff, in order to ensure 

that they continue to maintain and develop their skills. The training programmes are 
underpinned by a programme of mandatory training, which is based on the skills needed 
for each type of role, in order to ensure that colleagues continue to meet the statutory 
and regulatory requirements in order to perform their role within the Trust. We also 
participate in regional and national programmes for continuing development of clinical 
and managerial colleagues, in order to support our staff. The Board regularly reviews the 
Trust's performance against the targets it has set for mandatory training, and we are 
pleased to have hit the mandatory training target of 95% since September 2018. 

 
35.9. The Trust has in place a comprehensive system of annual appraisal, which enables all 

staff to work within a structure of clearly-set objectives linked to the overall corporate 
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objectives set by the Board. Colleagues are supported by regular in-year reviews of 
progress, and there is an annual appraisal meeting where performance overall is 
reviewed, and new objectives set. The appraisal process also identifies the development 
needs for colleagues, and the training and other support that can be provided during the 
course of the year. Managers are responsible for the completion of the appraisal 
processes for those who report to them, and completion rates form part of the manager's 
objectives and appraisal. The Appraisal workbook was reviewed during 2018 following 
an appraisal audit and focus groups with managers to obtain feedback. The workbook 
makes reference to the Trust’s Talent Management Strategy to facilitate talent 
conversations. Whilst the workbook already incorporated a section about Health & 
Wellbeing, this section has been broadened to include reference to Caring 
responsibilities and Work-life balance, recognising the emerging themes arising through 
the retention work undertaken.  

 
35.10. A similar system operates to oversee the performance of the Non-Executive Directors, 

which is reported to the Council of Governors via the Council's Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. 

 
36. Analysis of average staff  costs and numbers 
 

36.1. Total Staff Costs 2018/19 
 

 

TOTAL Permanent Other 
£000’s £000’s £000’s 

Medical and dental  42,622 38,645 3,977 

Ambulance staff  0 0  0 

Administration and estates  29,086 28,088 997 

Healthcare assistants and other support 
staff  

24,811 21,477 3,333 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff  49,849 43,700,952 6,148,780 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting 
learners  

0 0 0 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff  12,230 11,152 1,077 

Healthcare science staff 5,792 5,650 141 

 
36.2. Average WTE 2018/19 

 

  
 

Total Permanent Other 

Medical and dental    334 318 16 

Ambulance staff    0 0 0 

Administration and estates    915 886 29 

Healthcare assistants and other support 
staff  

  928 824 104 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff    1,101 992 109 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting 
learners  

  0 0  0 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff    287 279 8 

Healthcare science staff   134 131 3 
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36.3. Gender Balance 
 

 Female Male 

Directors 7 4 

Other senior managers 4 1 4 

Employees as a whole 3,251 747 

 
The Board also notes that amongst medical staff the balance is 33% female to 67% male. 
 

36.4. Sickness absence data 
 
Details of the sickness absence of staff employed by the Trust is analysed as follows 
 

  
2018/19 

No. 
2017/18 

No. 

Total days lost 40,325 36,921 

Average WTE 3,384 3,281 

Average working days lost (per WTE)  12 11 

 
36.5. The Trust continues to see higher rates of absence than its peers on Model Hospital; the 

Trust has a Health & Wellbeing Strategy which is overseen by a Health & Wellbeing 
Group. In line with the strategy and by engaging with the workforce three key themes 
identified for programmes of work are: 

 
• Mental Health  
• Musculoskeletal Health 
• Financial Wellbeing 
• Leadership 
 

36.6. A number of actions have commenced in order to reduce the absence rate for the Trust 
these include: 

 
• A review of the Managing Attendance Policy 
• A review of the capacity and demand within Occupational Health and the Counselling service 
• The development of a system wide Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

 
36.7. The Trust is linked in with the Greater Manchester Theme 4 workstream which is 

considering the collaboration of occupational health services across organisations within 
Greater Manchester.  

 
37. Staff policies, and actions to implement 
 

37.1. The Trust recognises its responsibility as one of the major employers in the locality to 
provide equality of opportunity to all in our recruitment and employment process.  Our 
HR/Recruitment service is responsible for looking at ways to ensure that all ‘protected 
characteristics’ under the Equality Act 2010 are treated fairly, including disability.  
Where it is identified that an individual due to their disability requires a reasonable 
adjustment /adaptation in recruitment and/or employment then this will be positively 
considered to retain our workforce.  Disabled employees are given equality of access 

                                                 
4
 Senior managers are those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling 

the major activities of the NHS Foundation Trust. 
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to training and development opportunities, which will be identified for their individual 
circumstances through the appraisal process, in the same way as other employees.  
The Trust’s Recruitment System (Trac) now provides monitoring data which is 
extremely useful for enabling improvements in the recruitment process.  

 
37.2. The Trust encourages dialogue from our employees and Trade Union members to 

improve our recruitment and employment processes. The Trust has in place a formal 
monthly Staff Partnership Forum with our Trade Union representatives, Staff Governors 
and senior managers. A bi-monthly Joint Local Negotiating Committee takes place with 
representatives of the BMA to facilitate similar discussions with our medical staff.   Both 
forums enable two-way communication with our Trade Union colleagues. In addition we 
also have a monthly meeting with the Trade Unions within the health & social care 
economy to facilitate the exchange of information across all three organisations (CCG, 
TMBC & ICFT) given the level of integration taking place.  There are also regular 
formal meetings with the representatives of the Trust's employees.  An example of this 
is feedback received from staff relating to use of simplified language for the Appraisal 
Work book and process.   

 
37.3. The Trust continues to work in partnership with Trade Union colleagues to review our 

Human Resources policies. The following policies have been updated in line with 
changes in employment legislation, to ensure fair and consistent treatment, and to 
support the Trust’s strategy for a healthier work life balance.       

   
•       Flexible Working Policy  
•       Special Leave Policy  
•       Annual Leave policy  
•       Recruitment and Selection Policy   

 
37.4. The policies are reviewed through the regular formal meetings with the representatives 

of the Trust's employees The Trade Unions representatives are formally consulted on 
policy developments, the meetings also provide an opportunity for representatives to 
discuss with management issues of concern to the workforce. Employee 
representatives are also members of the Health and Safety Committee, in accordance 
with statutory requirements.5  

 
37.5. There are also a number of informal methods that staff can use to obtain information 

about the development of the Trust, and raise any concerns or suggestions for 
improvement. The Chief Executive holds Team Brief on the hospital site and out in the 
Community. The Trust has a Freedom to Speak up Guardian (FTSUG) who is vital to 
ensuring a culture where staff can speak up freely and openly without suffering any 
detriment. The FTSUG reports to Board on a quarterly basis.  

 
37.6. In addition in November 2018 the Trust approved its Freedom to Speak up Strategy. The 

Strategy describes the work we are undertaking with regards to raising concerns and 
speaking up. Together with this strategy and the engagement of our Freedom to Speak 
up Guardian, our aim is that our staff at the ICFT and its managers are dedicated to: 

 
• Creating a culture of openness and transparency 
• Developing a culture where speaking up becomes normal practice 
• Forming a safe environment for employees to raise concerns 

 
37.7. As a Foundation Trust, staff representatives have a formal position in the governance of 

the Trust, through the election of Staff Governors to Council. All staff are represented by 

                                                 
5 Health and Safety at Work &ct Act 1974, Section 2(6). 
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a Governor, and all staff are eligible to seek election and to vote in choosing who should 
be elected.6 Staff Governors have an equal voice and vote in Council meetings, and 
contribute to Council as a whole fulfilling its statutory duties to hold the Board to account 
through the Non-Executive Directors. The Trust continues to encourage staff to consider 
standing for election to Council, and to participate in the electoral process through the 
use of their votes. 

 
37.8. As a public sector body, the Trust is committed to ensuring that fraud and corruption are 

minimised, detected and deterred. The Trust has clear policies in place to prevent 
corruption, and these take into account the statutory requirement to ensure that the Trust 
operates economically, efficiently and effectively. The Trust is supported in preventing 
fraud and corruption by the work of the Local Counter-Fraud Service, and more details 
on their work can be found in the report of the Audit Committee. Staff have direct access 
to the LCFS to raise any concerns. 

 
37.9. Where potential fraud or corruption is detected, the Trust's policy is to respond robustly 

but proportionately. Disciplinary action will be commenced where there is appropriate 
evidence of misconduct, and referral to professional regulators will also be considered 
where appropriate. As can be seen in the Audit Report, criminal prosecution will also be 
considered where the evidence meets the relevant tests for the Crown Prosecution 
Service. 

 
38. Occupational Health 

 
38.1. The Trust has an in-house Occupational health services; an occupational health 

representative attends our Health & Safety Committee and Infection Prevention and 
Control Committee meetings. Reports on Occupational health activity are currently 
reported through to the HR Divisional Team meeting. 

 
 
39. Expenditure on Consultancy 
 

39.1. There may be occasions when we commission the services of independent consultancy 
firms to assist with matters such as employee relations. Where there is a requirement to 
do so, we follow our Standing Financial Instructions and procurement processes to 
ensure that it is cost effective and provides value for money. 

 
40. Trade Union Facility Time 
 
What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant 
period? 
 

No of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the period 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

14 12.65 

 
Table 2: Percentage of time spent of facility time 
 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 

1-50% 13 

                                                 
6
 Directors would not be eligible to sit as a Governor if elected, under the current legislation. 
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51-99% 1 

100% 0 

 
Table 3: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
 

Total cost of facility time £26,317.01 
Total pay bill £118,483,350.40 

% of total pay bill spent on facility time 0.02% 
 
Table 4: Paid trade union activities 
 

Total paid facility and union time hours 0% 

 
In 2018/19, the Trade Union Chair was unexpectedly absent for a significant portion of the year 
and did not return. The above information is correct, based on records held by the Trust. 
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Staff Survey 
 

41. Overview 
 

41.1. The Trust is committed to engagement with all of our staff, and has a number of formal 
and informal arrangements in place to support this aim. In addition, a range of 
communication mechanisms are in place to facilitate the provision of information; these 
include a weekly email out to all staff, monthly team brief, a “Focus on” short video on a 
particular topic or issue, a Trust closed Facebook page just for staff plus a range of 
social media usage.  
 

41.2. The Trust also participates in the two main schemes for obtaining staff feedback- the 
national annual Staff Survey, and the staff 'Friends and Family' test which is undertaken 
quarterly. This section covers the results of the annual staff survey reported in March 
2018; with the staff 'Friends and Family' test being covered within the Quality Report. 
The Board has considered the results of the staff survey, and has approved the action 
plan as set out later in this section. It also regularly receives the results of the Staff 
'Friends and Family' test, and challenges the management actions proposed as a 
result.  

 
Summary of performance 
 

41.3. The 2018 NHS Staff Survey was completed from September to December 2018. The 
results are presented as themes and questions from the questions asked within the 
survey, and in the context of the best, average and worst results for similar 
organisations where appropriate. The results for this Trust are benchmarked against 43 
other organisations within the Combined Acute and Community Trust category. 

 
41.4. The Trust has previously undertaken a census approach using a random sample of 

staff; during 2018 the Trust undertook a full census with the survey being sent to all 
staff to complete. The number of completed questionnaires was 1,517 providing a 
response rate of 40%. The average response rate for Combined Acute and Community 
Trusts was 41%. 

 

 2018 2017 2016 

Trust Benchmark Trust Benchmark Trust Benchmark 

Equality, diversity and 
inclusion 

9.1 9.2 9.2 9.2 9.4 9.3 

Health and wellbeing 5.9 5.9 6.4 6.0 6.4 6.1 

Immediate managers 6.8 6.8 6.8 6.8 6.9 6.8 

Morale 6.1 6.2     

Quality of appraisals 5.4 5.4 5.5 5.3 5.8 5.4 

Quality of care 7.6 7.4 7.9 7.4 7.9 7.5 

Safe environment- 
bullying and harassment 

7.9 8.1 8.1 8.1 8.2 8.2 

Safe environment- 
violence 

9.5 9.5 9.4 9.5 9.5 9.5 

Safety Culture 6.6 6.7 6.8 6.7 7.1 6.7 

Staff Engagement 7.1 7.0 7.2 7.0 7.4 7.0 
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42. Our plans to improve 
 

42.1. The overall Trust-level picture of the staff survey results is that, across almost all areas, 
the Trust is around the average for our comparator group.  However the results show a 
decline in some areas over the past 4 years, despite remaining at or above average 
scores: for example, morale and staff engagement scores. There were statistically 
significant reductions in scores within three headline areas:  Health & Wellbeing, Quality 
of Care, and Safety Culture. 

 
42.2. In response to the survey results, each Division has been required to produce a staff 

survey action plan covering six core themes: 
 
• Acting fairly with regard to career progression/promotion regardless of any protected 

characteristic 
• Taking positive action to support health and wellbeing.   
• Delivering quality of care.   
• Preventing bullying, harassment or abuse.   
• Having effective responses to reported incidents.  
• Ensuring the quality of staff appraisals. 
 

42.3. In addition, each service area has been asked to identify local priorities based on the 
staff survey results for their area. Delivery of divisional action plans will be tracked 
through local management meetings, and will be reported to the Workforce Committee 
for oversight on behalf of the Board, with the Board being kept informed of key issues 
through the report from the Committee. The Nursing and Integrated Governance 
Directorate are reviewing the policy, process and systems for raising incidents and 
concerns, and to give feedback in response to the results regarding incidents. 

 
42.4. The results of the staff survey related to Protected Characteristics, including matters 

related to the national Equality Delivery Scheme, Workforce Race Equality Standard, 
and Workforce Disability Equality Standard, are being addressed through the 
development of the Trust’s Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy. This is expected to be 
considered by the Workforce Committee in the summer of 2019, and implementation will 
be led through the Trust’s Equality and Diversity group. 
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High Off-Payroll arrangements 

 
 
43. Policy towards 'off-payroll' arrangements 
 

43.1. The Trust recognises that, on occasion, it is necessary to use the services of individuals 
who are only available as self-employed/ contractors ('off-payroll'). This may reflect 
particular market sectors, or the choice of individuals on how to structure their careers. 
Equally, the Trust is fully supportive of the principle that the NHS that it is not used to 
support aggressive tax avoidance practices, or practices that are questionable in terms 
of the tax effects. 

 
43.2. The Trust will only utilise individuals on an 'off-payroll' basis on an exceptional basis, 

usually where the structure of the market means that individuals with the necessary skills 
and experience are not available on an employed basis. We will require all individuals to 
confirm, and if appropriate to evidence, that they are eligible to be paid gross and 
account for their own tax to HMRC, rather than being within 'Pay-As-You-Earn' 
arrangements operated through payroll. 

 
44. Existing engagements at March 2019 
 
This table reflects 'off-payroll' arrangements that are in place at the 31st March, 2019; pay more 
than £245 per day; and have been in place for six months or more 
 

Number of existing engagements at the 31st March, 2019 12 

The number of those engagements-  

 That have existed for less than a year 5 

 That have existed for between one and two years 6 

 That have existed for between two and three years 1 

 That have existed for between three and four years 0 

 That have existed for four years or longer  0 

 
45. New engagements in the year 
 
This table reflects new 'off-payroll' engagements made between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 
2019, including those that exceeded 6 months in duration during the year; that paid more than 
£245 per day; and lasted longer than 6 months. 
 

Number of new engagements (including those exceeding 6 months) 
between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019 

3 

Of which  

The number assessed as within the scope of IR35 3 

The number assessed as not within the scope of IR35 0 

Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to trust) and are on the 
trust’s payroll 

0 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance 
purposes during the year 

0 
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Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 
consistency review 

0 

 
46. Board members and those with significant financial responsibility 
 
This table sets out information on Board members, and those senior staff with significant financial 
responsibility, who were 'off-payroll' during the course of the year. For this table, there is no 
minimum pay level or length of contract applied. 
 

Number of Directors, or senior staff with significant financial 
responsibility, who were engaged on an 'off-payroll' basis during the year 

Nil 

Total number of individuals who were Directors, or senior staff with 
significant financial responsibility, during the course of the year7 

15 

 
 
 

                                                 
7 This includes both those paid directly through payroll, and those with 'off-payroll' arrangements. 
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Exit payments 

 
47. Overview 
 

47.1. The Trust did not agree any exit packages in the 2018-2019 financial year. 
 
48. Staff Exit packages 
 

 Number of compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages by cost band 

2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 

Less than £10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£10,001 to £25,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 

£25,001 to £50,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 

£50,001 to £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£100,001 to £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£150,001 to £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total number of exit 
packages by type 

0 0 0 2 0 2 

Total resource cost 
(£000’s) 

0 0 0 23 0 23 

 
49. Non-compulsory departure payments 
 

 Number of agreements Total value of 
agreements 
(£'000's) 

2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 

Voluntary redundancies, including early 
retirement- contract costs 

0 0 0 0 

Mutually-agreed resignations- contract costs 0 0 0 0 

Early retirements in the interests of the efficiency 
of the service- contract costs 

0 1 0 3 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice period 0 1 0 20 

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals 
or Court orders 

0 0 6 0 

Non-contractual payments, requiring approval of 
Her Majesty's Treasury 8 

0 0 0 0 

Total 0 2 0 23 

                                                 
8
  Includes any non-contractual severance payment made following a judicial mediation, and £Nil related to non-

contractual payments made in lieu of notice. 
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 Number of agreements Total value of 
agreements 
(£'000's) 

2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2017-18 

Of which: non-contractual payments requiring 
Treasury approval, made to individuals, where 
the payment value was more than 12 months' 
annual salary 

0 0 0 0 

 
49.1. As a single exist package can be made up of several components, each of which is 

counted separately in this note, the total number above will not necessarily match the 
total numbers given in the Notes to the Accounts, which will be the number of 
individuals. 

 
49.2. The Remuneration Report on page 22 provides more detail on exit payments made to 

individuals named in that report (Directors, former Directors and other senior managers). 
 
49.3. In respect of the amounts included in the table above as Non-contractual payments, 

requiring approval of Her Majesty's Treasury, the following were the maximum, minimum 
and median amounts- 

 

 2018-2019 (£) 2017-2018 (£) 

Maximum Nil Nil 

Median Nil Nil 

Minimum Nil Nil 
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Director's Biographies 
 

 

Sallie Bridgen, Non-Executive Director  

Sallie’s career has been in housing and homelessness, working with Housing 
Associations, Local Authorities and charities. She has held senior positions at 
Shelter, the National Housing Federation, and Housing Diversity Network. She now 
works to improve integration between housing and health. She is a Group Director 
for Progress Housing Group, and a Trustee of Together Dementia Support. 

Sallie is Chair of the Finance Committee. She also serves on the Quality & 
Governance Committee, Workforce Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee. She is the Lead NED for Infection Control, Equality & Diversity, and 
Patient Safety. 

 

Trish Cavanagh, Chief Operating Officer 

Trish joined the Board in July 2014 from University of South Manchester Foundation 
Trust, where she had been Associate Director of Operations. A registered nurse 
since 1986, and with an M.Sc. in Clinical Practice, Trish has long experience in 
operations and transformation in the NHS context. 

Trish is responsible for the operational support provided to clinical functions in the 
Trust, including our community work and the contact-points with social care 
providers. She is also the lead for developing and implementing our transformational 
schemes, in partnership with local and regional partners. She is a member of the 
Workforce and Finance & Performance Committees. 

 

Anne Dray, Non-Executive Director 

A qualified accountant, Anne has worked in senior positions in the NHS for most of 
the last 25 year, across both provider and commissioning organisations. She is 
currently undertaking senior interim NHS appointments, and is a member of the 
Expert Determination Pool for NHS England and NHS Improvement.  

Anne was appointed as a Director in January 2014, and as the Deputy Chair and 
Senior Independent Director from July 2017 to April 2019. Her current term of office 
will end in December 2019. 

Anne is the Chair of the Audit Committee, and also serves on the Finance & 
Performance and Nomination & Remuneration Committees. She is the Lead NED 
for Local Security Management Services, Local Counter-Fraud Services, Emergency 
Planning and Procurement. 
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Cathy Elliott, Non-Executive Director  

Cathy joined the Board in 2017 with a senior level background in the voluntary 
sector, and her current term is until February 2020. She currently undertakes a 
portfolio of work, including as Non-Executive Director for the Trust, in an 
independent Chair role for a national Fund for Department for Transport, a senior 
consultant advisor to the Power to Change Trust, and as a freelance philanthropy 
and social policy advisor. Cathy is a Senior International Fellow of the City University 
of New York, U.S.A; a postgraduate of Cass Business School, London, UK; a UK 
Clore Social Leadership Fellow; and a graduate of the University of Manchester, UK. 
 
Cathy is the Chair of the Charitable Funds Committee, and also serves on the 
Finance & Performance, Quality & Governance, Workforce and Nomination & 
Remuneration Committees. She is the Lead NED for End of Life Care, Mortality 
reviews, and Maintaining Professional Standards (medical discipline). 

 

Karen James, Chief Executive and Accounting Officer 

Karen James joined the Trust in 2014, following a successful career in the 
NHS.  Having started her career as a Registered Nurse, she has over the last 
fourteen years held a number of executive leadership roles in large acute tertiary 
providers.  Karen has significant experience in managing large scale change across 
complex economies, and has been successful in the delivery of improvements in 
organisational performance. 

Karen leads the Executive team, and also services on the Quality & Governance 
and the Finance & Performance Committees as Chief Executive.  She is the 
statutory Accounting Officer for the Trust. 

 

Jane McCall, Chair 

Appointed as Trust Chair in January 2018, Jane has significant experience as a 
Non-Executive Director in the NHS, including at Stockport Foundation Trust and 
University Hospitals of South Manchester Foundation Trust; the latter as Deputy 
Chair. Her background is in social housing. 

In addition to her role with the Trust, she holds Non-Executive positions with the 
Information Commissioner’s Office, and is an external member of the House of 
Commons Commission. 

Jane is the Chair of the Board and of the Council of Governors. She also Chairs the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board, and serves on the Council’s 
Nomination Committee. 
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Peter Noble, Non-Executive Director 

Appointed to the Board in 2018, Peter has a long career in higher education and the 
NHS, most recently as Vice-President and Chief of Staff at the University of New 
South Wales. He has previously worked in the NHS in a number of locations and 
roles. 

Peter is the Chair of the Workforce Committee. He also serves on the Audit 
Committee, the Quality and Governance Committee, and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. He is a member of the Charitable Funds Committee. He 
is the Lead NED for Safeguarding Adults and Children. 

 

Brendan Ryan, Medical Director  

An active Consultant in Emergency Medicine, Brendan joined the Trust in 2014 from 
a similar role at University Hospitals of South Manchester Foundation Trust. 
Professionally, his particular incidents are in bereavement, pre-hospital care, and 
major incident planning/ response. 

Brendan leads on medical-related issues, and serves on the Quality and 
Governance Committee and the Workforce Committee. He is also the Responsible 
Officer, leading the medical re-validation process for the Trust: and the Caldicott 
Guardian, responsible for ensuring the appropriate use of patient information. 

 

Sam Simpson, Finance Director 

Sam joined the Trust in June 2018 and has worked in the NHS for over 20 years 
since joining the North West Financial Management Training Scheme. Sam has held 
senior finance roles in commissioner, provider and strategic health authority; and 
most recently, prior to joining the Trust, Sam was the Director of Finance for the 
Cheshire & Merseyside Sustainability Transformation Partnership. Sam spent two 
years at Greater Manchester Police and also has experience of working in local 
authorities and the education sector, and is a governor of Manchester Health 
Academy. 
 
Sam is a member of the Finance Committee and Charitable Funds Committee, and 
attends the Audit Committee.  

 

Martyn Taylor, Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director 

Martyn is an Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers, and spent his career in 
banking. Prior to his retirement he led risk management related to troubled firms for 
a major bank, with a particular focus on the North of England. He also graduated 
from senior management development programmes at Harvard Business School 
and the Wharton University in Pennsylvania. 

Martyn joined the Board in May 2015, and his term will end in April 2021. He is the 
Chair of the Quality and Governance Committee, and serves on the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. He is the Lead NED for 
Freedom to Speak Up and for Organ Donation. From 1

st
 May 2019, he has been 

Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director 
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Peter Weller, Director of Nursing and Integrated Governance 

Peter has a portfolio of 30 years’ nursing experience in provider, commissioner and 
regulatory organisations, having held a range of clinical and managerial leadership 
roles. Holding an MA in Professional Practice pertaining to Quality Governance, 
Peter re-joined the Trust from NHS Improvement, where he was Senior Clinical 
Lead for Greater Manchester and Lancashire, overseeing a range of NHS 
providers and driving improvements in governance, workforce and clinical 
standards. He was previously the Director of Quality Governance at the Trust. 
 
Peter leads on Nursing and clinical governance matters, and is a member of the 
Quality and Governance Committee and the Workforce Committee. His role 
includes being the Director of Infection Prevention and Control for the Trust. 
 
Outside of work Peter undertakes enjoys spending time with his family and he is an 
avid baker and home produce maker. 
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Corporate Governance 

 
50. Introduction 
 

50.1. The Board recognises the key importance, particularly in a public sector organisation, of 
ensuring that decisions are taken at an appropriate level, and with due consideration. It 
seeks to ensure this through ensuring that its arrangements for corporate governance 
represent best practice and are resourced and supported appropriately. 

 
50.2. Corporate governance within the Trust takes place in the structure defined in the 

National Health Service Act 2006, and in particular Schedule 7 of that Act (as amended 
by the Health and Social Care Act 2012). It is also informed by the expectations of the 
Care Quality Commission, and the Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts 
published by Monitor (now part of NHS Improvement). 

 
50.3. The major corporate governance bodies within the Trust are the Council of Governors, 

largely elected by Trust members with responsibility for holding the Board to account and 
ensuring that the views of the public are represented to the Trust; and the Board of 
Directors, who are responsible for setting the direction and strategy of the Trust and for 
oversight of delivery. The Trust operates in a closely-regulated environment, with the 
main (but not only) statutory regulators being Monitor (now part of NHS Improvement) 
and the Care Quality Commission. 

 
50.4. During the course of the year, the Trust has been inspected by the Care Quality 

Commission, part of which included a review of compliance with the test “Is [the Trust] 
Well-Led?”. Whilst the outcomes of the inspection process are not available at the date 
of approval of this report, the Board has reason to believe that no significant concerns 
related to corporate governance were identified through this process. During the year, 
the Board has also commissioned a review by the Internal Audit provider (MIAA) of the 
effectiveness of its Committee processes, to provide assurance that they support the 
Board appropriately and to identify areas for improvement. The outcomes of this review 
are being finalised and are expected to be considered by the Board in the early part of 
the new financial year. 

 
51. Statement of the application of the Code of Governance 
 

51.1. Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, published by Monitor, on a comply or 
explain basis. The Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on 
the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012. 

 
51.2. Where the Code has a requirement for disclosure, this has been addressed in the 

relevant section of this report, based on the table given in the Annual Reporting Manual 
for NHS Foundation Trusts.  

 
51.3. The information in this report about our compliance, or explanations for non-compliance, 

with the Code of Governance is subject to review by the external Auditors. 
 
52. Explanations for areas of non-compliance with the Code 
 

52.1. After careful review, the Board has not identified any areas where the Trust failed to 
comply with the provisions of the Code of Governance during the year under review. 
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The Board of Directors and Council of Governors 
 

53. High-level overview 
 

53.1. There are two main governance bodies in the Trust; the Council of Governors and the 
Board of Directors. These are established by the Trust Constitution, in accordance with 
the requirements of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006. The structure 
must follow that Schedule and the Trust has no authority to put in place different 
arrangements. 

 
53.2. The Council of Governors is formed of volunteers, representing the public, staff and key 

stakeholders of the Trust. Governors are elected or appointed for a term of 3 years, and 
may be re-elected/ re-appointed for up to 9 years without a break in service. Council has 
a regular schedule of 4 meetings in the year, which are supplemented by development 
and briefing sessions. Council exercises certain limited powers, as defined by law; key 
powers include appointing the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors to the Board; 
determining the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors; appointing the Trust’s 
Auditor; and approving the appointment of the Non-Executive Director’s choice as Chief 
Executive. The law does not permit Council to delegate its powers. 

 
53.3. The Board of Directors is formed of Non-Executive Directors, who are not employed by 

the Trust; and Executive Directors, who form the senior management of the organisation. 
However, all Directors are equal and have the same statutory and legal responsibilities 
as Directors. The Non-Executive Directors must include the Trust Chair; and the 
Executive Directors are required by law to include a Chief Executive, a Director of 
Finance, and Directors registered with the General Medical Council or General Dental 
Council; and with the Nursing and Midwifery Council (as a nurse or midwife). Subject to 
the matters reserved to the Council of Governors by law, the Board of Directors 
exercises all of the powers available to the Trust as a legal entity. 

 
53.4. The Board of Directors meets on a regular basis, having agreed that it will meet every 

two months (six times a year). The Board has both a defined schedule of future 
business, and a list of standing agenda items to be considered at every formal meeting, 
in order to ensure that it is exercising appropriate governance and oversight of the 
activities of the Trust. In the months between the formal Board meetings, the Directors 
have seminar sessions to receive briefings on forthcoming developments and policy 
changes, and to discuss policy proposals prior to formal consideration by the Board. The 
Board is also supported by a comprehensive Committee system, which reviews both 
performance and policy proposals in detail prior to Board consideration. 

 
53.5. Under the Standing Orders of the Trust, the general powers of management of the Trust 

are delegated to the Chief Executive and through her to the staff operating the Trust’s 
services, subject to the Board’s decisions about reserving powers either to itself or to 
Board Committees. Through the Standing Financial Instructions and the Terms of 
Reference for Board Committees, the Board has reserved certain powers of final 
approval to itself or the relevant Board Committees. 

 
54. Membership of the Board of Directors, and attendance at meetings 
 

54.1. During the year, the following served as Directors of the Trust- 
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Name Office Start date Expected end of term 

Sallie Bridgen Non-Executive Director February 2017 January 2020 

Trish Cavanagh Chief Operating Officer August 2014 N/A 

Anne Dray Deputy Chair January 2014 December 2019 

Cathy Elliott Non-Executive Director February 2017 January 2020 

Karen James Chief Executive October 2014 N/A 

Pauline Jones Chief Nurse February 2016 Retired September 2018 

Jane McCall Trust Chair January 2018 January 2021 

Tracey McErlain-Burns Interim Chief Nurse January 2018 Retired October 2018 

Peter Noble Non-Executive Director February 2018 February 2021 

Brendan Ryan Medical Director October 2014 N/A 

Sam Simpson Director of Finance June 2018 N/A 

Martyn Taylor Non-Executive Director May 2015 April 2021 

Peter Weller Director of Nursing and 
Integrated Governance 

February 2019 N/A 

Claire Yarwood Director of Finance January 2015 Left May 2018 

 
54.2. Attendance at meetings of the Board, and its Committees, was as follows. Information 

on the attendance of Directors at the Audit Committee can be found at page 61, and at 
the meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on page 26. 

 

 Board of Directors Finance 
Committee 

Quality and 
Governance 
Committee 

Workforce 
Committee 

Attended Possible Attended Possible Attended Possible Attended Possible 

Sallie Bridgen 7 8 11 12 10 12 6 6 

Trish 
Cavanagh 

7 8 10 12 7 12 3 6 

Anne Dray 8 8 12 12     

Cathy Elliott 7 8 9 12 11 12 2 6 

Karen James 7 8       

Pauline Jones 0 0   0 0 0 0 

Jane McCall 8 8       

Tracey 
McErlain-
Burns 

6 6   8 8 3 4 

Peter Noble 8 8   10 12 5 6 

Brendan Ryan 7 8   9 12 5 6 

Sam Simpson 5 6 9 10     

Martyn Taylor 8 8   12 12   
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 Board of Directors Finance 
Committee 

Quality and 
Governance 
Committee 

Workforce 
Committee 

Peter Weller 1 1   2 2 1 1 

Claire 
Yarwood 

3 3 2 2     

 
55. Independent Non-Executive Directors 
 

55.1. After careful review of their connections with Trust management, the Board considers all 
Non-Executive Directors to be independent of the management of the Trust. 

 
55.2. The independence of the Non-Executive Directors has been reviewed during the year, 

having regard to the criteria in the Code of Governance, to identify any factors that might 
indicate that a Non-Executive Director was no longer independent. 

 
56. Completeness, balance and appropriateness of the Board 
 

56.1. Details of the skills, expertise and experience of the individual Directors can be found in 
the biography section, on page 45. 

 
56.2. The Board has given consideration to the skills and experience represented in its own 

membership, in order to consider whether what is available through its membership 
provides balance, completeness and is appropriate to the environment and context in 
which the Trust operates. This has also been informed by discussions with the Council’s 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, who have responsibility for recommending to 
Council the skills and experience to be sought in making appointments of Non-Executive 
Directors to the Board. 

 
56.3. The Board considers that the membership represents an appropriate balance, not just 

between Executive and Non-Executive Directors but also in the skills and experience 
that are available, in both the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and collectively, 
given the context and environment that the Trust is operating in. In particular, the Board 
considers that it has appropriate skills and experience to provide effective leadership to 
the Trust; develop effective strategy; provide financial management and direction as a 
whole; and relevant experience on key issues such as integration and organisational 
change. During the year the Board has commenced a succession planning exercise for 
both Directors and senior managers, in order to ensure that there is both a clear view of 
the skills to be sought in any replacement and also to inform the Board’s view of the 
(different) skills to be sought in future appointments having regard to the challenges 
expected to face the Board and the Trust. 

 
57. Performance evaluation 
 

57.1. The Board recognises the importance of evaluating the performance of its key 
governance systems; starting with the Board, running through the Committees that 
support the Board, and including the performance of individual Directors. This reflects 
and builds on the expectations set out in the Code of Governance for NHS Foundation 
Trusts. The Trust also has obligations under Condition FT4 of the NHS Improvement 
Provider Licence to ensure effective governance systems, and similar obligations under 
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. 

 
57.2. During the year, the Board commissioned a review by the Internal Auditors of the 
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effectiveness of the Board and its Committees, to ensure that there was an external view 
on their performance. The review has included the Internal Auditors reviewing the papers 
of various Committees, attending meetings to observe, and conducting a series of 
interviews with key colleagues. The Board has discussed the emergent findings of that 
review, and when a formal report is received will be seeking to develop actions to 
improve based on the findings. For 2019-2020, the Board has commissioned an 
externally-led Board Development programme from Deloitte. 

 
57.3. Each individual Director’s performance is subject to a formal process of review and 

assessment, reflecting on their performance as a Director in the Board and Committee 
environment, as well as (for Executive Directors) their management performance and 
(for relevant Non-Executive Directors) their performance in specific responsibilities such 
as Chairs of Committees. Each Director, including the Chair and the Chief Executive, is 
set a range of objectives for the year, subject to review during the course of the year, 
and end of year achievement is assessed. The outcomes of the appraisals for the 
Executive Directors are reported to the Board’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee; for the Non-Executive Directors, they are reported to the Council of 
Governors through the Council Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

 
58. Review of internal controls 
 

58.1. The systems of internal control have been subject to continuing review by the Board 
during the course of the year, supported by the detailed work of the Audit Committee and 
the Internal Audit service. The Board has considered not only financial systems of 
control, but also the systems that provide control and assurance regarding the quality 
and safety of the care provided to patients, together with the systems to identify learning 
and ensure that changes are embedded into future practice. The Board has also taken 
into account the overall opinion of the Head of Internal Audit, who considered that the 
Trust’s control systems provided Substantial Assurance that that there was a good 
system of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls were generally being applied consistently. 

 
58.2. Having considered the matters referred to above, and also the other matters considered 

by the Board during the course of the year, the Board is of the opinion that the control 
systems in place during the course of the year were satisfactory. Further details can be 
seen in the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
59. Membership of and attendance at the Council of Governors 
 

59.1. During the course of the year, the following have served as members of the Council of 
Governors- 

 

Name Constituency Elected/ 
Appointed 

End of term of office 

Jean Bowes-Porter Public Ashton Elected Deceased September 
2018 

Wendy Brelsford Public Audenshaw Elected March 2022 

Dorothy Cartwright Public Stalybridge Elected March 2020 

Kailish Chand Action Together Appointed  

Victoria Collier Young Persons’ Appointed Retired Nov 18 

Lesley Conroy Public Ashton Elected March 2020 
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Name Constituency Elected/ 
Appointed 

End of term of office 

Anne Corrie Public Longendale  Elected March 2022 

Lindsey Derbyshire Staff Medical and Urgent 
Care 

Elected November 2021 

Alan Dow Tameside & Glossop CCG Appointed  

Alec Hall Public Mossley Elected December 2021 

Mark Hindle Public Hyde Elected May 2021 

Mark Holden Consort Appointed  

Nazrul Hoque Public Ashton Elected Retired June 18 

Murtaza Husaini Public England and Wales Elected March 2020 

Sally Lewcock Staff Women’s and Children’s 
Services 

Elected January 2020 

Julie McCabe High Peak Borough Council Appointed  

Mike McClusky Staff Estates and Facility Elected June 2021 

John Phillips Public Hyde Elected June 2020 

Vikki Rutter Public Dukinfield Elected December 2019 

Ken Simpson Public Droyslden Elected December 2019 

Adrian Smith Staff Clinical Support Elected December 2019 

Peter Smith Public Denton Elected Retired August 18 

Gleeney Suarez Staff Intermediate Tier and 
Neighbourhoods 

Elected October 2021 

Lesley Surman Public Glossop Elected December 2019 

Raja Swamathan Staff Surgery Elected June 2021 

Emily Sykes Young People Appointed  

Brenda Warrington Tameside Council Appointed  

Chris Webster Public Glossop Elected March 2020 

Jean Whamby Derbyshire County Council Appointed  

 
59.2. During the year, John Phillips served as the Lead Governor. 

 
59.3. Details of attendance at meetings of the Council of Governors can be seen in the table 

on page 57. 
 
60. Membership areas 
 

60.1. The Trust has two types of membership- 
 Public membership, open to any member of the public who is resident in England 
 Staff membership, provided automatically to all members of staff unless they choose to 

‘opt-out’ 
 
Public membership is divided into the following areas for the purpose of elections to the Council of 
Governors- 
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Public area Local Government Wards covered 

Ashton-under-Lyne Ashton Hurst, Ashton St Michael’s, Ashton St Peter’s, Ashton Waterloo in 
Tameside MBC 

Audenshaw Audenshaw in Tameside MBC 

Denton Denton North East, Denton South and Denton West in Tameside MBC 

Droyslden Droylsden East and Droylsden West in Tameside MBC 

Dukinfield Dukinfield and Dukinfield Stalybridge in Tameside MBC 

Glossop Hadfield North, Hadfield South, Gamesley, Simmondley, Tintwistle, St John’s, 
Dinting, Old Glossop, Howard Town, Whitfield, and Padfield in High Peak BC 

Hyde Hyde Godley, Hyde Newton, and Hyde Werneth in Tameside MBC 

Longendale Longendale in Tameside MBC 

Mossley Mossley in Tameside MBC 

Stalybridge Stalybridge North and Stalybridge South in Tameside MBC 

Rest of England and 
Wales 

All local government wards/ Divisions in England not covered above 

 
60.2. At 24th April 2019, the number of Members in each of the Public Constituency areas 

were- 
 

Public area Number of members 

Ashton-under-Lyne  478 

Audenshaw 82 

Denton 233 

Droyslden 144 

Dukinfield 201 

Glossop 241 

Hyde 276 

Longendale 98 

Mossley 86 

Stalybridge 263 

Rest of England  153 

Total 2,255 

 
 
61. Keeping the Directors aware of Governor and Member views 
 

61.1. The Board recognises the importance of ensuring that the Board is aware of the views of 
both the Governors, as the elected representatives of the public using the Trust’s 
services; and of members directly. Recognising the lines of accountability set out by 
Parliament, the Non-Executive Directors directly report to the Council on the activities of 
the Board; and will directly hear the concerns and feedback currently being fed through 
Governors. The Chair regularly provides a formal update to the Board on the matters 
discussed by the Council. 

 
61.2. The Board also receives information on the views of the public particularly those who 

utilise its services. It regularly reviews the feedback across the Trust from patients 
through the national ‘Friends and Family’ test, and also the annual In-patient and out-
patient surveys. The Board also receives feedback from the regular cross-system 
consultations that are undertaken through the Patient Experience Network, a cross-
organisation engagement arrangement involving the Trust, the CCG and Tameside 
Council. 
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62. Development of and engagement with the Trust’s membership 
 

62.1. During the year, the Trust has undertaken an exercise to contact all of its members, to 
ensure that they wish to remain in membership of the Trust. The Trust had a 
membership list in excess of 22,000, and it was clear that a substantial proportion of this 
list was now unreliable. The reduced the membership list to a figure of about 2,250, all of 
whom will have confirmed their wish to be actively involved with the Trust. 

 
62.2. Following completion of the review exercise, the Board intends to take more active 

measures to engage with the membership. Whilst the approach is yet to be finalised, 
options under consideration include the provision of an electronic newsletter or other 
similar steps to ensure that members receive regular information regarding 
developments at the Trust. A membership engagement strategy is being developed as a 
high priority action. 

 
62.3. Members are encouraged to become involved with the engagement and consultation 

arrangements operated through the Patient Engagement Network with our local 
partners, which enables them to express their views and preferences as services are 
developed. 

 
63. Contacting Governors and Directors 
 
Members who wish to contact Directors or Governors should e-mail the Trust Secretary at 
Steve.Parsons@tgh.nhs.uk. 
 
64. How Governors sought views from Members and the public on the Annual Plan 
 

64.1. The Trust, and the Council of Governors in particular, recognise that as elected 
representatives Governors have an obligation to ensure that they are aware of the 
views, opinions and concerns of their constituents as they affect the services provided by 
the Trust. The Board recognises its obligation to ensure that it provides appropriate 
support to Governors to enable them to discharge that responsibility. This is particularly 
the case in respect of the development of Trust strategy and forward planning. 

  
64.2. The consultation on the planning process in 2018-2019 has been complicated by the 

relatively short time that has been made available to providers to develop their annual 
plans, owing to delays in releasing the national guidance and expectations that underlie 
the development of Trust plans. In accordance with the statutory requirements, the 
Board consulted with the Council of Governors on the forward plan prior to its agreement 
and submission to NHS Improvement (on behalf of the Secretary of State); and Council’s 
consideration was itself supported by detailed review and briefing of a working group of 
Governors that advised Council. 

 
64.3. Governors are invited to be involved with the Patient Experience Network in order to 

receive the views and opinions of members and service users with regard to the 
developing strategy for the Tameside and Glossop area; this reflects that the Trust seeks 
to integrate the provision of services in the locality with those provided in Primary Care 
through the CCG, and in Public Health and Social Care through Tameside Council and 
Derbyshire County Council.  

 
64.4. During the coming year, the Trust is seeking to support Governors utilising other 

mechanisms to obtain the views and feedback of members related to forward planning 
and strategy. This may include seeking opportunities at the Strategic Neighbourhood 
Forums operated by Tameside Council, and similar opportunities in areas where a local 
government parish has been established (Tintwistle and Charlsworth in Derbyshire, 

mailto:Steve.Parsons@tgh.nhs.uk
mailto:Steve.Parsons@tgh.nhs.uk
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Mossley in Tameside). 
 
65. Table of attendance at meetings of the Council of Governors 
 

   
2018 

  
2019 

   
10

th
 July 19

th
 Sept 12

th
 Dec 21

st
 March 

       Bowes-Porter Jean 
 

    Deceased 

Brelsford Wendy 
 

x x x x 

Cartwright Dorothy 
 

x   x x 

Chand Kailish 
 

x   A A 

Collier Victoria 
 

    A Retired 

Conroy Lesley 
 

x x A x 

Corrie Anne 
 

x x x x 

Derbyshire Lyndesy 
 

  A A 

Dow Alan 
 

x   x A 

Hall Alec 
 

    x x 

Hindle Mark 
 

x   x x 

Holden Mark 
 

x   x x 

Hoque Nazrul 
 

x Retired 

Hussaini Mutarza 
 

x x x x 

Lewcock Sally 
 

      x 

McCabe Julie 
 

A x A A 

McClusky Mike 
 

x x A A 

Phillips John 
 

x x x x 

Rutter Vikki 
 

A   A x 

Simpson Ken 
 

A   x A 

Smith Adrian 
 

x x x x 

Smith Peter 
 

   Retired 

Suarez Gleeny 
 

  x x 

Surman Lesley 
 

x x x x 

Swamarithian Raja 
 

x x   A 

Sykes Emily 
 

      x 

Warrington Brenda 
 

    x x 

Webster Chris 
 

x x A x 

Wharmby Jean 
 

x   A A 

      

Directors attending 
     

       Bridgen Sallie 
 

x x x x 

Cavanagh Patricia 
 

A   A A 

Dray Anne 
 

x x x A 

Elliott Cathy 
 

A   x x 

James Karen 
 

x x x x 

Jones Pauline 
 

Sickness absence Retired 

McCall Jane 
 

x x x x 

McErlain-Burns Tracey 
 

x x Retired 
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2018 

  
2019 

   
10

th
 July 19

th
 Sept 12

th
 Dec 21

st
 March 

Noble Peter 
 

x x A A 

Ryan Brendan 
 

A x x A 

Simpson Sam 
 

x x x A 

Taylor Martyn 
 

x x A x 

Weller Peter 
 

  A 

Yarwood Claire 
 

Retired 
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The work of the Board’s Committees 

 
66. Introduction 
 

66.1. This section outlines the work undertaken by the various Committees of the Board, 
during the course of the year. Details of the work of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee can be found at page 26. 

 
66.2. All Board Committees operate to agreed and written terms of reference, which are 

subject to regular review and can only be amended by the Board. Committees are 
composed of both Executive and Non-Executive Directors, except for the Audit 
Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, which only have Non-
Executive Directors in membership. Each Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director appointed by the Board. The Committees meet on a prearranged cycle of 
meetings, agreed by the Board, and planned to ensure that they meet sufficiently often 
to discharge their strategic and oversight functions whilst not meeting unnecessarily. 
Each Committee has a plan of forward business, designed to ensure that all relevant 
matters are considered in a timely way to support the overall work of the Board. 

 
66.3. As is common for NHS Provider organisations, under Section 51 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 the Foundation Trust also acts as the Trustee of a registered charity. 
For these purposes, the Directors constitute the Directors of the Charity’s Trustee; and 
have delegated the day-to-day oversight of the Charity’s operations to a Charitable 
Funds Committee. As required under the Charities Act 2011, a separate Annual Report 
and Accounts for the charity is produced and submitted to the Charity Commissioners, 
and published on their web-site; the work of the Charitable Funds Committee is 
discussed in that document. 

 
67. Structure and membership 
 

67.1. Board Committees are directly responsible and report to the Board, and where 
authorised, exercise Board powers as set out in the Terms of Reference. Each 
Committee reports in writing to the following Board meeting (in public session) on its 
activities at each meeting, and minutes of proceedings are provided to the Board in 
private session. The membership of Committees is determined by the Board having 
regard to the skills and experience required; and appointments are subject to regular 
rotation amongst the Non-Executive Directors, having regard to the guidance in the 
Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts. 

 
67.2. Each Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors, in line with the written terms of 

reference that the Board has approved to set out the Committee’s role and 
responsibilities. The Board appoints both Executive and Non-Executive Directors to 
Committees, and (in line with the Code of Governance) each Committee has at least as 
many Non-Executive Directors as Executive Directors in membership. Details of 
attendance at Board Committees can be seen at page 50 of this Report. 

 
67.3. For each Committee, there is a formal agenda of business, which is compiled based on 

a forward plan that is reviewed and updated at the end of each meeting to ensure all 
relevant items are addressed. Provision is also made for extra meetings to be called if 
required, but this has not been needed during the course of the year. The agenda and 
papers for the Committee are circulated in advance, with late papers only being 
allowed with the prior permission of the Committee Chair and where an appropriate 
explanation for the late provision can be given. Papers are expected to be succinct as 
is compatible with the Committee understanding the issues and options; and should be 
supported by both an executive summary and any more detailed information being 
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appended. 
 
67.4. The performance and effectiveness of each Committee is reviewed on an annual basis, 

as recommended in the Code of Governance; and both Committees and the Board 
seek to make changes to develop contributions to effective governance. One significant 
change agreed during the year has been to move from reviewing terms of reference 
annually to a three-year cycle (earlier if needed), reflecting that, whilst important 
frameworks, the terms of reference should enable Committees, not act as unnecessary 
restrictions. 
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Audit Committee 
 

 
68. Introduction to the work of the Committee 
 

68.1. Every NHS organisation is required to have an Audit Committee, whose role is to 
support the Board by critically reviewing and reporting on the assurance arrangements 
and governance structures on which the Board places reliance. The Audit Committee 
scrutinises the Trust’s overarching assurance framework, including risk management 
and performance management systems, challenging poor or unreliable sources of 
assurance, and managers themselves when controls are not working or data is 
unreliable. 

 
68.2. The Audit Committee has a particular role in scrutinising financial controls, but its remit 

extends across all of the organisation’s activities. It also reviews the end of year 
disclosure statements including the Annual Report and Accounts, and the Quality 
Report/ Accounts, prior to submission to the Board.   

 
68.3. The Audit Committee is supported in its activities by the Internal Audit Service and a 

team of External Auditors who provide assurance and insight into the Trust’s 
management arrangements. The Audit Committee is empowered to receive any 
information it requires or a report from any member of staff on any matter it determines, 
within its Terms of Reference.      

 
69. Membership and attendance 
 

69.1. The Board appoints members of the Audit Committee, who must be Non-Executive 
Directors.9 During the year, the following have served on the Audit Committee- 

 

 Anne Dray (Chair) 

 Peter Noble 

 Martyn Taylor 
 

69.2. The Committee is supported by Sam Simpson, the Director of Finance, colleagues 
from the Finance and Governance Departments, and the Trust Secretary. It is also 
supported by representatives of the external Auditors (KPMG), the Internal Audit 
service (MIAA), and the Local Counter-Fraud Service (MIAA). 

 
69.3. During the year, attendance at the meetings of the Committee was as follows- 

 

 April 2018 May 2018 July 2018 September 
2018 

November 
2018 

March 2019 

Anne Dray       

Peter Noble       

Martyn Taylor     Apologies  

 
  

                                                 
9 See National Health Service Act 2006, Schedule 7, para 23(6) 
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70. Our work during the year 
 

70.1. During the last year, the Committee has continued to provide support and assurance to 
the Board related to the various control systems in place for the Trust. This has been 
undertaken mainly through the assurance work undertaken by the Internal Audit service, 
and which is outlined below. The Committee has particularly focused on those areas 
where the Internal Audit service has found less than adequate controls; our approach 
has been to seek assurance that Trust management recognises the issues identified, 
and has put in place a series of responsive actions which can reasonably be expected to 
resolve the issues within a reasonable time-frame. 

 
70.2. The Committee has also been engaged with the work of the Local Counter-Fraud 

service, as detailed below, to ensure that there is appropriate focus and assurance that 
we are protecting public funds provided to the Trust for the public service, and taking 
action where fraudulent activity is suspected or proved. 

 
71. The structure and work of Internal Audit 
 

71.1. The Trust maintains an Internal Audit service, which is provided on a contracted basis by 
Merseyside Internal Audit Agency (MIAA). MIAA provides a professional internal audit 
service which maintains the appropriate professional registrations, and is subject to 
national regulation as such. The MIAA engagement is led by a Managing Director, with 
the day-to-day engagement led by the audit manager and supported by various 
specialist staff. 

 
71.2. The Internal Audit service works to an annual plan which is agreed with the Committee 

prior to the start of the year. The annual plan is constructed in consultation with the 
Executive team, and within a rolling overall three-year framework which is designed to 
ensure that all relevant areas are reviewed within that timescale. Compliance with the 
plan is monitored at each meeting of the Committee, and Committee approval is 
required for all changes to the plan. The Committee’s workplan also indicates where the 
Committee expects to receive the various reports from reviews by the Internal Audit 
service, and (where appropriate) dates where the Committee has requested updates on 
actions/ further review reports from MIAA. 

 
71.3. Internal Audit also provide a Head of Internal Audit Opinion, which contributes to the 

assurances available to the Accounting Officer and the Board, and which underpins the 
Board’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of Internal 
Control. This Opinion assists the Board in the completion of its Annual Governance 
Statement, along with considerations of organisational performance, regulatory 
compliance, the wider operating environment and health and social care transformation. 

 
72. Our assessment of the external audit process 
 

72.1. The Committee will be assessing the effectiveness of the external audit process 
following the completion of the audit with the issue of the Auditor’s report and opinion. 
This will then be the subject of a report to the Council of Governors in September, for 
consideration in association with this Annual Report and Accounts. The Committee 
anticipates seeking assurance that the external audit process was conducted in 
accordance with relevant regulations, and was appropriately planned and conducted. 

 
72.2. The fees paid for the external audit for the year ended 31st March 2019 were £51,800. 
 
72.3. The appointment of the external auditor is a matter for the Council of Governors, 
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although it is advised by the Audit Committee. The external auditor is appointed through 
a tender process, as required by the Public Procurement Regulations 2015; to date, 
Council has agreed the period of appointment should be for a period of 5 years. The 
current appointment of the external auditor (KPMG LLP) is scheduled to expire at the 
end of October 2019. 

 
73. Other services provided by the Auditors 
 

73.1. During 2018-2019, KPMG LLP provided no non-audit services to the Trust. 
 
73.2. If there were to be a proposal for KPMG LLP to provide non-audit services, appropriate 

controls are in place to ensure that it does not affect the independence of the provision 
of the external audit service; and would be subject to the prior approval of the Audit 
Committee. 

 
74. Key issues of focus during the course of the year 
 

74.1. The key issues that the Committee reviewed during the year, based on the reviews 
undertaken by MIAA, were- 

 
 Locums and Medical Agency Staffing 
 Application of controls to enforce the ‘cap’ on agency staffing spend 
 Controls to ensure that Overseas Visitors systems were effective 
 Effective controls to ensure that potential conflicts of interest arising for staff are effectively 

managed 
 

74.2. For all of these areas, the Committee were advised by the Internal Audit service of the 
review and areas of concern; and the responsible Executive Director or deputy attended 
to discuss the assurance available from the actions proposed by management. 

 
74.3. These fed into the Head of Internal Audit opinion, considered by the Committee in April 

2019, which found that there was Substantial Assurance that that there is a good system 
of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently. The Committee has considered this rating, and are 
in agreement with it. 

 
74.4. In respect of the financial statements, the key issues which the Committee has 

considered prior to recommending approval to the Board were- 
 

 The assurance available that the Trust is a Going Concern, related to the in-year deficit and 
the Trust’s current plans anticipating the Trust will be in deficit (although reduced) for the 
coming year; 

 The available assurance that there will be continuing support from the Department of 
Health and Social Care through the provision of loans; 

 The impact of changes to applicable financial standards, and in particular the introduction of 

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15. 
 

74.5. As part of the planning for the external audit, the key risks raised by the auditors and the 
Committee’s consideration were as follows- 
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Key risk Committee response 

Valuation of land and buildings The Committee noted that an external valuation by the 
District Valuer, involving physical inspection of 
buildings, was being undertaken. This would also 
inform the implementation of the new accounting 
standards. 
The Committee also endorsed the work proposed to be 
undertaken by the auditors to provide assurance in this 
area. 

Fraudulent revenue recognition a The Committee reviewed and endorsed the assurance 
work proposed to be undertaken by the auditors. 
The Committee also noted that the assessment of low 
risk by the auditors (prior to audit) 

Management over-ride of controls a The Committee noted that this was, in theory, a 
heightened risk given the Trust’s financial position and 
NHS Improvement’s interest in the position. 
The Committee endorsed the proposed work of the 
auditors to provide assurance in this area. 

Fraudulent recognition of expenditure The Committee noted and endorsed the work proposed 
to be undertaken by the auditor to provide assurance in 
this area. 

 
a- These are standard risks assessed for all organisations. 

 
74.6. The Committee were assured that these issues were being appropriately addressed 

through management, and shown appropriately in the financial statements. 
 
75. The work of the Local Counter-Fraud Service 
 

75.1. A key part of the control systems in place at the Trust is the Local Counter-Fraud service 
(LCFS), which is provided on an arms-length basis by MIAA. The service is accredited 
by the NHS Counter-Fraud Authority, and provides a professional support service in this 
area. The service is maintained in accordance with the requirements of the NHS 
Standard Contract. 

 
75.2. The pro-active work of the LCFS is undertaken in accordance with a plan that is agreed 

by the Committee prior to the start of the year, and progress is monitored by the 
Committee at each meeting through the LCFS progress report. A significant part of the 
LCFS’s work is reactive, responding to reports of potential illegitimate activities, 
investigating them, and where appropriate recommending next steps to the Trust or the 
prosecuting authorities. 

 
75.3. During the course of the year, LCFS have reviewed five suggestions of the illegitimate 

use of funds or resources. A number of these have resulted in action, either to improve 
controls or take action against an individual.  

 
75.4. A full review of the Trust’s compliance with the requirements of the NHS Counter-Fraud 

Agency (CFA) was held during the year, with a compliance visit by a CFA reviewer. 
Whilst the Trust was largely compliant, this identified some areas where more work was 
needed. An action plan has been put into place, to be fully compliant by the end of the 
2019-2020 year, and is monitored at each meeting of the Audit Committee.  
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Quality and Governance Committee 
 
76. Introduction from the Committee Chair 
 
The Quality and Governance Committee works in partnership with other Committees of the Board 
to ensure that the Quality Priorities are met and to support the Trust in achieving its Corporate 
Objectives. A summary of how this is achieved and the progress made is detailed below. 
 
77. The role of the Quality and Governance Committee 
 

77.1. The Quality and Governance Committee has been appointed by the Board to- 
 

a. Support and oversee work to ensure that the quality of care provided by the Trust is of the 
highest quality, and to review the development of strategic policies to improve the quality of 
care 

b. Oversee the operation of clinical governance policies and practices in the Trust 
c. Oversee the management and mitigation of risks, both strategic and high-risk operational 
d. Oversee the Trust’s work with external partners to improve the co-ordination and integration 

of care 
e. Have strategic oversight of the Trust’s relationship with regulators of the quality and 

standard of care, including the Care Quality Commission, the Human Tissue Authority, and 
NHS Improvement’s patient safety arm. 

 
77.2. To support its work, it has a direct reporting relationship with two senior management 

groups- the Risk Management Committee, and the Service Quality and Organisational 
Governance Group. The Quality and Governance Committee is not responsible for 
corporate governance practice, which remains with the Board and the Trust Secretary. 

 
77.3. The Board has appointed four Non-Executive Directors to the Committee; Sallie Bridgen, 

Cathy Elliott, Peter Noble and Martyn Taylor (Chair). The Board has also appointed three 
Executive Directors- the Chief Operating Officer (Trish Cavanagh), the Medical Director 
(Brendan Ryan), and the Director of Nursing and Integrated Governance (Peter Weller). 
The Committee’s discussions are supported by colleagues from the Quality and 
Governance department, the Nursing Directorate, and the various service Directorates, 
together with colleagues from other services as appropriate. Representatives from 
HealthWatch and the CCG are provided with papers and invited to observe the 
meetings; and two Governors have been appointed to observe the Committee. 

 
78. How the Committee is structured 
 

78.1. The Committee meets monthly, including in August and January; with some meetings 
being shortened to allow the Committee members to hold (announced) visits to clinical 
areas, both on the hospital site and in the community. Certain key matters are 
considered at every meeting- 

 Serious incidents occurring since the previous meeting, and the outcomes of investigations 
concluded. This also addresses cases being considered by HM Coroner, and any related 
learning or concerns 

 A report on the learning undertaken and implemented since the previous meeting 

 An externally-focused report to identify key policy developments in the NHS and by external 
bodies, and the actions being taken by the Trust in responses 

78.2. Other business is planned around the yearly cycle, and the forward plan regularly 
reviewed by the Committee as a whole. 



Page 66 

78.3. The Committee is the key interface between Board governance and management in 
respect of the matters under the oversight of the Committee. Papers and items are 
regularly presented by members of the Quality team, and senior Directorate or Divisional 
staff are asked to attend when matters related to their work are expected to be 
discussed. The Committee seeks to engage positively with staff colleagues, recognising 
that they are working hard to develop services and (in general) seek to provide the best 
possible care for every patient. However, the Committee also recognises that, in order to 
discharge its responsibilities to the Board, it may need to engage in robust challenge in 
order to both gain appropriate assurance and to encourage the adoption or maintenance 
of appropriately high standards of provision. 
 

79. Our key work during the year 
 
The work of the Committee during the year has continued to be diverse, covering a wide range of 
aspects of patient care and experience. Key aspects have included- 
 

 Continuing work to oversee the quality of care provided, through items such as serious 
incident reporting, compliance with the Duty of Candour requirements, and patient 
experience surveys including the ‘Family and Friends’ test. 

 Having oversight of the planning and outcomes of the programme of clinical audit  

 Reviewing the potential impacts on quality of care of the proposed transfer of Adult Social 
Care services 

 The introduction of the electronic (digital) CAS-card in the year, assurance that it has been 
effective in the better management of patient flow, and then the plans to develop the 
system to support other Trust acute provision on the hospital site (with a longer-term aim of 
extending it to community services) 

 A review of complaints handling and processes, and work to improve them 

 Preparation for the inspection of services by the Care Quality Commission. 
 
80. Evaluating our work during the year 
 

80.1. The Committee has been appointed with written terms of reference, set by the Board of 
Directors, to define its role and activities. The key areas where the Committee supports 
the Board are- 

 
 Systems and processes to ensure the quality of care and patient experience; 
 Identification and mitigation of risks to the quality and safety of care; 
 Setting the cultural norms and expected behaviours for staff and others involved in the 

delivery of care 
 

80.2. These are supported by a detailed set of areas where the Committee is responsible for 
supporting the Board. During the year, the Committee has complied with the specific 
requirements that arose in the normal course of business; those that did not arise have 
been confirmed as not requiring further action. The Committee’s work is supported by 
detailed work-planning designed to ensure that all relevant aspects of the Terms of 
Reference are dealt with by the Committee in a planned and co-ordinated way. 

 
81. The key matters we expect to address in 2019-2020 
 

81.1. In 2019-2020, in addition to the continuing work to oversee performance on the quality of 
care and the experience of patients using our services, we anticipate that the following 
will be key activities- 

 

 Contributing to, and providing assurance to the Board regarding, the development of the 
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Trust’s Patient Experience strategy 

 Supporting the Board’s consideration of the Full Business Case in relation to the proposed 
transfer of Adult Social Care, particularly regarding impacts on care provision and quality 

 Addressing the findings of the CQC review, involvement in the development of the required 
action plan to be approved by the Board, and regular monitoring of progress for its 
implementation. 
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Finance Committee 
 
82. Introduction from the Committee Chair 
 
Like many other NHS Trusts, we face significant financial challenges. We are proud to have set 
and met our budgets and delivered year on year financial efficiencies while continuing and 
improving our delivery of safe effective care and positive experiences for our patients and 
community. We can only do this through the strong and effective teamwork within the Trust 
between Finance, Clinical and Operational teams, strong working relationships with our partners in 
Tameside and Glossop, Derbyshire and Greater Manchester, and a system leadership approach to 
improving the health and wellbeing of our communities.  
 
The Finance Committee plays an important role in setting the culture, understanding the 
opportunities for improvement, through tools such as Model Hospital, and maintaining grip and 
control, while recognising the vital linkages with our Quality, Workforce and Audit Committees. 
 
83. The role of the Finance Committee 
 

83.1. The Finance Committee has been appointed by the Board to provide more detailed 
oversight, and assurance to the Board, regarding financial and estates issues. The 
Committee also picks up a range of other issues, sometimes in consultation with other 
Committees; and supports the Board through detailed review and discussion on 
strategic planning and significant investments or business change proposals. 

 
84. How the Committee is structured 
 

84.1. The Committee is formed of 6 Directors; three Non-Executive Directors, joined by the 
Chief Executive, Director of Finance, and Chief Operating Officer. The Committee is 
supported by senior Finance Department staff, staff from other departments, and the 
Trust Secretary. 

 
84.2. The Committee meets every month, with a set agenda and a forward work-plan in place 

to identify expected business for the coming 12 months. Every meeting will review- 
 

 A detailed report on the financial position at the end of the previous month; including- 

 Overall financial position, and performance in-month; 

 A forward forecast to the end of the year; 

 Identification of performance against the plan, and key steps proposed to either move 
back to the plan or achieve better than the plan 

 Performance against the agreed plans for achieving efficiencies in the year (the Trust 
Efficiency programme or TEP) 

 Capital programme and performance, including the longer-term capital forecast 
 reviewing the risks on the Board Assurance Framework, and significant risks on the 

corporate risk register, that are relevant to the responsibilities of the Committee. 
 

84.3. The Committee receives regular updates from the Capital, Revenue and Investment 
Group, which is the key management group considering investment decisions: and the 
Trust Efficiency Programme Assurance Group. 

 
85. Our key work during the year 
 

85.1. Key areas of work during the 2018-2019 year have been- 
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i. Reviewing the Trust’s forward plan for 2018-2019, to ensure that it was challenging and 
achievable. As part of this process, the Committee supported and advised the Board with 
regard to agreeing a Control Total; again, with a view to ensure that this was achievable for 
the Trust without damaging the care being provided to patients. 

ii. Together with other Committees, supporting the Board in consideration of the replacement 
Enforcement Undertakings that were proposed by NHS Improvement during the year; and 
oversight of progress against those requirements. 

iii. Having oversight over the delivery of the TEP plan, to ensure that the Trust met its financial 
plans and therefore its control total; and similarly, oversight of performance requirements to 
receive central funding through the Provider Sustainability Fund 

iv. Monitoring capital spend, in light of the increased focus from central bodies on the 
effectiveness of capital forecasting processes; and on the need to maximise the impact of 
the limited capital funding available to the Trust 

v. Supporting the Board in the work related to the proposed transfer of Adult Social Care 
provision from Tameside Council to the Trust;  

vi. Ensuring more effective financial controls were in place, including the appointment of a 
Finance Improvement Board at Executive team level, and receiving updates on the work of 
the Financial Improvement Team; 

vii. Reviewing and assuring on the development of the Trust’s assessment and participation in 
the Use of Resources assessment as part of the CQC inspection process. 

 
 
86. Evaluating our work during the year 
 

86.1. The Committee has been appointed with written terms of reference, set by the Board of 
Directors, to define its role and activities. The key areas where the Committee supports 
the Board are- 

 
 Assurance and oversight of the progress against the agreed financial plan; 
 The development of future financial plans; 
 Assurance regarding the Trust’s performance against contractual obligations and national 

targets (some of which are considered in more detail by other Committees) 
 Oversight of impacts on sustainability and the natural environment 

 
86.2. These are supported by a detailed set of areas where the Committee is responsible for 

supporting the Board. 
 
86.3. During the year, the Committee has addressed most of the detailed points delegated to 

its oversight through the Terms of Reference. Two areas (progress against Corporate 
Objectives, and strategic Estates questions) were addressed directly by the Board as a 
whole, rather than through the Committee, owing to the issues requiring to be addressed 
and regulatory requirements for Board approval. 

 
87. The key matters we expect to address in 2019-2020 
 
During 2019-2020, in addition to the continuing focus on the financial performance of the Trust 
during the course of the year, the Committee anticipates particular focus on- 
 
i. The development of a financial recovery plan by the end of the 2019 calendar year. This is a 

condition set by NHS Improvement and NHS England for receipt of the new Financial 
Recovery Fund in 2019-2020; and is intended to set out how the Trust will achieve both 
financial sustainability and resolve its historic debt position (thereby ending the need for 
continuing loan support from HM Treasury) 
 

ii. Supporting the Board in the assessment of the Full Business Case for the proposed transfer of 
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Adult Social Care; particularly focusing on the financial effects, impacts and mitigations. 
 
 
 



Page 71 

 

Workforce Committee 
 
88. Introduction from the Committee Chair 
 
The Trust is extremely proud of its strong and diverse workforce which aims to achieve the highest 
quality of care to patients, that is both safe and effective. Delivering high quality care cannot be 
achieved without a high quality, inspired and motivated workforce and so given the many 
challenges and exciting opportunities for staff, the need for a Workforce Committee was self- 
evident, when established a year ago. 
 
The Committee has taken a careful and measured approach, when considering workforce 
priorities. It has learned from practice in other settings, listened to issues raised by staff, improved 
its capability to monitor performance, considered programmes for staff development and has 
identified and tackled a number of workforce risks.   
 
We identified at an early stage the importance of focusing on a limited number of high-level 
workforce risks, where through a process of ‘deep dives’, we reviewed in detail both performance 
and practice and engaged staff to bring practical ideas and solutions to the Committee. Tackling 
these risks head-on has provided demonstrable improvements in a number of areas, which include 
mandatary training and recruitment and retention in nursing and medical staff. We are pleased that 
we have reduced our reliance on agency staff ensuring our funds are maximised for patient care 
and we are encouraged with the launch of our talent management programme.  We work in strong 
collaboration with our communities and across our Trust Board committees, which are important 
factors for success. 
 
We would like to thank all staff in making a difference to improvements in the quality of care in 
Tameside and Glossop during 2018/19, and look to address many challenges in 2019/20. 
 
89. The role of the Workforce Committee 
 

89.1. During 2018-2019, the Board agreed that a Workforce Committee should be formed, in 
order to ensure that there was a greater Board focus on this key area of activity. The role 
of the Committee overall is to have oversight of the Trust’s management, recruitment 
and engagement with its workforce; this inevitably overlaps with the work of other 
Committees, particularly the Quality and Governance Committee, but is providing a very 
useful change in focus to support the Board and provide assurance in this key area. 

 
89.2. To direct its work, the Committee has agreed six key themes- 

 
a. Educating and training a workforce that provides skills and knowledge, and supports the 

local community to enable people to take control over their health. 
b. Recruiting, retaining and building a high-quality workforce for the future. 
c. Identifying and rewarding talent; and instilling our culture, values and behaviours across the 

Trust 
d. Building leadership capacity, capability and change management, to develop new working 

practices which in turn assist the Trust to improve health outcomes 
e. Innovating new technological and workforce practices with partner organisations, ensuring 

such activities are widely disseminated, embedded and communicated across Tameside 
and Glossop 

f. Ensuring compliance with the regulatory requirements related to workforce. 
 
90. How the Committee is structured 
 

90.1. As with other Board Committees, the Committee is constituted by Directors; three Non-
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Executive Directors are joined by the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Nurse and Medical 
Director. The Director of Human Resources also plays a pivotal role in the Committee’s 
work, supported by colleagues from the HR team and the Trust Secretary. 

 
90.2. The Committee meets on a regular two-monthly cycle, and has a pre-agreed workplan 

covering the following 12 month period. Our aim is to engage in constructive debates 
which will both support the Board in gaining assurance regarding workforce issues, and 
enable the development of policies and strategies to support and develop the Trust’s 
workforce. 

 
90.3. The Committee has agreed that our work should be driven and guided by the six key 

themes. Following every meeting, the Committee Chair and the Director of HR review 
progress to ensure that we are addressing all six themes appropriately. 

 
91. Our key work during the year 
 

91.1. This year has been one of establishing the Committee, and its place in the governance 
of the Trust. Key issues considered have included- 

 

 The establishment of the six key themes, set out above 

 Setting up the appropriate systems to obtain assurance, including the development of a 
Workforce ‘dashboard’ of key metrics for review and oversight 

 Giving consideration to the workforce implications of the proposed transfer of Adult Social 
Care services to the Trust 

 The high-level outcomes from the national Staff Survey 2018, and the work towards 
agreeing actions to address areas of concern. These are set out in more detail in the Staff 
Survey section at page 39 above. 

 
92. Evaluating our work during the year 
 

92.1. The Committee has been appointed with written terms of reference, set by the Board of 
Directors, to define its role and activities. The key areas where the Committee supports 
the Board are- 

 
 Assurance regarding the strategic approach to workforce issues in the Trust; 
 Development of an effective workforce plan, in line with national guidance; and workforce 

strategies and plans more generally; 
 Compliance with regulatory requirements related to workforce matters; 
 Setting the culture and behaviours expected of the Trust’s workforce. 

 
92.2. These are supported by a detailed set of areas where the Committee is responsible for 

supporting the Board.  
 
92.3. As noted above, the Committee met for the first time during the year, and for the first 

period was undergoing a period of organisation. Certain matters set out in the detailed 
delegated areas for the Committee have not yet arisen for full review, having been dealt 
with either at another Committee (in accordance with the previous arrangements) or 
having been addressed by the Board as a whole. The Committee has in place a forward 
plan of business on a rolling 12-month basis, which is designed to ensure that all 
relevant matters are reviewed appropriately. 
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93. The key matters we expect to address in 2019-2020 
 

93.1. We intend to consolidate the activities of the Committee in 2019-2020, building on what 
we have learnt and developing our work to better support and assure the Board. Key 
issues that we anticipate addressing are- 

 

 How effectively the Trust delivers the action plan that the Board has agreed as a result of 
the 2018 Staff Survey; 

 Reviewing, and advising the Board regarding, the workforce implications in the Full 
Business Case for the proposed Adult Social Care transfer 

 The development of a clear Equality and Diversity strategy for the Trust, including the 
necessary targets and actions to meet the ambitions set out in the NHS 10-year strategy for 
greater diversity in Boards and senior management by 2022 

 Continuing to participate in the Greater Manchester work to standardise the way in which 
our workforces operate and interact, as part of the overall standardisation schemes in GM 

 To develop a workforce plan in partnership with staff which is agile to different models of 
delivery, and cognisant of the value of new innovations and technologies. 
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Single Oversight Framework 

 
94. Overview 
 

94.1. The Single Oversight Framework issued by NHS Improvement is the framework for 
overseeing NHS providers, and identifying their support needs. The Framework 
considers five key themes- 

 

 The quality of care 
 Finance and the use of resources 
 Operational performance 
 Strategic change by the organisation 
 The organisation’s leadership and capability to improve (‘well-led’) 

 
94.2. Based on the evaluation of the providers position against these themes, organisations 

are assessed in segments from 1 (providers with maximum autonomy and little support 
needed) to 4 (providers receiving the most support). A Foundation Trust is placed in 
segments 3 or 4 only where NHS Improvement (Monitor) has formally found that it is, or 
there is reason to believe that it is, in breach of the requirements of its Provider Licence. 

 
95. Current segment for this Trust 
 

95.1. As of 17th May, 2019, being the last practical date before this report was approved by the 
Board, the Trust was listed by NHS Improvement as in Segment 3. The latest 
segmentation information, updated as required by NHS Improvement, is available 
through the NHS Improvement web-site. 

 
95.2. Since 2015, the Trust has been subject to formal Enforcement Undertakings to Monitor, 

reflecting both quality issues and financial challenges. During 2017-2018, the 
Enforcement Undertakings were amended to reflect that the Trust is now rated as 
“Good” under the Care Quality Commission’s inspection regime. The remaining 
conditions relate to the financial position of the Trust, which can be seen in the Annual 
Accounts later in this document. In accordance with those conditions, the Board 
undertook a financial review which was reported to NHS Improvement in May 2018. The 
conditions required the Trust to meet the agreed Control Total for the year ended 31st 
March 2019 of an in-year deficit of £23.4 million (before Provider Stability Fund 
payments); and this condition was achieved. 

 
95.3. The conditions then set out an expectation for the Health and Social Care regional 

structure in Greater Manchester to complete a review into the structures of District 
General Hospitals by 31st December 2018; and if that date was met the Trust would be 
required to submit a financial recovery plan to NHS Improvement by 1st April 2019. In the 
event, the Greater Manchester condition was not fulfilled by the 31st December 2018; 
and so the consequent requirement on the Trust fell away. 

 
96. Finance and the use of resources 
 

96.1. Analysis under the finance and use of resources theme of the Framework is based on 
scoring five measures from 1 (best) to 4 (worst). The scores are then weighted and 
combined to provide an overall score for this theme. However, as one of five themes, the 
overall segmentation may not directly reflect the score on finance and the use of 
resource. In respect of the two segments where the Trust can exercise direct influence, 
we have maintained the best possible rating (4).  
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96.2. Scores for this theme are calculated quarterly. For the 2018-2019 year, and for 

comparison the 2017-2018 year, the scores for each quarter were- 
 

 2018-2019 2017-2018 

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Financial 
Sustainability 

Capital 
service 
capacity 

4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 

Liquidity 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 

Financial 
Efficiency 

I&E Margin 
4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 

Financial 
Controls 

Distance 
from 
financial 
plan 

1 1 1 1 1 1 2 3 

Agency 
spend 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 

Overall score for quarter 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 
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Sustainable Development 
 

97. Overview 
 

97.1. The Trust recognises that its activities can have a significant environmental impact, both 
directly and indirectly: and acknowledges its general obligation to minimise that impact 
as far as possible. This obligation has now been included in the NHS Standard Contract, 
which imposes a requirement on the Trust to take all reasonable steps to minimise 
adverse impact on the environment. 

 
97.2. The Trust continues to take active steps to reduce its environmental impact, including 

through the development of plans and strategies to move towards a position of 
sustainable development. During the 2019-2020 year, the Trust anticipates that a full 
Sustainable Development Management Plan will be developed and approved by the 
Board of Directors, in line with the updated requirements of the NHS Standard Contract. 

 
97.3. The Trust takes into account its obligations under the Public Services (Social Value) Act 

2012, both when procuring goods and services and when undertaking other expenditure 
that could affect the local community. 

 
98. Our impact on the environment 
 

98.1. It is inevitable that the Trust will impact on the environment through its activities. This will 
be through our direct activities for the provision of heathcare; key factors being the 
production of waste, the need to use energy for heating and lighting buildings, and the 
impacts of staff, patients and visitors needing to attend our sites for care or employment. 
As part of the public service, we recognise the need to minimise these impacts as far as 
possible, consistent with the requirement to provide high-quality services to those we 
serve. 

 
98.2. To this end, the Trust maintains and supports different initiatives to reduce our 

environmental impact.  For example the Trust has- 
 

 developed a paper-light project in the Accident and Emergency Department to eliminate 
thousands of paper-based casualty (CAS) cards  

 Worked with Tameside Council to supply electric car charging points on parking facilities 
that are adjacent to the main Tameside Hospital site.  

 The Trust is also increasing the cycle racks and access to showers across the organisation.  
 

98.3. Last year we recycled over 90 tonnes of waste paper and cardboard, together with 115 
tonnes of scrap metal: and have reduced our energy consumption by 388,000 KWh (on 
average) each year for the last three years through various energy saving projects such 
as replacement of traditional lights with LEDs.   This not only reduces the impact on our 
environment, but also makes contributes positively to the financial position of the 
organisation. 

 
99. Embedding sustainable management 
 

99.1. A key part of the NHS approach to managing our impacts, in line with Government 
policy, is for each organisation to adopt a Sustainable Development Management Plan. 
The NHS Standard Contract for the 2018-2019 year included a requirement to have a 
carbon reduction management plan, which is reported on above. For the 2019-2020 
year, this requirement has been expanded into a requirement to put in place a 
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Sustainable Development Management Plan, which must be considered and approved 
by the Board of Directors. The aim of the new plan, in line with the national guidance at 
https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/, is to ensure that our impacts are reduced and managed 
to ensure that our activities are as sustainable as possible. This focuses not just on 
environmental impact, but also on ensuring that the Trust’s activities deliver financial and 
social value as well. 

 
99.2. The process to develop the Sustainable Development Management Plan has been 

started by Trust management, and it is expected to be considered by the Board during 
2019. It will be developed in consultation with a wide range of stakeholders, including 
our key healthcare partners, our patients and local communities, and our supply chain 
partners. 

 

 

 
_________________ 
 
Karen James 
Chief Executive  
 
22nd May, 2019 
 

https://www.sduhealth.org.uk/
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Strategic Objectives 2019-2020 
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Statement of Accounting Officer's Responsibilities 

 
Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of 
Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 

The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer 
of the NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including 
their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are 
answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.  

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has 
given Accounts Directions which require Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS 
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on 
the basis required by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and 
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care 
NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses 
and cash flows for the financial year.  

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements 
of the Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:  

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis  

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual) have been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial statements  

 ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated 
authorities and guidance  

 confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and 
stakeholders to assess the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, business model and 
strategy; and 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to 
enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

 

 
 
 
 
_____________________ 

Karen James 
Chief Executive 

22
nd

 May, 2019 
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Annual Governance Statement 
 

1. Scope of responsibility  

1.1. As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 
me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered 
prudently and economically, and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I 
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.  

2. The purpose of the system of internal control  

2.1. The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level, rather 
than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The 
system of internal control is based on an ongoing process, designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Tameside 
and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been 
in place in Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust for the year 
ended 31 March 2019, and up to the date of approval of this Annual Report and 
Accounts.  

3. Capacity to handle risk  

3.1. The effective management of risk, and its reduction where possible, is a key priority at 
all levels of the Foundation Trust. It is a key component of all governance discussions, 
with the Board Assurance Framework and high-level entries on the Corporate Risk 
Register being reviewed and challenged at every meeting of the Board of Directors 
and of Board Committees. The Audit Committee regularly reviews and challenges the 
control systems underlying the management of risk in the Foundation Trust. 

3.2. Operationally, risk management is led by myself and the Executive Directors, who 
have responsibility for the overall management and mitigation of risks within their 
areas of responsibility. I lead the overall Risk Management group for the Foundation 
Trust, which has an operational overview of risk across the Trust to support the Board 
and its Committees. All staff have both the opportunity and expectation of reporting all 
perceived risks within their area of operation, which are then subject to a process of 
review, validation and (if appropriate) scoring and management. Management of risk 
is undertaken at a level appropriate to the potential impact of the risk, including 
departments, divisions and on a cross-Trust basis. Additionally, the Board maintains a 
Board Assurance Framework, reflecting the risks identified to the achievement of the 
Trust’s strategic objectives and how they are managed. 

3.3. Risk management is a key part of the Trust’s training for all staff, to ensure that all 
staff can identify and address risk within their area. Managers receive training 
appropriate to their grade, in order to have an appropriate oversight of risks and their 
management within their area, and to support more junior colleagues. Overall 
responsibility for ensuring that appropriate training and guidance is available sits 
within the Quality and Governance Department, who are also responsible for ensuring 
that reporting to the Board and Board Committees is appropriate and complies with 
the conditions of the NHS Improvement Licence related to risk management. 
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4. The risk and control framework  

4.1. The Trust has adopted a formal risk management strategy, which sets out how the 
Trust will seek to identify, control and manage risk. This strategy recognises that the 
Trust provides services that carry, in some cases, an inherently high level of risk; and 
seeks to manage and mitigate that risk as far as possible. At a corporate level, the 
strategy seeks to identify and manage the risks faced by the Trust in the local, 
regional and national environment, recognising that the Trust operates within a 
national service and within an environment which has significant political interest and 
controversy at all levels. In accordance with the requirements of NHS Resolution, the 
risk management strategy was re-considered, updated and re-adopted by the Board 
during the course of the year 

4.2. The aim of the risk management strategy is to support the Board, Board Committees 
and operational management to identify risk, evaluate its potential effect, and then 
manage that down to a level that is either acceptable or irreducible. The strategy 
recognises that, for some risks, it may not be possible to reduce the risk to a level that 
the Board would regard as acceptable, and therefore recognises that some irreducible 
risk levels must be taken, given the services provided by the Trust. 

4.3. All staff colleagues have a responsibility to identify potential risk within their area of 
responsibility, and to ensure that it is evaluated and controlled. There are 
comprehensive policies and systems in place for the identification and management 
of risks at all levels, within a single framework to ensure that the evaluation of risk is 
consistent and reliable. Risks are managed at the level appropriate to the identified 
impact and likelihood of the risk eventuating, including departmental, divisional and 
cross-Trust structures. Overall responsibility for management of operational risks is 
undertaken by the Risk Management Committee, led by myself, to ensure that there 
is appropriate leadership and accountability for the management of risk. The Board 
and Board Committees are regularly updated on high-rated risks on the operational 
risk register, enabling them to challenge and assess the level of assurance available. 

4.4. The Board also maintains a Board Assurance Framework, which identifies the risks to 
achieving the strategic objectives that have been set by the Board for the Trust. Each 
identified risk is allocated to the oversight of a Board Committee (or occasionally the 
Board itself), and that Committee is responsible for regular challenge to the 
assessment and management of the allocated risks. Details of both the Board 
Assurance Framework, and the higher-rated risks on the operational risk register, are 
reported to each meeting of the Board of Directors for consideration, challenge and 
assessment of available assurance. During the year, the Trust has reviewed and 
revised the way that the Board Assurance Framework is presented to the Board and 
Committees, to enable better understanding of the information presented. 

4.5. The Board recognises that, working in a healthcare environment, many of its day-to-
day activities will carry relatively high risks that are not susceptible to effective 
reduction. This arises from the specialist nature of many medical procedures, and 
also the need to provide care and treatment for individuals who are undergoing acute 
health challenges.  

4.6. Within that context, the Board has adopted an approach to desirable risk (the ‘risk 
appetite’). The assessment of each risk includes an assessment of the risk appetite in 
relation to that risk, which seeks to identify the Trust’s willingness to accept risk in that 
area; and a target score is set, which seeks to express the irreducible minimum risk 
associated with the activity (the point where the decision becomes to accept the risk 
or cease the activity). Each assessment of risk appetite and target risk score is 
reviewed regularly at the appropriate level of governance, with the Board reviewing 
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the assessments for risks on the Board Assurance Framework on a regular basis. The 
Board annually reviews the overall approach to risk appetite, as part of assessing the 
strategic risks following approval of the year’s corporate objectives and key success 
criteria. 

4.7. Ensuring that quality is at the heart of everything that the Trust does for patients is a 
key activity for the Board. This is undertaken in a number of ways; 

4.7.1. At each scheduled meeting, the Board receives a detailed Integrated 
Performance Report, which includes performance data for all significant areas of 
activity. Areas that have failed to achieve the agreed or nationally-set targets are 
subject to exception reporting, which outlines the details of the failures, any 
identified underlying causes, and the steps being taken by management to bring 
performance back to target. The Board has the opportunity to challenge the 
steps proposed, and to require further or different actions to be taken in order to 
address these challenges. 

4.7.2.  
The Board has appointed a Quality and Governance Committee, which is 
responsible to the Board for detailed oversight of management actions to ensure 
the quality of services; and for recommending to the Board strategic actions to 
improve service quality. The Committee meets on a monthly basis, and 
exercises detailed oversight of the quality of services provided by the Trust; 
including reviewing deaths and serious untoward incidents, quality performance 
data, and feedback from patients. The Committee also regularly triangulates its 
findings through scheduled ‘walk-about’ visits to operational areas such as 
wards, in order to ensure that the ‘lived experience’ of providing and receiving 
care is reflected in the information received. The Committee reports both 
findings and recommendations to the Board at each Board meeting following a 
Committee meeting, for consideration and approval. At each scheduled meeting, 
the Board receives an update on serious incidents that are under investigation, 
together with confirmation that the Duty of Candour is being implemented for 
relevant incidents. 
 

4.7.3. The Board has also appointed a Workforce Committee to ensure that there is a 
key focus on ensuring the workforce is sufficient in numbers and skills to provide 
safe and quality care. The Committee regularly reviews performance and future 
strategy on workforce matters, and during the year has updated the strategy 
taking into account the national guidance in Developing Workforce Safeguards. 
The Board regularly reviews information of nursing staffing on a ward basis, 
together with details of new and continuing investigations where staff 
suspensions have been judged necessary. 
 

4.7.4. As part of its responsibility to have oversight of relevant control systems, the 
Audit Committee reviews both the governance systems in place and the various 
data reporting systems: in order to give assurance that they are reliable and 
provide the necessary information, in a timely way, to comply with the Trust’s 
obligations under the NHS Improvement Licence. The Committee is supported 
in this by the Internal Audit service, who undertake arms-length reviews to a 
programme agreed by the Committee: and which indicate both available levels 
of assurance, and actions to increase assurance. Management are required to 
formally respond to the recommendations, and the Audit Committee regularly 
reviews progress to ensure that actions are delivered by management to the 
agreed timetable. 
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4.8. Performance information is subject to regular review, to ensure that it is reliable and 
continues to meet the requirements of the Trust. Performance information produced 
through data systems is regularly triangulated against the ‘lived experience’ of care, 
using qualitative information from sources such as complaints and complements, 
national and local surveys of patients experience (including the ‘Friends and Family’ 
test), and triangulation visits from Directors and senior managers. Mismatches are 
challenged in a variety of forums, and it is a responsibility of the Director of 
Performance to ensure that mismatches are explored to ensure that the data 
reporting systems remain reliable. Performance reporting systems are also subject to 
regular review by both the Internal and External Audit services. 

4.9. Compliance with the Care Quality Commission’s requirements, within the limits set by 
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014, is a 
statutory requirement on the Trust as a provider of healthcare services. The Quality 
and Governance Committee regularly reviews the Trust’s compliance with these 
requirements, including reviewing progress against the action plan agreed by the 
Board following the CQC full inspection in 2016. The three year review plan for 
Internal Audit also includes regular reviews of the controls in place to ensure 
compliance with those requirements, which advise the Board about the levels of 
assurance available. 

4.10. Management of risk to the security of the data held by the Trust, both on patients and 
staff colleagues, is a key activity. Data risks are included within the overall risk 
management process, and regularly reviewed. A comprehensive suite of policies and 
procedures are in place to ensure that data is handled appropriately and with care, 
and these are supported by a comprehensive programme of training for staff. The 
Trust participates in the annual assessment of our compliance through the national 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit (which has replaced the Information Governance 
Toolkit), and our compliance has been reviewed by the Internal Audit service, which 
reported Substantial Assurance in April 2019. 

4.11. Where a data security incident is identified, it will be treated as a serious incident and 
investigated accordingly. All incidents meeting the requirements of the Information 
Commissioner are reported to their office as a matter of course, and that office may 
also choose to investigate independently. During the year, no incidents have required 
reporting to the Information Commissioner, and no concerns have been raised by 
their office. 

4.12. The major risks currently identified by the Board as facing the Trust can be 
summarised as- 

4.12.1. Ensuring sufficient staffing to ensure the safe delivery of services; This is a 
challenge that is common across all provider Trusts, and reflects national and 
international labour supply issues. The risk is managed through a number of 
strategies, including long-term strategies to encourage recruitment and 
retention. However, the wider market supply issues are beyond the control of 
the Trust, lying with other agencies both within the NHS and in the wider public 
sector. 

4.12.2. Financial stability; The Trust continues to be unable to meet necessary 
expenditure with the available income for healthcare services, and is dependent 
on being able to access loan support from the Department of Health. Given the 
size of the loans and the continuing inadequacy of income to repay them, the 
Board has identified a material uncertainty in making the Going Concern 
statement. The Trust has continued to have challenging efficiency targets which 
were met in 2017-18, and continues to meet the financial targets set by the 
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Board. Then sections below outline how the Board is addressing the short and 
medium-term challenges. 

4.12.3. Working with partners; The Trust seeks to operate in close partnership with 
statutory partners in the Tameside and Glossop local health economy: and 
particularly with the Clinical Commissioning Group and Tameside Council, who 
are operating with a single leadership team through the Strategic Commissioner 
arrangements. Whilst there is good partnership, some agencies have 
challenges that impact on the work of the Trust and the delivery of our statutory 
responsibilities. More widely, the Trust is located within the Greater Manchester 
region, and may be affected by the development of policy at the regional level. 
The Trust has welcomed the publication of the NHS Long-Term Plan during the 
course of the year, which has set out a national direction of travel consistent 
with the strategy that the Trust has adopted over the last few years. 

 
4.13. The Board particularly recognises the risk related to financial stability, which is 

outlined above. Our work to mitigate and manage this risk includes close working in 
partnership with both the local health economy, including the relevant local authorities 
in Tameside and Derbyshire; and also continuing to deliver an effective and 
challenging programme of efficiency savings, through the Trust Efficiency Programme 
(TEP). We have also reached agreement with the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) on future service strategy and commission intentions for the medium-term. As 
part of the financial settlement in 2019-2020, the Trust is required to have prepared 
an acceptable plan to return to breaking even on a continuing basis, which is to be 
agreed with NHS Improvement by the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
 

4.14. In the Tameside area, we are joining with our partners (the CCG and Tameside MBC) 
to undertake the ‘Care Together’ programme with the aim of both improving the 
services provided and delivering them in a more efficient way, to the benefit of all 
three public services. Care Together also has local delivery of the Greater Manchester 
regional efficiency plans, under the GM Health and Social Care arrangements. 

 
4.15. The TEP has been developed to ensure that the Trust continues to improve its 

efficiency, whilst maintaining high standards of patient care and experience. It is 
informed by the Model Hospital research, which has identified areas where the Trust 
can seek to improve processes and thereby reduce expenditure. During 2018-2019, 
the TEP programme delivered £12.569 million in efficiencies, of which £8.16 million 
were recurrent. The Trust has agreed a further challenging TEP programme for 2019-
2020, recognising that delivery of substantial and recurrent efficiencies are required to 
improve the financial stability of the Trust. 

4.16. During the course of the year, the Trust has undertaken work to assess its 
performance against the  ‘Is [the Trust] well-led?’ domain of the CQC inspection 
process, and the related provisions put in place by NHS Improvement related to 
appropriate governance in a Foundation Trust. This has included reviews at Board, 
Committee, Executive and Divisional level of good practice and areas for 
improvement, which has let to learning and change to improve performance. 
Additionally, the Internal Audit service were requested to undertake an in-depth review 
of the effectiveness of the Committee structure in supporting the Board to effectively 
govern the Trust. The Board has discussed the emergent findings of that review, and 
when a formal report is received will be seeking to develop actions to improve based 
on the findings. For 2019-2020, the Board has commissioned an externally-led Board 
Development programme from Deloitte. 

4.17. As a regular part of their statutory inspection process undertaken in March and April 
2019, the CQC reviewed and inspected against the ‘Is [the Trust] well-led?’. At the 
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date of writing this Annual Governance Statement, the report of that inspection was 
not available, and the details will be addressed in the Annual Governance Statement 
for 2019-2020. 

4.18. Under the NHS Improvement (Monitor) Licence granted to the Trust, the Trust has 
obligations (set out in Licence Condition FT4) to ensure that it has appropriate and 
effective systems of governance in place. The Trust is obliged, at least annually, to 
review the systems of governance in place, identify the key risks to their effectiveness 
and the mitigations of those risks, and make a declaration to NHS Improvement 
regarding whether or not the Trust is compliant with the requirements. During the 
course of the year, the Board requested that the Internal Audit service undertake a full 
review of the effectiveness of the Committee structure supporting the Board; the 
outcomes and actions of this are as noted in 4.17 above. 

4.19. The Board considered the provisions of Condition FT4, the risks to its achievement, 
and the available mitigations, at its meeting in May 2019. This review took into 
account that the Trust is subject to Enforcement Undertakings, based on identified 
failings to comply with the requirements of the Licence. The Board identified the 
following as the principal risks to compliance with these requirements; 

Key risk Mitigation 

Ensuring that the Trust is 
a going concern 
(FT4.4(d)) 

Careful and detailed financial planning 
Working in partnership arrangements within the locality (Care 
Together) and regionally (Greater Manchester) 
Continuing open dialogue with Commissioners on future 
direction 
Challenging efficiency schemes based on Model Hospital 
learning 
Close management and Board monitoring of performance 
against plans 

Delivery of agreed 
business plans (FT4.4(g)) 

Detailed management structures to review progress and hold 
to account 
Detailed monthly reporting to governance through the 
Finance and Performance Committee 
Reserve plans for Financial Recovery Board arrangements if 
performance does not match agreed plans 
Regular performance updates to regulators 

Delivery of high-quality 
care within a challenging 
financial environment 
(FT4.5) 

Quality Assurance mechanisms for efficiency schemes 
Involvement of Medical Director and Chief Nurse in financial 
management discussions and setting of financial plans 
Involvement of clinical colleagues in the development and 
delivery of individual efficiency schemes 

 

4.20. The Board continues to exercise clear oversight of the activities of the Trust, receiving 
detailed reporting on performance, risk and finance at each scheduled meeting. In 
accordance with the need to promote transparency in the public service, all matters 
are considered by the Board in public, unless to do so would be prejudicial to the 
public interest. The Board is supported by a comprehensive Committee system, which 
undertakes detailed review of performance and challenges within their areas of 
responsibility; and by the work of the Executive team and senior management 
reporting to them. 
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4.21. The Board annually reviews and approves a Risk Management Strategy and Policy, in 
accordance with the requirements of NHS Resolution. This sets out the high-level 
approach to the recognition, management and mitigation of risk in the Trust, and the 
relevant reporting arrangements. The Board Assurance Framework, recognising the 
key strategic risks faced by the Trust, is reviewed at every scheduled meeting by the 
Board, supported by detailed review of risks within their area by Board Committees. 
Operational risks are actively managed by the Executive Directors, through the Risk 
Management Committee that reports directly to the Quality and Governance 
Committee. 

4.22. During the year, the Board has undertaken a Well-Led review in accordance with the 
guidance of NHS Improvement. This review, which NHS Improvement requires to be 
undertaken at least every three years, is intended to ensure that the governance and 
leadership of the Trust is appropriate, and identify how the Board, supporting groups 
and management can improve their performance in leading the Trust. The Board has 
undertaken a detailed self-assessment process, supported by the internal audit 
service (Merseyside Internal Audit Agency), who have undertaken both support for 
self-assessment and a review of the effectiveness of the Board’s Committee structure 
as referenced in 4.17 above. 

4.23. Given that the Trust would be subject to a formal well-led inspection by the Care 
Quality Commission during the course of the year, NHS Improvement agreed that this 
would stand as the external review required under the national guidance. Following 
receipt of the inspection report from the CQC, the Board will construct and implement 
an action plan for improvement; the well-led section of which will stand as the action 
plan as a result of the work under the NHS Improvement guidance. 

4.24. The Corporate Governance statement, and the judgements made by the Board in 
agreeing it, have been supported through a number of channels- 

4.24.1. The Directors are intimately involved in the governance of the Trust through 
their work at the Board, and also as members of the Board’s Committees. In 
reaching a conclusion on the judgements in the statement, they brought these 
experiences to bear, particularly those of the Non-Executive Directors who have 
a particular responsibility for providing challenge to proposals brought forward. 

4.24.2. As part of their regular programme of work, the Internal Audit service has 
reviewed the effectiveness of the governance systems in place, and has 
reported to myself and the Audit Committee. These findings have formed part of 
the evidence base that informed the judgements reached by the Board. 

4.24.3. During the course of the year, the Board has undertaken a Developmental Well-
Led review, which all Foundation Trusts are required to undertake on a 3-year 
basis. The process was supported by external reviews by the internal audit 
service, which have reported to me and the Audit Committee both levels of 
assurance and recommendations for improvement. The Board has accepted, 
and started to implement, the recommended changes. 

4.24.4. The Board is responsible to the Council of Governors, and has benefited from 
frank feedback and sometimes challenge from Governors about the way that it 
has sought to discharge its duties. Governors have regularly attended the public 
sessions of the Board’s meetings, and also meetings of the Boards Committees. 

4.25. Through these mechanisms, the Board has gained reasonable assurance that the 
Corporate Governance Statement is a fair representation of the governance position 
of the Trust at the date it was agreed. The Board has recognised that those factors 
identified by NHS Improvement, in the Enforcement Undertakings, as breaches of the 
Licence represent the key risks to compliance until those undertakings are 
discharged, as reflected in the risks described at 4.19 above. 
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4.26. The Trust recognises that it is vital to ensure that risk management is embedded 
throughout the Trust. There are a range of systems and procedures in place that 
support this embedding, including- 

4.26.1. The Trust continues to encourage all staff, at all levels, to identify and report 
incidents, including ‘near misses’. There is a comprehensive system in place to 
enable colleagues to report incidents, supported by dedicated resource that 
reviews all reports and identifies the appropriate level for response. Learning 
from incidents is a key part of the process, and each colleague who reports an 
incident is entitled to a response that identifies both the response of the Trust 
and how learning will be taken to prevent recurrence of that type of incident. 
During the course of the year, the Trust has identified the need to improve the 
feedback to individuals and has worked to make this more effective. 

4.26.2. Similarly, there are systems in place to enable risk at all levels to be identified, 
from the ‘shop floor’ to the Board of Directors. Risks are regularly reviewed at 
the appropriate level: with the management-level Risk Management Committee, 
led by myself, meeting quarterly to provide oversight. Each Board Committee 
has responsibility for review and assessing available levels of assurance for 
risks within its area of responsibility, and the Board regularly reviews both the 
Board Assurance Framework and the high-rated risks on the Corporate Risk 
Register. 

4.26.3. Each death of a patient under the care of the Trust is subject to a full mortality 
review, with the aim of identifying and sharing learning; this may be either good 
practice, or areas for development. There are established systems to ensure 
that this learning is shared and embedded across the care that the Trust 
provides. 

4.26.4. The development of all projects are subject to an analysis of the risks that will 
be involved, which may include clinical, financial, reputational or other types of 
risk. Part of the process of developing an acceptable business care for a project 
includes both the identification of these risks, and also the ways in which they 
can be mitigated or managed; clear identification of the irreducible level of risk; 
and identification of the risk appetite to measure that irreducible risk against, in 
terms of determining whether to proceed with the project. All significant projects, 
and all projects which will have impacts on clinical staffing, are subject to the 
Medical Director and the Chief Nurse confirming in writing that they are satisfied 
that there are not unacceptable risks to patient care as a result. 
 

4.27. The Trust involves its public stakeholders in the management of risks in a number of 
ways. Many of the risks are being managed in association with the partners in the 
local health economy, which includes the elected members of Tameside Council, High 
Peak Borough Council and Derbyshire County Council. With those partners, we 
participate in the Tameside engagement forum; designed to enable all of the partners 
to engage the public on all developments in a joined-up way, and enabling that public 
consideration to be holistic. This does not replace the statutory requirements on 
consultation that apply for some areas, but is intended to complement and assist the 
development of policy, particularly taking into account the Trust’s obligations under 
Section 242 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Recognising that the Tameside 
arrangements do not directly apply to all services in the Glossop area, we also seek 
opportunities to engage with the public in that area, together with engagement with 
the two Local Authorities with responsibility for the area. 

4.28. The Trust also benefits from the input of its public Governors, who are elected by the 
local community to represent their views to the Trust. Public Governors are able to 
share the views of their communities with the Trust through a variety of formal and 
informal routes, which will then feed into the Trust’s governance processes. The Trust 
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continues to work with its system partners to ensure that Governors have access to 
their communities in order to obtain their views on matters of mutual interest 
concerning the Trust. 

4.29. The Trust is proud of the care and services it delivers. At the centre of this important 
work are the staff who support patients and service users from hospital wards to their 
own homes. Recent reports have highlighted the continuing challenges facing the 
supply and retention of the NHS’s workforce. Demand for healthcare staff continues to 
exceed supply, despite increases. The Trust have risen to this challenge. We have 
progressed and developed flexible approaches to roles, improving efficiencies. 
Innovative ways of working have been introduced to achieve this, alongside new roles 
and development of existing ones. This is a challenging time, but one that brings 
significant opportunities for workforce development.  

4.30. However, we recognise that these ongoing pressures require the Board to make 
decisions to ensure services achieve best outcomes at a time of financial challenge. 
The Board must ensure that this does not have an adverse impact on the quality of 
care, as well as patient, service user and staff experience.  

4.31. The Trust has adopted a number of controls to ensure that it is able to do so. 

4.32. We have workforce governance systems in place. Reflecting national guidance and 
expectations, the Trust has utilised the NHSI Workforce Safeguards to ensure we use 
best practice in effective staff deployment and workforce planning.  

4.33. The Trust is using the advice in the safeguards to consider continuously governance 
issues related to redesigning roles and responding to unplanned changes in 
workforce, and they are used in assessing the effectiveness of workforce safeguards 
annually. A position summary of these is stated below  

4.34. On a daily basis, the operational teams review the staffing in services for the Trust, in 
conjunction with expected levels of demand and other factors, in order to ensure that 
there are sufficient staff to provide a safe and effective service. Key Workforce 
assurance markers are considered and discussed at Executive Management Team 
each week. There are appropriate procedures and controls in place to ensure that, 
where required, additional staff can be sourced in the short-term, whilst ensuring that 
there is appropriate senior management or Director authorisation. Staffing levels for 
each area in the Trust are set as part of the annual planning process, for both the 
number of staff and the required skills mix (the establishment). These are subject to 
regular review through the Trust’s management and governance processes, and if 
required establishment adjustments and proposals are considered and quality impact 
assessed to ensure the quality and safety of provision. 

4.35. The Board has a Workforce subcommittee of the Board chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director and the Board receives a regular ‘safe staffing’ report at each scheduled 
public Board meeting, in line with the national guidance; and this is subject of more 
detailed reviews through the Board’s Committees. This report is now being expanded 
beyond the staffing coverage for nursing and midwifery staff, in line with the guidance 
from the National Quality Board. Recruitment of staff, particularly in the nursing and 
midwifery area, is undertaken within an overarching framework agreed across Greater 
Manchester.  

4.36. The Trust is currently developing its longer term Workforce Strategy, which is intended 
to set out a road-map to ensure that we can a workforce to meet our obligations. 
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4.37. The Trust is expected to comply with the recommendations in Developing Workforce 
Safeguards, published by NHS Improvement. The Trust’s actions to comply with these 
recommendations are- 

Effective workforce planning The Trust has set an establishment as part of the 
annual planning process, taking into account the 
factors mentioned in Developing Workforce 
Safeguards. This will be subject to an in-year review by 
the Workforce Committee in the Autumn of 2019.  

The Trust anticipates the formulation and submission of 
a workforce plan in the second half of 2019, following 
the national publication of the key assumptions by the 
national review. 

The Trust seeks to minimise the use of agency staff, 
and has appropriate control systems in place to ensure 
that agency use is subject to appropriate scrutiny. 
The Trust has spent significantly less during the 2018-
2019 year than the agency ‘cap’ set by NHS 
Improvement. 

Deploying Staff Effectively The Board continues to maintain a strategic focus on 
ensuring that we have a workforce that can deliver 
quality of care, together with oversight of delivery. 

A Workforce Dashboard has been developed, to enable 
the Workforce Committee to review performance and 
plans in detail 

The reporting and planning arrangements in place seek 
to triangulate staffing against a number of other factors, 
including the quality of care and financial impacts 

There is a clear allocation of time to ensure that the 
Board reviews, discussed and actions for change 
agreed. 

Responding to challenges There are standard procedures and controls in place to 
enable immediate challenges to be addressed 
appropriately. 

The Executive team reviews agency use and areas of 
challenge on a weekly basis. 

The Board, and its Committees, regularly review the 
‘safe staffing’ report and the underlying data, in a 
holistic way against other available data 

 

4.38. The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care 
Quality Commission.  

4.39. The Foundation Trust has published an up-to-date register of interests for decision-
making staff within the past twelve months, as required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of 
Interest in the NHS’ guidance.  
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4.40. As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
Scheme Regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance 
with the Scheme rules; and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately 
updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  

4.41. Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  

4.42. The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments, and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place, in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with.  

5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources  

5.1. I and the Trust recognise that Parliament has set out a requirement for the Trust to 
ensure that the services that are provided have due regard to the economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the use of public resources. The Trust undertakes a number of 
activities to seek to ensure the Trust’s activities deliver all three of these requirements, 
each of which Parliament has given an equal weighting. 

5.2. Ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the Trust complies with this legal duty lies with 
the Board of Directors, through setting the strategic direction of the Trust, together 
with monitoring and oversight of performance. This work is supported by the Board’s 
Committees, which look more closely at both performance and strategic direction and 
provide advice and recommendation to the Board. In particular, the Finance 
Committee has a close oversight of the Trust’s efficiency plans which closely support 
the delivery of these responsibilities. The Quality and Governance Committee 
oversees the quality impacts, which impacts on the efficiency and effectiveness of 
delivery of services: both preventive of illness and treating illness when it arises. 

5.3. The Trust’s executive leadership is also aware of the need to ensure that the provision 
of services meet these requirements. When considering service developments, 
consideration is given to how the proposals will impact on these requirements, both 
when proposals are being developed and considered through governance for 
approval. In line with regulatory requirements, efficiency is recognised through the 
need for quality impact approval from the Medical Director and the Chief Nurse for all 
significant projects. When reviewing implementation, consideration is given to how 
well the project or development has advanced these requirements, and where further 
improvements might give better achievement of them. 

5.4. The Trust maintains an internal audit service, part of whose remit is to review the 
delivery of economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the various reviews they 
undertake during the year. The Internal Audit service is formally accountable to me as 
the Accounting Officer, but operationally reports to the Audit Committee; and has 
direct access to both myself and the Audit Committee (through its Chair)  whenever 
opportunity requires. Details of the work of the Internal Audit service are provided in 
the Annual Report. 

5.5. As part of their annual work, and in accordance with the requirements set out by HM 
Treasury and NHS Improvement (Monitor), the external auditors review and express 
an opinion on compliance with the duty to provide services that are economic, efficient 
and effective. This opinion is made available to the Audit Committee in draft, and is 
formally given to NHS Improvement. For 2018-2019, the external auditors are 
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reporting that the Trust had adequate arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness, except in relation to achieving a break-even position in the 
foreseeable future or repay the loans from the Department of Health and Social Care. 

6. Information governance  

6.1. During the year, there were no serious incidents related to information governance 
identified. 

7. Annual Quality Report  

7.1. The Directors are required, under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended), to prepare Quality 
Accounts for each financial year. NHS Improvement (in exercise of the powers 
conferred on Monitor) has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust Boards on the 
form and content of annual Quality Reports, which incorporate the above legal 
requirements, in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.  

7.2. The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Quality Report presents a 
balanced view of the Trust’s performance, reporting areas of less good practice as 
well as those evidencing good practice. The following control procedures have been 
put into place in order to support the Board in ensuring this-  

7.2.1. Prior to consideration by the Board, the draft Quality Report is considered in 
detail by both the Quality and Governance Committee, and the Audit 
Committee. Both Committees give detailed consideration to the contents of the 
report, and advise the Board if there are areas of concern related to the balance 
of the content. 

7.2.2. The Board has been clear that it requires to have early sight of both the Annual 
Report and the Quality Report, in order both to identify areas where additional 
assurance is required for the statements proposed, and to ensure that they fully 
reflect the views of the Board on both positive and negative factors, providing 
overall a balanced and fair view of performance during the course of the year. 
For 2018-2019, formal consideration of drafts of the Annual Report, Annual 
Governance Statement and Quality Report were undertaken at the relevant 
Committees during April 2019, supporting final discussion at Audit Committee 
and Board in May 2019. 

7.2.3. Various operational systems underlying the Quality Report will be subject to 
review by the Internal Auditors, as part of their regular work, during the course of 
the year. These reviews are reported to the Audit Committee, and inform their 
assessment of the Report when they report assurance to the Board. 

7.2.4. In accordance with the statutory requirements, the Quality Report is subject to 
pre-publication review by three consultees- Tameside and Glossop CCG, the 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee of Tameside Council, and 
HealthWatch Tameside.  
 

7.3. The Trust has a clear policy process in place, to ensure that the care provided to 
patients is safe and to the highest standards. It is important, in this context, to keep in 
mind that the general approach is that policies should normally be followed; but that it 
is recognised that, in some circumstances, the professional judgement of clinical 
colleagues will justify a departure from policy in the individual case and for the best 
interests of the patient. Policies are subject to a formal process of development, 
approval and regular review, to ensure that they continue to reflect best practice. In 
respect of each patient, the policy is to provide a care plan that responds to the 
individual needs of the patient, with a view to ensuring that they are cared for in a way 
that minimises the period and impact of their condition. In appropriate cases, plans 
will be prepared on a multi-disciplinary basis, including colleagues from other 
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agencies, in order to ensure that all relevant conditions are taken into account and 
that care is planned across agencies. 

7.4. Having access to colleagues with the necessary skills and experience is also crucial 
in order to ensure that patient care is provided in a safe and appropriate manner. The 
Board, supported by the Workforce Committee, regularly reviews the level of staffing 
available in the various areas of the Trust: in respect of nursing and midwifery staff, 
this is prepared in accordance with the guidance of the National Quality Board and 
NHS Improvement, and against local standards for medical and other staff. The Trust 
has also put into place workforce plans, taking into account anticipated acuity and 
demand levels, with the aim of ensuring that staff with the appropriate skills and 
experience are available when required. The Board has also sought to minimise the 
usage of agency staff, taking into account the national policy: and this is reviewed by 
the full Board at each scheduled meeting. 

7.5. The Trust recognises the importance of having effective data collection and analysis, 
in order to understand the operation of the services and enable the Board to 
effectively judge what actions are needed to improve performance. The Trust has in 
place a number of systems for the collection of data regarding the operation of 
services, and these are automated where possible in order to reduce the possibility of 
human error. The Executive team receives every week a full suite of performance 
data from across the Trust, which is reviewed to identify any areas which are starting 
to be a concern and take immediate action to address them. The Board and its 
Committees review a more selective set of data, which enables them to focus on the 
key areas of strategic performance, together with exception reporting to identify the 
underlying cause of underperformance and the steps being taken to bring 
performance back to the required standard.  

7.6. During the year, the Trust has completed the implementation and rollout of the EMIS 
web system across community services. The Trust took over provision of Community 
services in April 2016 which included inheriting a legacy information system requiring 
replacement due to the licence expiry and the system being no longer supported. In 
undertaking this implementation the Trust reviewed the business processes for all 
clinical services using the system and the associated data capture to ensure the 
quality and robust data collection and information provision.  Whilst undertaking this 
the Trust has not been able to report on the full range of metrics for the year and is 
currently compiling data which will act as a baseline position for activity and 
performance. The provision of accurate and timely data on the performance of these 
services is now being provided and the Trust anticipates that these systems will 
provide for appropriate reporting during 2018-2019. 

7.7. The Trust has developed its capability for RTT monitoring and reporting using its data 
warehouse and bespoke reporting tool, based on national RTT guidance, to ensure 
that it is able to maintain compliance with the requirements. The data used to 
generate these reports is subject to rigorous, and routine, validation. 

8. Review of effectiveness  

8.1. As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit, and the 
executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust, who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. 
I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report attached to this annual report, and 
other performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other 
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reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit Committee and 
other Board Committees; and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.  

8.2. The Board continues to recognise the importance of having effective internal control 
systems, for both financial and clinical systems. Our aim is to ensure that we have the 
necessary systems and controls in place to give reasonable assurance regarding the 
quality, efficiency and effectiveness of the Trust’s services. 

8.3. The systems of internal control are under continuous review, in order to ensure that 
they continue to meet the requirements of the Trust and appropriate standards for the 
management of public funds. During the year, the Board approved further changes to 
the Standing Financial Instructions, with the intent of increasing the seniority of 
authorisation required for spend at a given level, reflecting a current need to increase 
the overall level of control applied in the Trust. 

8.4. The Board has overall responsibility for the operation of the Trust, the effectiveness of 
the systems of internal control, and for ensuring that public funds are used 
responsibility in the provision of services. Supported by the Board Committees, the 
Board regularly reviews performance, both financial and operational, to ensure that 
the agreed plans are progressing as envisaged and that there is reasonable 
assurance that the targets set by the Board will be met. It also reviews issues such as 
patient experience, recognising that part of the control environment for an NHS 
provider is to ensure that patients receive the best available care and service whilst 
with the Trust. 

8.5. The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for oversight of the controls systems 
for the Trust, including financial and governance, and for advising the Board as to the 
available levels of assurance. It is supported in this work by the internal and external 
audit providers, the Local Counter-Fraud Service (LCFS), and work undertaken by 
other Committees (as discussed below). Key functions that it undertakes which 
enable it to judge the amount of available assurance include- 

8.5.1. The regular reports of the Internal Audit service, which provide specific advice 
on the level of assurance available in relation to the area reviewed. These also 
enable the Audit Committee to review management’s response and proposed 
actions to the review’s findings, and to form a view about the level of assurance 
those responses provide 

8.5.2. Advice from both the internal and external audit providers on the environment in 
which the Trust is operating 

8.5.3. The work of the LCFS which provides evidence for the Committee to judge the 
available assurance for systems to detect and prevent fraud and 
misappropriation on the public funds made available to the Trust 

8.5.4. Regular review of the main documentation related to the Trust’s control 
systems- this will usually cover the Standing Financial Instructions, the 
Schedule of Delegations, and the Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board of 
Directors (for decision). 
 

8.6. As indicated in the detailed section of the Annual Report, the Committee has met 
regularly through the year and has provided positive assurance to the Board from its 
work. 

8.7. The Quality and Governance Committee operates to provide assurance to the Board 
about, inter alia, the systems of control in place to ensure that the quality of patient 
care and experience is as high as possible. The Quality and Governance Committee 
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regularly reviews information related to the effectiveness of the control systems, 
including reports about serious incidents, patient experience, and complaints related 
to services. It also reviews a range of external reporting, including from HM Coroner, 
professional bodies, and professional regulators such as the General Medical Council 
and the Nursing & Midwifery Council. In its work through the course of the year, and in 
particular when reviewing the draft Quality Report for the Trust, the Committee is able 
to assess and report to the Board on the levels of assurance available, and areas for 
further consideration or development. 

8.8. The Quality and Governance Committee also has oversight on behalf of the Board of 
clinical audit activities, which form an important part of the Trust’s work. A plan for 
clinical audits is agreed at the start of every year, and progress is monitored through 
the course of the year to ensure that the work plan is being appropriately prosecuted. 
The majority of the programme reflects national audit programmes and similar, which 
the Trust is expected to participate in, and details of which are provided in the Quality 
Report. The Trust does seek to ensure that it obtains learning and implements change 
as a result of the work of clinical audit, and the Quality and Governance Committee is 
responsible for assessing the assurance available and reporting to the Board. 

8.9. The Trust retains an internal audit service provided by an external provider, Mersey 
Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) MIAA is an internal NHS service, provided by a 
partnership of Trusts. The service is provided in accordance with the relevant national 
standards, and the Head of Internal Audit has direct access to both the Audit 
Committee and myself as the Accounting Officer. MIAA undertakes a planned 
programme of reviews across various areas of the Trust, within the context of a three-
year framework. That framework is regularly reviewed in ensure that areas for review 
are selected based on perceived risk and that all relevant areas are covered in the 
review period. The detailed annual plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit 
Committee. 

8.10. MIAA’s individual reviews are undertaken on an arm’s-length basis from the Trust’s 
management, and are reported to the Audit Committee with an assessment of the 
overall assurance available, actions that are recommended to improve the control 
environment, and an assessment of the risk levels related to those actions. The 
reports are accompanied by a statement by Trust management, setting out how they 
intend to address the report and detailed actions to be taken to improve the control 
environment. The Audit Committee is authorised to review the reports, and where 
concerned regarding the response of management may require further action or 
report to the Board. Agreed actions are monitored in a co-operative process between 
MIAA and the Governance Department; and progress reported to the Committee at 
least every six months. For the 2018-2019 year, the Head of Internal Audit reported to 
the Audit Committee that there was Substantial Assurance available that that there 
was a good system of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls were generally being applied consistently. 
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9. Conclusion  

9.1. No significant internal control issues arose during the year ended 31st March, 2019; 
or in the period from then to the date of the making of this statement. 

 

________________ 

Karen James 
Chief Executive 

 

22nd May, 2019 
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Chief Executive’s Overview 

I am pleased to present our Annual Quality Account for 2018/19. I hope you will be 
able to recognise in this document the work that the organisation continues to do in 
order to provide high quality patient centred care which is safe, effective and 
personalised.  

This year we have really started to see and demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
changes we have implemented to operate more effectively, especially in the work to 
minimise and reduce admissions with the aid of technology and our Digital Health 
Service whilst with our community teams we are able to ensure effective and timelier 
discharge. This work enables the clinical teams to ensure those that need admitting 
to a hospital bed can do so in a more timely fashion and wherever possible ensure 
that this is to the most appropriate speciality. 

I need to recognise again and thank publically the staff for their continued hard work, 
dedication and resilience during periods of service change, transition and high 
demand. It is through them and their daily commitment to patient care, service 
provision and improvement that the Trust achieves the successes we can recognise 
in this report. This recognition also includes the ongoing support from our local 
health and social care partners as our joint working has strengthened further this 
year to ensure closer integration and more seamless service provision in the 
community and across the five Neighbourhoods.  

In 2018 the Board approved the strategic plan – “Patient Care to Population health”. 
This clearly sets out our direction as an Integrated Care Organisation and sets the 
framework for how we aim to achieve this. In January 2019 the NHS launched its 
revised long term plan. Our strategic plan is well aligned to the requirements of the 
national plan which means the Trust and Health Economy are well placed to deliver 
on these requirements to ensure with our partners we can effectively deliver of the 
Health and Social Care to the population of Tameside and Glossop.  

Whilst the organisation lives and breathes these changes this publication can only 
be a snapshot of some of what is being done; I hope you will see evidence of the 
outcomes of our improvements which have been recognised by our regulators, 
service users and others.  I hope that you find our latest Annual Quality Account 
informative. 

I remain confident that the continued enthusiasm and determination of our staff will 
drive forward our improvement and transformation programme and enable us to 
continue to provide services which we can all be proud of. 

I believe this publication is an accurate reflection of our performance against our 
quality indicators. We remain committed to continuous improvement and the use of 
innovative practice and welcome your feedback. To provide us your comments, or to 
request the Account in different languages or formats, please use any of the contact 
details on the rear cover of the report. 

Karen James 

Chief Executive   Date          May 2019
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Priorities for Improvement and 
Statement of Assurance from the 

Board

Tameside and Glossop Integrated 
Care NHS Foundation Trust 
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Statement of Assurance from the Board 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust operates from 

Tameside General Hospital in Ashton-under-Lyne, providing a range of acute 

hospital and community services for a population of approximately 250,000 people 

living in the surrounding area. 

The Trust became a Foundation Trust in February 2008 and in 2018/19 employed 

around 3800 staff, across a range of professions.  

Review of Services 

During 2018/19 the Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 

provided and/or sub-contracted 8 relevant health services (defined using the Care 

Quality Commission’s regulated activities). 

The services provided were: 

• Treatment of disease, disorder or injury 
• Diagnostic and screening procedures 
• Family planning services 
• Maternity and Midwifery services 
• Surgical procedures 
• Termination of pregnancies 
• Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental 

Health Act 1983 
• Transport services, triage and medical advice provided remotely  

The Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all 

the data available to them on the quality of care in all 8 of these relevant health 

services. The data the Trust has reviewed covers the three dimensions of quality 

patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience where necessary. Where 

appropriate the Trust has indicated where the amount of data for review has 

impeded this objective. The Trust systematically and continuously reviews data 

related to the Quality of its services.  The Trust uses its Quality, Safety and 

Performance metrics to demonstrate this. Reports to the Trust Board, the Trust’s 

Quality and Governance Committee, Trust Executive Team and other key 

committees and the Performance Management Framework all include data and 

information relating to our quality of services. The Tameside and Glossop Integrated 

Care NHS Foundation Trust have reviewed all the data available on the quality of 

care in all of these NHS Services. 

The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2018/19 

represents value 90% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant 

health services by the Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation 

Trust for 2018/19. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust provides a wide 

array of services which are set out below across the hospital and community settings 

in Tameside and Glossop.  
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Hospital Services  

The ICFT provides local hospital services for the Tameside and Glossop population 

on the Tameside General Hospital site. 

Community Services  

The Trust also provides community services from a range of premises within the 
Tameside and Glossop locality and in some cases in people’s homes. 

During 2018/19 the Trust has continued to review and transform it service provision 

towards implementing a fully integrated model of care to more consistently enable 

delivery of seamless service provision across hospital and community settings. This 

ambition aims to provide the right care, at the right time, in the right place by the 

right person. In doing so we believe that the capacity and capability of services can 

be maximised whilst maintain the Fundamental standards of Quality and Safety. 

ADULT SERVICES

•Medical inpatients

•Surgery 

•Surgical Specialties

•Orthopaedics

•Cardiology

•Respiratory

•Geriatric Medicine

•Stroke Rehabilitation

•Outpatients

•Gynaecology

•Critical Care

•Maternity Service

CHILDRENS 
SERVICES

•Medical 
Inpatients

•Surgery Day Case

•Observation and 
Assessment

•Neonatal Care

•Outpatients

URGENT CARE

•Accident and 
Emergency

•Medical 
Admissions

•Ambulatory Care

DIAGNOSTICS

•Pharmacy

•Radiology

•Pathology

ADULT SERVICES

•District Nursing

•Extensive Care

•Diabetes and 
Vascular care

•Intermediate Care

•Dietetics 

•Learning Disability 
services

•Palliative Care

•Continence

•Community 
Midwifery

CHILDRENS 
SERVICES

•Health Visiting 
Services

•School Nursing

•Childrens Health

•Infant Feeding

•Integrated 
Services for 
Children

•Childrens 
Community 
Nursing

URGENT CARE

•Integrated Urgent 
Care Team (IUCT)

•Re-ablement

•Transfer Team

•Digital Health

Therapy Services

•Physiotherapy

•Occupational 
Therapy

•Speech and 
Language Therapy

•Podiatry

•Orthoptics

•Language 
Interpretation 
service (LIPs)
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How Quality Initiatives are prioritised at the Trust 

Quality improvements and initiatives are considered in the context of the key 

requirements identified within National and Local Priorities, and informed by the 

Commissioning and regulatory requirements.  

The continuous improvement of clinical quality continues to be further incentivised 

through the contracting mechanism which includes quality schedules, penalties and 

CQUIN payments.  

NHS England and regulation frameworks highlight the focus on quality, and are 

linked to the NHS Mandate and Constitution. The Trust continues to work with its 

key partners (Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group and Tameside 

Metropolitan Borough Council) to ensure alignment of our quality aims and to 

maximise the potential delivery through these mechanisms. 

These have informed our improvement programme which has been agreed with key 

stakeholders to ensure delivery of the fundamental standards of Quality and Safety 

whilst also undertaking service improvement, service transformation as well as 

ensuring cost effective service provision which is aligned to the Trust Strategy. 

Our Vision  

The Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust vision is to 

improve health outcomes for our population and influence the wider determinants of 

health, through collaboration with the people of Tameside and Glossop and our 

health and care partners. 

Our Aims 

To deliver this vision our aims are to: 

• Support local people to remain well by tackling the causes of ill health, 
supporting behaviour and lifestyle change, and maximising the role played by 
local communities to enable people to take greater control over their own care 
needs and the services they receive.  

• When illness or crisis occur, provide high quality integrated services that are 
designed around the needs of the individual and are provided in the most 
appropriate setting, including in people’s own homes. 

• Develop and retain a workforce that is fit for the future needs of the 
organisation; reward talent; and instil pride in the workforce which 
demonstrates our values and behaviours and has the skill and ambition for 
continuous improvement 

• Work with partners to innovate, transform and integrate care provision in 
Tameside and Glossop and in doing so contribute to the delivery of financial 
sustainability 

The Strategy in Graphic form is on the page below 
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Delivering the Strategy 

The Trust acknowledges that delivering the ambitions set out will require clear 

vision, strong leadership and a transparent implementation plan focussed on 

delivery of transformational and national priorities and improved outcomes for our 

population along with continuous quality Improvement. 

NHS England and regulation frameworks highlight the focus on quality, and are 

linked to the NHS Mandate and Constitution. The continuous improvement of clinical 

quality continues to be further incentivised through the contracting mechanism which 

includes quality schedules, penalties and CQUIN payments.  

We have worked with key partners Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning 

Group and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council to align our quality aims and to 

maximise the potential delivery through these mechanisms.  

The Trust therefore believes it is well placed to deliver the 10 Year Plan and our 

Integrated Care Trust objectives are the agreed vehicle to deliver this fundamental 

change to the way health and social care is provided within Tameside and Glossop.  

We with our partners are delivering more integrated models which continue to 

expand and evolve (and which are also being sensitive to the local needs of the 

neighbourhoods). In parallel we are also delivering key enablers to develop and 

provide the capability and capacity of our workforce, the estate and our informatics 

systems to further enable the innovation and delivery of our service integration. 

Our Quality Improvement Strategy sets out through the aims and drivers how we aim 

to Listen, Learn and Act to Improve. Our quality initiatives are underpinned by 

Quality Improvement methodologies; increasing capacity and capability are identified 

and supported through our service improvement developments, transformational 

schemes and new models of care.  From a learning perspective our Patient Safety 

Programme, Patient and Service User Experience Strategy reinforced by our values 

and behaviours ensures our work is informed by the voice of patients service users, 

professionals and carers which should be evident in all that we do. These are set out 

in the pages below in schematic form. 

These are set out in the pages below in schematic form.  
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Integrated Neighourhood Reporting & Governance Structure 
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Priorities for Quality Improvement

The priorities for 2018/19 were set out in the Trust Objectives and in the previous 

Quality Account. These are identified below and what we are reporting on in this 

quality account: 

To ensure our patients and users receive harm free care by improving the quality 

and safety of our services through the delivery of our Quality, improvement and 

Safety programmes. 

• Maintain compliance with the CQC Fundamental Standards of Care and our 
overall CQC rating of “Good”, but aspire to gain “Outstanding” ratings in future 
service  inspections. 

• Further increase our NRLS incident reporting rate per 1000 bed days and aim 
to be in the top 20% of Trusts and will improve the staff survey feedback 
response related to incident reporting.  

• Minimize levels of severe and catastrophic harm and be below the national 
average of 1% in NRLS reports  

• Ensure our patient safety programme work streams delivers reduced harm by 
learning from experience, feedback and implementing  agreed best practice 
care pathways  for Pressure ulcers, Falls, Infection prevention, Venous 
Thrombo embolism,  Sepsis, Acute Kidney injury and Hyperkalaemia  

• Continue to seek improvement of the Trust’s mortality indices (HSMR and 
SHMI) and maintain them in the ‘as expected’ or “better than expected” 
bandings.  

• Continue to ensure Learning from Deaths is part of the organisational learning 
and reported in line with the national requirements and aim to have zero 
avoidable deaths. 

To improve our patient and service user experience through the delivery of a 

personalised, responsive, caring and compassionate approach to the delivery of 

care. 

• Introduce Dining Companions to 50% of adult in-patient wards. 
• Manage the FFT within the Emergency department to achieve a 20% 

response rate and a >90% positive response.  
• Further reduce the number of KO41 complaints per 1000 patient contacts 

from 1 to 0.7 per 1,000 patient contacts.  
• Increase the ratio of recorded compliments to complaints received from the 

Q4 2017/18 baseline (Jan, Feb, March average) 21.84 by 5%.  
• Increase the percentage of complaints responded to within an agreed time 

scale from 90% by 5%. 
• Decrease the average time to close concerns (KO41 and PALS) from 12 days 

to 10 days. 
• Improve our participation rates for Patient Reported Outcomes (PROMS) for 

Hip and Knee procedures for questionnaires issued by the Trust from March 
2017 baseline and be better than the national average.  

• Continue to work with our partners to reduce the number of delayed 
discharges to no more than 3.3% across the financial year 
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Quality Priorities 2019/20   

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust’s priorities for Quality 

Improvement in 2019/20 are embedded in the Trust Board agreed objectives 

provided in full at the end of the Quality Account. Our priorities for improvement are 

aligned with the agreed objectives to be developed in the context of our Quality 

Improvement Strategy, Patient Safety Programme and the Trust Strategic Plan. 

Safety – We will continue to continuously reduce avoidable harm and reduce 
preventable deaths: as a minimum by monitoring Implementation of the Patient 
Safety Programme to ensure we:- 

o Improve or maintain consistent implementation of the Sepsis pathway 
from the 2018/19 baseline.  

o Reduce organisational harm from “Pressure ulcers” from the 2018/19 
baseline. 

o Reduce organisational “Falls with Harm” from the 2018/19 baseline. 

Experience - to deliver what matters most to meet individuals needs and 
implement integrated and innovative care closer to home: as a minimum by 
monitoring progress of the Patient and Service User Experience Strategy to ensure 
we:- 

o Improve in Patient Experience FFT response rates by 5% from the 
18/19 baseline and maintain or improve positive feedback at 90% or 
above. 

o Establish baselines for improvement in Patient and Carer Experience 
through the introduction of the patient and service user accreditation 
scheme.  

o Improvement of 5% in the Complaints to Compliments ratio by 5% 
from the 2018/19 baseline. 

Effectiveness – to improve the consistency and reliability of our delivery of 
care and treatment; as a minimum by monitoring improved clinical effectiveness by 
ensuring we:-  

o Improve the recognition and treatment of Hyperkalaemia from the 
2018/19 baseline. 

o Improve the recognition and treatment of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) 
from the 2018/19 baseline. 

o Improve the delivery of improved patient pathways to ensure no more 
than 3.3% delayed discharges and achievement of the emergency 
care standard in accordance with agreed trajectory. 

These priorities build on those undertaken in the last year to continue our 

improvement programme and our commitment to deliver Safe, Effective and 

Personalised care through the services we provide. Progress against these will be 

reported and monitored through the Trust Board and its subcommittees.  

These priorities have been chosen based upon national/local priorities and taking 

analysed patient and stakeholder feedback.  Where benchmarking information has 

been used in data provided in this report, unless otherwise stated, it has been taken 

from data available from the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
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Monitoring Priorities at Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS FT  

The Trust systematically and continuously reviews data related to the Quality, 

Safety, Performance and Cost Effectiveness of its services at all levels divisionally 

and corporately. The Trust uses the associated metrics to demonstrate this.  

Reports to the Trust Board, the Trust’s Quality and Governance Committee, Trust 

Executive Team and other key committees along with the Performance Management 

Framework all include data and information relating to our quality of NHS services. 

This enables the corporate and executive teams to appropriately monitor, challenge 

and seek assurance on the improvement, innovation and transformation of services 

based on the agreed priorities. Furthermore they provide for systematically ensuring 

that concerns and risks are appropriately managed and escalated with assurance 

provided through the board subcommittees to Trust Board.  

The Trust Board through its board sub committees will oversee and monitor the 

delivery of these. The Annual Quality Account and Annual reporting process will 

formally report on the outcomes each year, and Trust Board papers will provide 

updates on progress against these through the papers. 

Participation in Clinical Audits 

Clinical Audit involves improving the quality of patient and service users care by 
looking at current practice and modifying it where necessary. We take part in 
national and regional clinical audits, and we carry out local clinical audits. The Trust 
also participates in clinical outcome review programmes which investigate an area of 
healthcare and recommend ways of improving it.  

National Clinical Audits

The National Quality Account requirement for 2018/19 contained 60 National Clinical 
audits and 4 Clinical Outcome reviews.  

During 2018/19, 41 National Clinical Audits and 3 Clinical Outcome Review 
programmes (formally known as National Confidential Enquiries) covered relevant 
health services that Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 
provides.  

During 2018/19, Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 100% of the national clinical audits and 100% of the clinical outcome 
review programmes which it was eligible to participate in. The high level of 
participation in Clinical Audits across the Trust demonstrates the commitment to 
improving care quality, and allows us to benchmark our performance with other 
Trusts nationally. 

The national clinical audits and clinical outcome review programmes that Tameside 
and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust were eligible to participate in 
during 2018/19 are as follows and whether we participated during 2018/19 are listed 
below: 
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National Clinical Audits Participation 

Adult Cardiac Surgery Not applicable 

Adult Community Acquired Pneumonia Yes 

BAUS Urology Audit - Cystectomy Not applicable 

BAUS Urology Audit – Female Stress Urinary Incontinence (SUI) Not applicable 

BAUS Urology Audit - Nephrectomy Not applicable 

BAUS Urology Audit - Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy (PCNL) Not applicable 

BAUS Urology Audit – Radical Prostatectomy Not applicable 

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Yes 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) ICNARC Yes 

Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme) Yes 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP)* Yes 

Feverish Children (care in emergency departments) (RCEM) Yes 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme Yes 

Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR) Yes 

Mandatory surveillance of Bloodstream Infections and Clostridium Difficile infection Yes 

Major Trauma Audit (TARN) Yes 

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project  (MINAP) Yes 

National Asthma & COPD Audit Programme* Yes 

National Audit of Anxiety and Depression Not applicable 

National Audit of Breast Cancer in Older Patients (NABCOP) Yes 

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation Yes 

National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL) Yes 

National Audit of Dementia Yes 

National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC) Yes 

National Audit of Percutaneous Coronary Interventions (PCI) Not applicable 

National Audit of Pulmonary Hypertension Not applicable 

National Audit of Seizures and Epilepsies in Children and Young People Yes 

National Bariatric Surgery Registry (NBSR) Not applicable 

National Bowel Cancer Audit (NBOCA) Yes 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes 

National Clinical Audit for Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis (NCAREIA) Yes 

National Clinical Audit of Psychosis Not applicable 

National Clinical Audit of Specialist Rehabilitation for Patients with  
Complex Needs following Major Injury (NCASRI) 

Not applicable 

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme* Yes 

National Congenital Heart Disease (CHD) Not applicable 

National Diabetes Audit – Adults* Yes 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA) Yes 

National Heart Failure Audit Yes 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes 

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Yes 

National Maternity and Perinatal Audit (NMPA) Yes 

National Mortality Case Record Review Programme Yes 

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)  Yes 

National Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC) Yes 
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National Clinical Audits Participation 

National Ophthalmology Audit Not applicable 

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit (NPDA) Yes 

National Prostate Cancer Audit Yes 

National Vascular Registry Not applicable 

Neurosurgical National Audit Programme Not applicable 

Non-Invasive Ventilation – Adults Yes 

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) Not applicable 

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH-UK)* Not applicable 

Reducing the impact of serious infections (antimicrobial Resistance and Sepsis)* Yes 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) Yes 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT): UK National Haemovigilance  Yes 

Seven Day Hospital Services Yes 

Surgical Site Infection Surveillance Service Yes 

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Not applicable 

Vital Signs in Adults (care in emergency departments) (RCEM) Yes 

VTE risk in lower limb immobilisation (care in emergency departments) RCEM) Yes 

*Projects with multiple work streams 

Clinical Outcome Review Programmes Trust participation

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme 
Insufficient cases to meet 

eligibility criteria 
Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MBRACE) 

a) Confidential enquiry into serious maternal morbidity 

b) Maternal mortality surveillance 

c) Perinatal mortality and morbidity confidential enquiries (term intrapartum 

related neonatal deaths)

d) Perinatal mortality surveillance

Yes

Medical & Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme (NCEPOD) 
a) Bowel Obstruction  

b) Long Term Ventilation 

c) Pulmonary Embolism 

Yes

Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme Not applicable 

The National Clinical Audits and Clinical Outcome Review programmes that 
Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and 
for which data collection was completed during 2018/19 are listed below alongside 
the number of cases submitted for each audit or review as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.  

National Clinical Audits 
Number 

Submitted 
Percentage 
Submitted 

Adult Community Acquired Pneumonia 
Data collection period 

currently active – 
closes 31 May 2019

Data collection 
ongoing 

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Continuous data collection 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) ICNARC Continuous data collection 

Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme) Continuous data collection 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP) 
a) Inpatient falls 

b) Hip Fracture database 

a) 2/2   

b) 263 - Data 

collection

period 

01/01/18 to 

a) 100 

b) 100% 
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National Clinical Audits 
Number 

Submitted 
Percentage 
Submitted 

31/12/18 

Feverish Children (care in emergency departments) (RCEM) 120/120 100% 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme Continuous data collection 

Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (LeDeR) 
Reviews 
undertaken as 
cases identified 

100% 

Mandatory surveillance of Bloodstream Infections and Clostridium 
Difficile infection 

Continuous data collection 

Major Trauma Audit (TARN) 

Q1: 44/44 
Q2: 65/65 
Q3: 70/70 

Q4: active data 
submission – closes 

21 June 2019  

Q1: 100% 
Q2: 100% 
Q3: 100% 

Q4: Data collection 
ongoing 

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project  (MINAP) Continuous data collection 

National Asthma & COPD Audit Programme  
a) COPD 

b) Pulmonary Rehab 

c) Asthma 

Continuous data collection 

National Audit of Breast Cancer in Older Patients (NABCOP) Continuous data collection 

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation Continuous data collection 

National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL) 49/49 100% 

National Audit of Dementia 50/50 100% 

National Audit of Intermediate Care (NAIC) 
Audit Elements: 
Crisis Response 
Home Based 
Bed Based 
Re-ablement 

Data completed for 
all required 
elements 

100% 

National Audit of Seizures and Epilepsies in Children and Young 
People 

Continuous data collection 

National Bowel Cancer Audit (NBOCA) Continuous data collection 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) 

Q1: 11 
Q2: 13 
Q3: 08 

Q4: Data 
submission 

currently active – 
closes 06 June 

2019 

Q1: 100% 
Q2: 100% 
Q3: 100% 

Q4: Data collection 
on going 

National Clinical Audit for Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory 
Arthritis (NCAREIA) 

Continuous data collection 

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion Programme 
a) Use of Fresh Frozen Plasma 

b) Management of massive Haemorrhage 

a) Trust not eligible to participate 

b) No eligible cases identified 

National Diabetes Audit – Adults 
a) Adults (Core)  

b) National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit (NPID) 

c) National Diabetes Audit - National Foot care Audit 

d) National Diabetes Audit (NADIA) - Inpatient HARMS audit 

e) National Inpatient Audit (NADIA) - Only Hospital 

Characteristics element undertaken 2018 

Continuous data 

collection for a-d.  

Hospital 

Characteristics 1/1 

Data collection 
ongoing 

100% 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA) 125/125 100% 

National Heart Failure Audit Continuous data collection 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Continuous data collection 
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National Clinical Audits 
Number 

Submitted 
Percentage 
Submitted 

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Continuous data collection 

National Maternity and Perinatal Audit (NMPA) Continuous data collection 

National Mortality Case Record Review Programme Continuous data collection 

National Neonatal Audit Programme (NNAP)  Continuous data collection 

National Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC) Continuous data collection 

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit (NPDA) Continuous data collection 

National Prostate Cancer Audit Continuous data collection 

Non-Invasive Ventilation – Adults 

Ongoing data 
collection – data 

submission 
deadline 30 June 

2019 

Data collection 
ongoing 

Reducing the impact of serious infections (antimicrobial 
Resistance and Sepsis) 

Continuous data collection 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) Continuous data collection 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT): UK National 
Haemovigilance  

Continuous data collection 

Seven Day Hospital Services 175/175 100% 

Surgical Site Infection Surveillance Service Continuous data collection 

Vital Signs in Adults (care in emergency departments) (RCEM) 122/122 100% 

VTE risk in lower limb immobilisation (care in emergency 
departments) RCEM) 

12/12 100% 

Clinical Outcome Review Programmes 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme (MBRACE) 

a) Confidential enquiry into serious maternal morbidity 

b) Maternal mortality surveillance 

c) Perinatal mortality and morbidity confidential enquiries 

(term intrapartum related neonatal deaths) 

d) Perinatal mortality surveillance 

Continuous data 
collection 

Data collection 
ongoing 

Medical & Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme 
(NCEPOD) 

a) Bowel Obstruction  

b) Long Term Ventilation 

c) Pulmonary Embolism 

a) 5/5 

b) Trust not 

eligible to 

participate 

c) 6/6 

a) 100% 

b)   N/A 

c) 100% 

The reports of 36 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 201819 
and Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust intend to take 
the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided. Reports are 
scheduled for presentation and discussion at speciality or multi-speciality 
audit/clinical governance meetings. At these meetings recommendations and action 
plans are agreed to improve practice to ensure care is improved.  Examples are 
provided below of national audit reports received and the associated quality 
improvement actions taken or being implemented. Updates on all 36 reports 
reviewed are reported in the annual audit report.  
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Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP)

• The Trust has introduced breakfast groups lead by SALT / OT & Physio. 
The aim of the group is to promote patient engagement and stimulation. 
The relaxed environment encourages patient participation in everyday 
activities, and enables the therapy teams to undertake patient functional 
skills assessment and adapt therapy programmes to reflect individual 
needs.  

• The Stroke Response team work collaboratively with colleagues 
throughout the Trust to enable quick escalation and referral of patients, 
and by working with bed managers they ensure ‘right patient – right bed’.  
The team liaises with the Hyper acute centres (Stepping Hill / Salford) for 
timely repatriation of patients.   

• A video reflecting stroke care from a patient’s perspective has been 
developed by the multidisciplinary integrated inpatient and community 
team which includes rehabilitation post stroke. Patient consent has been 
received for permission to use the patient story for wider use and as an 
educational resource. 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant 
Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme (MBRACE) -  Perinatal 
mortality and morbidity 
confidential enquiries (term 
intrapartum related neonatal 
deaths) 

The Trust is fully committed to the National ambition to reduce the stillbirth rate by 
50% by 2025 with a reduction of 20% by 2020 through reducing the impact of 
known risk factors for stillbirth and neonatal death. To achieve this, the Trust has 
introduced the following quality improvement programmes and actions: 

• Implementation of the NHS Saving Babies Lives, a Care Bundle for Reducing 
Stillbirths and Early Neonatal Deaths (Reducing smoking in pregnancy, Risk 
assessment and surveillance for fetal growth restriction, Raising awareness of 
reduced fetal movement, Effective fetal monitoring during labour). Resulting in 
the following improvements to date: 

o CO readings at Pregnancy Bookings has increased steadily and now 
stands at 92% 

o The electronic booking software has been modified to prompt for a 
CO readings at booking 

o Implementation of the Growth Assessment Protocol (GAP) ensuring 
that 100% of birth centile charts continue to be generation  

o training of a further two midwife stenographers  
o Introduction of a mandatory telephone communication tool 

designed to raise awareness of RFM 
o Funding for a further three Dawes Redman Computerised CTGs has 

been secured 

• Joined (O&G and Paediatrics) MDT review for all neonatal deaths 

• Use of Perinatal Mortality Review Tool (PMRT) to review all stillbirths and 
neonatal deaths 

• Contribute to the North West Neonatal Palliative Care (NWODN) mortality 
reviews 

National Asthma & COPD Audit 
Programme

By liaising with GP’s, Community, CCG and Public Health England the Trust has 
identified an number of key themes which have been incorporated in to a service 
development programme designed to provide an integrated care service for 
respiratory patients throughout the Greater Manchester area. Key themes are: 

Self-care/ Management 

• Smoking Cessation support  

• Development of myCOPD App.  
Primary Care Management and ID 

• Patient Education sessions  

• GP COPD events  

• Neighbourhood pharmacists undertaking medication reviews 
Non-elective Admissions  

• Oxygen wristbands – used for patients discharged from respiratory ward  
and throughout outpatient appointments with Respiratory Nurse 
Specialist

• Developing LTC care plans with  Care Homes
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Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions
Rehabilitation 
8 promises developed for COPD care  

- Acute COPD care bundle 
- Specialist review  
- Oxygen prescription  
- Spirometry  
- Smoking cessation  
- Patient decision aid 
- Acute pulmonary rehab  
- Discharge care bundle 

Post-discharge Support  

• MDT meetings to discuss patients with extensive need / increased 
number of admissions regularly held every 2 months

• Discharge support team now in place

Cross-cutting  

• Matrix of resources for newly diagnosed to EOL COPD patients developed 
for use in outpatients. 

• Psychological support – Developing anxiety advice and guidance training 
for healthcare professionals working with COPD patients  

EOL  

• Development of ‘honest conversations’ work to support diagnosis and 
prognosis conversations.

• Breathe easy group involved in co-development of patient questionnaire.

• Linking into internal Sage & thyme, Advanced Care Planning and other 
bespoke training supported by palliative care team.

• Monthly evening support sessions to be held at Willow Wood from May 
2019. Attended by clinicians, and offering a Q&A option for specific issues 
/ queries.

Advice & Guidance  
GP’s able to ask for advice and guidance from Respiratory Consultants

Parkinson’s Audit

Trust identified a number of key themes which were reflected in Service 
improvement plans developed for:  

Occupational Therapy 

• Cognitive assessment tool reviewed as part of the Parkinson Disease (PD) 
pathway. Alternative cognitive screen identified and implemented for use 

• Bi-Monthly MDT journal meetings have been introduced which review PD 
recent evidence (amongst other neurological conditions) for service 
requirement 

Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 

• Approved LSVT training completed by staff with a view to delivering LSVT 
to appropriate patients

• Joint PD and SALT clinic introduced to ensure input regarding 
communication and / or swallowing is available for patients during the 
diagnosis phase

Community Neurology Rehab Team 

• Patient information leaflets are provided for newly referred patients, 
ensuring patients feel more informed regarding the types of therapists 
they can access and the re-referral process 

• List of appropriate outcome measures has been complied, and 
implemented within treatment programmes to monitor progress during 
intervention and measure outcome 

Specialist Nurse 

• Non-motor symptom questionnaire used on an individual basis with PD 
patients as required, and retained in accordance with documentation 
policy
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Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions
• Patient Letters incorporate information regarding potential adverse 

effects from PD medication

• PD patient review documentation compiled specifying related issues, this 
is used routinely and reviewed with patients at appointments

• Parkinson’s UK information and service leaflets are displayed in clinical 
areas

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 
(NPDA)

The Trust is fully committed to achieving quality care for children and young people 
with diabetes as benchmarked by the seven key care processes.  
The following quality improvements have been implemented by a coordinated 
multidisciplinary approach with view to achieving this commitment: 

• Continue the downward trend of raised HbA1c by supporting patients with 
high HbA1c by  

o Increased frequency of clinic attendance  
o Increased diabetes nurse support  
o Revisit core elements of diabetes management  
o Detailed dietetic review  
o Referral to clinical psychology (if required) 

• Increase the number of patients on insulin pumps by  
o offering regular pump evenings  
o discussing insulin pumps with suitable patients at their clinic 

appointments  

• Increase patient access to podiatry by  
o Offering monthly podiatry clinic alongside routine consultant 

appointment 
Continue to support children and young people by providing a programme of 
structured education

The results of 82 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2018/19 and 
Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the Quality of healthcare provided. Reports are 
scheduled for presentation and discussion at speciality or multi-speciality 
audit/clinical governance meetings. At these meetings recommendations and action 
plans are agreed to improve practice to ensure care is improved. Examples are 
provided below of local audit reports received and the associated quality 
improvement actions taken or being implemented. Further examples of local clinical 
audit reports will be reported in the annual audit report.  

Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions

Management of 
Hyperkalemia 

The Trust developed and introduced local guidelines for the Management of 
Acute Hyperkalemia in Adults, incorporating the Renal Association 
Guidelines. This was introduced to support the clinical teams in achieving 
timely and effective interventions and treatment for this patient group and 
was prior to the National Patient Safety Alert. Training is provided to all 
junior doctors on induction to the trust and on rotational changes between 
specialties.  
A third cycle of data collection, undertaken to measure the impact has 
provided reassuring results. 
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Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions

Paediatric Early 
Warning Score 
(PEWS) 

The Children's Unit & Emergency Department have worked together to 
introduce a new consolidated PEWS Proforma, which is suitably sensitive to 
set appropriate early warning triggers. A paediatric sepsis sticker has also 
been introduced to prompt use of the paediatric sepsis bundles. Further 
training focused on escalation protocols and affiliated pathways remains on-
going. 

Management of 
suspected sepsis in 
children  

Collaborative improvement work has been undertaken with the Clinical 
Effectiveness Nurse Lead for Sepsis. This resulted in the introduction of 
paediatric care bundles for <5 years, 5-11 years and >12 years, aligned to 
NICE guidance. A paediatric sepsis screening sticker has also been introduced 
with audit results showing increased use.  

Appropriate D 
Dimer requests in 
ED  

Collaborative work has been undertaken to develop a new VTE pathway, 
aligned to NICE Guidance. This will reduce the number of unnecessary D 
dimer tests and CTPAs, improve patient experience, minimise inconvenience 
for patients and potentially result in cost savings.   
System and process changes are being made in order to ensure that WELLS 
scores are calculated prior to D Dimer tests being requested.    

Obstetric
3rd and 4th degree 
tears

A postnatal telephone clinic has also been introduced following Obstetrical 
Anal Sphincter Injuries. This enables mothers to be followed up without the 
disruption of having to attend clinic. 
A marked improvement in the medical debrief documentation has been 
demonstrated.

Fluid Balance and 
AKI  

Collaborative working between the Clinical effectiveness nurses and clinical 
teams has led to the development and implementation of a new Fluid 
Balance Chart. The chart incorporates the Trust AKI bundle, aligned to NICE 
Guidance and Renal Association Guidelines.  
The new Fluid Balance Chart was also launched on World Kidney Day, with 
point of care training provided on all wards.  
Observations and a further cycle of data collection have shown 
improvements in patient care.   

Carbon Monoxide 
Screening  

All maternity staff have been trained on using CO2 monitors and been 
briefed on the problems caused by faulty boilers and passive smoking, 
including how to discuss this with mums.  
Stop smoking champions have been recruited in all maternity areas, 
undergoing training on behavioral support/use of nicotine replacement 
therapy to enable them to support women to stop smoking.   
CO2 reading recording has been added to Euroking with prompts at booking 
and 36 weeks. Increased compliance has been achieved. 

0-6 month 
pathway in ED  

A 0-6 month pathway was introduced to ED to support the timely review of 
patients on arrival. 
Training delivered to both ED and paediatric staff.  
Results show improved adherence to standards.    

Mental Health Care 
on the Children’s 
Unit 

Collaborative work has been undertaken between ED and Paediatrics to 
devise and introduce a Paediatric self-harm protocol, in line with NICE 
Guidance.  
Compliance is being monitored through further cycles of data collection. 
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Audit Title Quality Improvement Actions

WHO Safety 
Checklist 

Revised checklists have been introduced for procedures both in theatres and 
out of theatres. Compliance with their use in all appropriate settings is 
monitored through an ongoing audit programme.  
Recent results show excellent compliance with completion of the checklists.  

Maternity ITU 
Transfers 

In order to ensure that all appropriate information is recorded for transfers 
from maternity to ITU, a new proforma has been developed in collaboration 
with ITU.    

Head Injury in 
Adults 

A Head Injury flowchart, pathway and triage proforma have been introduced 
to ensure compliance with NICE Head Injury Quality Standards.   

Compliance with 
2015 AAGBI 
National 
Guidelines for 
monitoring of 
Neuromuscular 
Blockade

To raise awareness the AAGBI National Guidelines have been circulated in 
the department and new neuromuscular monitoring devices purchased.

Reduced Fetal 
Movement  

The Ask, Assess and Act Checklist was introduced to support the 
management of women who have experienced reduced fetal movements in 
pregnancy (over 28 weeks).  
A further cycle of data collection evidenced that all women received the 
appropriate management and there was a marked improvement in 
completion of the checklist.    
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Learning from Deaths  

The National Quality Board (NQB) Learning from Deaths framework introduced in 
September 2017 requires hospital trusts to adopt a standardised and transparent 
approach to learning from the care provided to patients who die. The Trust has 
undertaken mortality reviews (case review) on all hospital deaths since November 
2014 as part of its Quality Improvement Programme. We believe this is best practice 
and allows us to focus on learning from the care provided, being accountable for our 
actions and taking action to improve if sub-standard care is identified.   

The mortality review process led by the Medical Director is aligned to the Quality 
Improvement Strategy aimed at developing a culture of learning, openness and 
transparency and sharing information with the bereaved family or carer and 
providing them with the opportunity to inform the investigation process in addition to 
fulfilling the Duty of Candour requirements.  

The reviews are completed by trained multi-disciplinary team members, using 
standardised documentation aligned to the National Learning from Deaths Guidance 
along with requirements of the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) and Learning 
Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme. 

All case reviews and investigations are completed with an aim of identifying any 
learning from missed opportunities or practice related issues. Following scrutiny and 
challenge from the executive led scrutiny panel, the final reports are shared through 
divisional and trust governance and safety forums, and through the executive led 
Mortality Steering Group to share the learning trust wide and across the health 
economy.  

Through the Mortality Steering Group and the executive scrutiny panel the clinical 
teams are required to develop comprehensive action plans to address missed 
opportunities, the mortality steering group also recognise and highlight areas of good 
practice which are shared with staff involved in the care.  

The Trust is committed to learning from the mortality review process and continues 
to develop and strengthen the process. The Trust recognises the importance of 
gaining the views of bereaved relatives and carers and has developed a process to 
ensure that they are involved and may inform the investigation. 

The Trust Learning from Deaths Policy applies to all patients that die in hospital and 
where the Trust has been involved in the care of the patient (including deaths that 
have occurred outside of the organisation whereby shared care has been provided). 

The scope of the policy therefore may include deaths where other triggers for 
investigation are evident. Wherever possible an integrated approach to 
investigations is adopted to ensure investigations provide for the requirements of 
any incident, complaint, safeguarding concerns or coronial inquests requirement to 
avoid unnecessary duplication. 

During 2018/19, 1060 Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 
patients died.  

By 31st March 2019, 1040 case record reviews and 14 Investigations have been 
carried out in relation to 14 of the patient deaths detailed. In 14 cases a death was 
subjected to both a case record review and an investigation. 
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The number of deaths in each quarter for which a case record review or an 
investigation was carried out was: 

14 representing 1.3% of the patient deaths during the reporting period are judged to 
be more likely than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the 
patient. In relation to each quarter, this consisted of: 

• 4 representing 1.4% for the first quarter; 

• 2 representing 0.85% for the second quarter; 

• 4 representing 1.7% for the third quarter; 

• 4 representing 1.3% for the fourth quarter;  

The table below shows the quarterly breakdown of required activity in each quarter 
of that reporting period:  

Patients that died Completed case 
record reviews 

Case review and 
investigation 

(Number) 

Case review and 
investigation 

(%age) 

Q1 Apr – Jun 18 290 290 4 1.4% 

Q2  Jul – Sep 18 234 234 2 0.8% 

Q3 Oct  - Dec 18 236 236 4 1.7% 

Q4 Jan – Mar 19  300 280 4 1.3%

0.8% (9) of the patient deaths during the reporting period was judged to be more 
likely than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient. 

In relation to each quarter this consisted of: 

• 0.5% (2) of deaths for fourth Quarter 2017/18 (not finalised at time of previous 

report) 

• 0.7% (2) of deaths for the first quarter 18/19 

• 0.8 % (2) for the second quarter 18/19 

• 1.2% (3) of deaths for the third quarter  

• 0.6% (2) to date of deaths for the fourth Quarter  

These numbers have been estimated using the following methods; 

Mortality reviews were completed using the standardised mortality review process in 
accordance with the Trusts Learning from Deaths Policy. Investigations completed in 
accordance with the Trusts Incident Reporting, and Incident and Complaint 
Investigation Policy.  

The focus of the case reviews and investigations is to identify any learning by way of 
missed opportunities or practice related issues. The outcomes are shared through 
divisional and trust wide governance and safety forums, including the executive led 
Trust Mortality Steering Group to share the learning Trust wide, and the information 
triangulated with other sources of information to ensure thematic learning is 
understood and actioned. 
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The Table below highlights the learning and action taken  

Learning  Action taken  

Timely interventions 
and use of established 
care pathways/care 
bundles. 

Care pathways Sepsis – AKI – Hyperkalaemia are provided to all 
new doctors on induction to the trust and links to all care 
pathways, this training is repeated again on transfer into acute 
medicine areas as part of the local induction programme. To 
reinforce the importance of timely interventions and treatment  

Recognition of patients 
approaching last days 
hours of life and 
utilisation of the 
Individualised Plan of 
Care for the Dying

EOLC Training provided for all staff members 
Royal College of Physicians 2018 publication – ‘talking about 
dying’ provided to all medical staff for guidance. 

Inconsistency in NEWS 
scoring and calculation 
and therefore 
appropriate escalation 
of the deteriorating 
patient 

Nationally standardised NEWS 2 has been implemented 
Trustwide, along with training for the clinical teams. 
The compliance is overseen by the Managing the Deteriorating 
Patient Safety Workstream. A recent clinical audit of compliance 
has been completed and is scheduled for review by the 
workstream, improvement in compliance has been reported 
across most areas of the trust, for areas requiring remedial 
actions, targeted at point of care training is to be completed, and 
further quality improvement cycles of audit will be completed to 
assess improvements in these areas. 
The Trust is reviewing electronic observation systems linked to 
escalation of the deteriorating patient, to standardise the process 
and ensure consistency across all areas.  

Delay’s in the 
recognition, timely 
management and 
treatment of 
Hyperkalaemia & 
inconsistency in 
completion of fluid 
balance charts

Management of acute Hyperkalaemia Guidance developed and 
implemented - Awareness training is delivered to all clinical staff 
on trust induction and various MDT forums – including toolbox 
talks in clinical areas. 
A revised fluid balance chart has been developed and 
implemented Trustwide to support staff in accurately managing 
fluid balance. The document provides staff with triggers for AKI 
and is linked to the Trusts AKI care bundle. 

The impact of any actions will be assessed via the clinical audit cycle during 
2019/2020 

Compliance and assurance has been assessed during the reporting period and 
taken from monitoring of action plans in place within Divisions, Clinical Audits of 
compliance and reviews at point of care for these patient groups. 

The total number of deaths identified in the 2017/18 reporting period for Tameside & 
Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust was 0.4% (4) this data is presented 
in this report as the final 17/18 Q4  data  was not available at time of last report. 

The total number of deaths identified in the 2018/19 reporting period for Tameside & 
Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust is 0.8% (9) that were judged to be 
more likely than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the 
patient.  

However a number of deaths are still to be reviewed through the Coronial process 
and this may change the reported figure. This number has not been estimated as we 
review all deaths using the methods described above.
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Implementing the priority clinical standards for seven day hospital services.

The Trust has considered the priority clinical standards for seven day services and 
the potential impact of these. We have undertaken a gap analysis and developed a 
business case to set out the consequence of the implementation which has been 
shared with our commissioners and the requirement for additional funding accepted 
in principle. We continue to work in collaboration with the Commissioners to 
progress towards a phased funding approach to achieve patients receiving the same 
standards of care in hospitals seven days per week. However, no additional funding 
has yet been agreed. 

The Trust continues to undertake the required self-assessments and reporting 
required on the priority standards to assess it compliance and progress towards the 
requirements by 2020. The results of these are captured in the annual audit report 
published separately.  

Trust Processes for Raising Concerns at Work  

In the context of the Gosport Independent Panel Report and proposed legislation to 
formally report annually on numbers of staff who speak up including whistle-blowers, 
we have been asked to report in this publication on the processes in place by which 
Staff can raise concerns (including whistleblowing) if they have concerns over quality 
of care, patient safety or bullying and harassment within the trust, and how feedback 
is provided to those that raise concerns. 

The Trust has well embedded processes by which staff can raise concerns at work. 
The Trust employs a Freedom to Speak up Guardian who provides independent and 
confidential advice to all staff with respect to raising concerns. They routinely meet 
with the Chief Executive and report on the reported concerns to Trust board. Six 
monthly "speak out safely" reminder campaigns are used to reinforce the “if in Doubt 
Speak Out” process. A nominated Non-executive Director is also in place to support 
the roles and ensure reporting to the Trust Board.  

The Trust Raising Concerns at Work policy is available to all staff via the intranet 
and summarised in information leaflets available around the Trust. This identifies the 
options and processes that can be used to raise concerns. These include reporting 
any concerns to your line manager or their manager in person or in writing. The 
incident reporting process can also be used in this regard and concerns can be 
raised anonymously if required. If this is not successful or the concern is more 
serious then reporting can be done directly to a Director or to the Chief Executive. 
The policy also identifies that information and advice can be sought from the Human 
Resources team and Trade unions internally, with options of external support being 
available from agencies such as Public Concern at Work and the Care Quality 
Commission.   

The policy reinforces that in line with the Trust published values and behaviours we 
will respect the reporter’s confidentiality and ensure that feedback is provided to the 
reported either directly or through a nominated representative on the concern raised. 
The Trust will not tolerate harassment or victimisation of anyone who raises a 
concern and this again is reinforced through the Trust Values and Behaviours. 
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Consolidated Annual Report on Junior Doctor Rota Gaps 

Specialty Grade 
Rota Vacancies 2018/19 

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

Emergency 
Medicine 

Specialty Doctor 9 9 8 6 

FY2/GPST 1 1 1 2 

General 
Medicine 

FY1 0 0 0 0 

FY2/CT 5 6 2 5 

ST3+ 0 0 0 1 

General 
Surgery 

FY1 0 0 0 0 

FY2/CT 1 1 1 1 

ST3+ 0 0 0 1 

Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

FY2/CT 0 2 2 0 

ST3+ 0 0 0 0 

ENT CT 2 0 0 0 

Anaesthetics 
CT 0 0 0 0 

ST3+ 1.2 1.2 0 0 

Obstetrics & 
Gynaecology 

FY2/CT 3 3 1 1 

ST3+ 0.6 0.2 1.2 1.2 

Paediatrics 
FY2/CT 5 5 4 4 

ST4+ 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.2 

All Specialities All grades 29.4 30.0 21.8 23.4 

Overall the Trusts position with medical recruitment has improved, however, we 

have seen a rise in vacancies within the Clinical Fellow Grade particularly in the 

Department of Medicine since September 2018. To mitigate these vacancies the 

ICFT utilises an internal “bank” and in exceptional circumstances we revert to the 

use of agency locums to fill these gaps.  

To address this issue we have also redesigned the General Medicine rota, the new 

rota will be implemented in April 2019 this will result in an enlargement of the staff 

group working upon the on-call rota. The changes are intended to improve the 

rostering and allocation of doctors working across the wards during the day whilst 

also adding to the coverage that will be provided to out of hours working. In order to 

ensure that sufficient numbers of Specialty Doctor and Clinical Fellow level doctors 

are in post recruitment activity has taken place to fulfil the shortfall in numbers.  

Recruitment of medical staff at this level is typical as a number are expected to 

depart each August when Trust grade doctors typically enter training grade 

positions. This is typical across all specialties. A retention action plan is in place to 

improve the turnover at this level such measures include reviewing the training and 

development available to locally employed doctors. 

The ICFT has also engaged with the McH (Surgery training) scheme which is co-

ordinated by Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS FT to identify a number of posts at 

Clinical Fellow and Specialty Doctor level that can be used to appoint doctors from 

this scheme. It is anticipated that this will provide a regular stream of high quality 

medical staff to reduce the number of gaps which can result from a dependency 

upon locally appointed non training grade doctors. 

Significant gaps have continued across the twelve-month period within trainee 

rotations in Obstetrics & Gynaecology. Whilst all trainee posts have been filled, there 
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has been a tendency for less than full time trainees to occupy full-time training 

vacancies which has contributed to there being gaps on rotas. Action has been 

taken to mitigate this including the additional appointment of Specialty Doctors and 

amending the job plans of currently employed Doctors to reduce the frequency of 

trainees working night duties. It is expected that there will be an ongoing 

requirement in the future as the demographics of Doctors on the training schemes 

are such that the supply of doctors (particularly within these specialties) will remain 

the same. 

In accordance with the 2016 Medical Terms and Conditions of Service for Junior 

Doctors the ICFT has appointed a Guardian of Safe Working Hours to oversee the 

ICFT’s adherence to the terms and conditions. An annual report and quarterly 

exception reports are reported to the Trust Board the reports provide assurance on 

the exception reporting processes and the actions being taken as a result of the 

exception reports that have been raised.  

The learning Disability Improvement Standards for NHS Trusts 

In June 2018 NHS Improvement published the Learning Disability Improvement 

Standards for NHS Trusts and required that progress against these standards was 

reported in the Trust Annual Quality Account. IN response to these the Trust 

undertook a review or the requirements and formulated an action plan to ensure that 

where the standards were not being met in full we planned to address these 

standards  

The standards covered four areas identified in the table below with a summary of the 

key actions required by the Trust to ensure these are met in full. 

Standard Current Trust position and actions being progressed to ensure compliance
Respecting 
& Protecting 
People’s 
Rights 

We believe we are delivering this standard.  
The Trust is monitoring the ongoing consultation programme of what LD Awareness 
training for all trust staff will look like, currently being reviewed by Health Education 
England, Mencap and the RCN. The outcome of this will inform the Trust approach 
and will be incorporated into the Trust programme.  

Inclusion & 
Engagement

The Trust can evidence progress in this area; however, further work and review is 
required to assess and progress how we can better involve people with a learning 
disability being supported and involved to ensure improved inclusion and engagement. 

Workforce The Trust can evidence progress in this area; however, we have further work to do 
with respect to the development of a workforce plan to support the GM Learning 
Disability Strategy and GM Transforming care plan. We already have staff as members 
of the GM workforce development group as part of Transforming Care Agenda, and LD 
Team leaders are liaising with Director of HR in the development of an LD work force 
plan. 
We have an executive lead who is the Director of Nursing and Integrated Governance. 
They have commissioned a task and finish group in relation to LD/Autism working with 
Place based partners in order to detail specific requirements and identify any training 
requirement.  
With regards to data on restrictive interventions this is being reviewed by the Trust 
Safeguarding group and the Director of Nursing and Integrated Governance has 
commissioned a review. 

Specialist 
Learning 
Disability 
Services 

The Trust can evidence progress in this area; however we need to review our policies 
in terms of supporting people during clinical procedures which may, require staff being 
training in LD specific holding techniques. A multi-disciplinary task and finish group is 
being set up to complete a review of our pathway. Work has commenced to review the 
pathway from community learning disability team point of view. 
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Research and Development  

Research is vital to improve the knowledge needed to develop the current and future 

quality of care for patients. Carrying out high quality research gives the NHS the 

opportunity to minimise inadequacies in healthcare and improve the treatments 

patients receive.  The Trust is only involved with research studies that have received 

a favourable opinion from the Research Ethics Committee within the National 

Research Ethics Service (NRES), and the Health Research Authority, signifying the 

research projects are of high scientific quality and have been risk assessed.  

The Trust via its Research and Development Department is committed to providing 

patients with the opportunity to participate in research, if they wish. We aim to ask all 

eligible patients if they would like to participate in a clinical trial.  

The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-

contracted by the Trust in 2018/19 that were recruited during that period to 

participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 793 (by Mar 

19). This has surpassed our target of 401 participants, set by the Clinical Research 

Network and is 14% higher than 2017/18. 

Currently, there are 114 research studies, a growth of 5% from 2017/18, in all stages 

(planning, active or follow up). We have 32 actively recruiting studies which are 

adopted on to the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research 

Network portfolio. These studies are high quality trials that benefit from the 

infrastructure and support of the Clinical Research Network (CRN) in England. We 

are currently hosting 3 studies which are actively recruiting clinical trials involving 

medicinal products with two further studies in the planning stage. These 

demonstrate the Trusts enthusiasm to improve and offer the latest medical 

treatments. 

The Trust has strong team of 6 (3 full time and 3 part time) dedicated research 

nurses and 2 clinical trials administrators. The Trust has strong research activity in 

Cancer, Anaesthetics and Paediatrics and continues to increase the departments 

involved. In 2018/19 we have seen increases to Cardiovascular, Gastroenterology 

Musculoskeletal studies in recent months. Other departments are actively interested 

in becoming research active and we looking for suitable studies to involve them with.  

Currently there are over 35 clinical staff acting as the Trust lead investigator on 

approved research studies.  

2018/19 has seen a number of achievements for the team;  

• We successfully held our first Research Conference in 2018 and plan to 

host another in 2019. 

• The department has surpassed its annual recruitment target for 2018/19, 

well ahead of the end of the financial year  

• Identified as the highest recruiting Trust in Greater Manchester for  one 

study, with 57 participants recruited, exceeding our target of 20 patients. 



Annual Quality Account 2018-19 Final Draft   Page 33 of 104

• We achieved the fourth highest increase in the number of NIHR studies 

supported in England 2017/18, and the highest percentage increase in 

Greater Manchester 

• Work of local clinicians has been selected for presentation at National 

conferences. 

• The Trust performance and achievements have been noted at the Clinical 

Research Network: Greater Manchester Board meetings

The Trust research nurses work closely with the clinicians to identify suitable 

research studies that fit with the patient population and also to identify eligible 

patients to participate. It is envisaged that the continued dedication and flexibility of 

the research nurses, together with the enthusiasm and support of the clinicians will 

further raise the profile of Research and Development in 2019/20

Goals agreed with the Commissioners 

The Clinical Commissioning Group for Tameside and Glossop holds the NHS budget 

locally and they decide how this is spent to provide Hospital and Community 

services. This is known as commissioning. Tameside and Glossop CCG is the lead 

commissioner of services at Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS 

Foundation Trust and is required to provide incentives based on Quality and 

Innovation. These payments support Quality as a driving principle.  

A proportion of Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust’s 

income in 2018/19 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation 

goals agreed between Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation 

Trust and any person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or 

arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the Commissioning for 

Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework. The monetary total for the 

amount of income in 2018/19 conditional upon achieving quality and improvement 

goals was £3.48m and the monetary value to CQUIN in 2018/19 which was 

achieved was £3.47m compared to £3.60m in 2017/18.

Further details of the goals for 2017-19 are available electronically at: 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-17-19/

The summary detail of Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation 

Trusts CQUIN goals are identified in the table below 
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2018/19 CQUIN Goals 

Indicator 
Number 

Indicator Name Year End Status 
N

at
io

n
al

1a Improvement of health and wellbeing of NHS staff expect to achieve 

1b Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients expect to achieve 

1c Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline clinical staff  Expected Partial 

2a 
Timely identification of patients with sepsis in emergency departments and 
acute inpatient settings  

expect to achieve 

2b 
Assessment of clinical antibiotic review between 24-72 hours of patients with 
sepsis who are still inpatients at 72 hours 

expect to achieve 

2c 
Assessment of clinical antibiotic review between 24-72 hours of patients with 
sepsis who are still inpatients at 72 hours. 

expect to achieve 

2d Reduction in antibiotic consumption per 1,000 admissions 
Not expected  to 

achieve 

4 Improving services for people with mental health needs who present to A&E expect to achieve 

6 Advice & Guidance expect to achieve 

7 E-referrals expect to achieve 

9a Tobacco screening expect to achieve 

9b Tobacco brief advice Expected Partial 

9c Tobacco referral and medication offer Expected Partial 

9d Alcohol screening expect to achieve 

9e Alcohol brief advice or referral expect to achieve 

10 Improving the assessment of wounds expect to achieve 

11 Personalised care and support planning expect to achieve 

CA2 
Nationally Standardised Dose Banding for Adult Intravenous Systemic 
Anticancer Therapy 

expect to achieve 

GE3 Hospital Pharmacy Transformation and  Medicines Optimisation expect to achieve 
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What others say about Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS 
Foundation Trust  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) regulates and inspects Health and Social Care 

organisations. If it is satisfied that the organisation provides care which meets the 

Fundamental Standards of Quality and Safety it registers the organisation to provide 

services “without conditions”.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust is required to register 

with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is “GOOD”.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Hospital Trust has no 

conditions on its registration. 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Tameside 

and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust during 2018/19. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has not participated 

in any special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission during 

2018/19. 

In August 2016 the CQC undertook a Chief inspector of Hospitals comprehensive 

inspection, and inspected specific core services of the Hospital Trust identified in the 

matrix below, covering all acute services. The report was issued in February 2017 

and the matrix of current outcomes reported is identified in the table below by 

service area.   

CQC Ratings for Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 
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The Tameside and Glossop Community Services have not yet been inspected and 

rated as part of the Trust.  

The Chief Inspector of Hospital’s review reported in February 2017 made 1 non-

urgent recommendation relating to Regulation 12 (Safe care and treatment) of the 

Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities),  drawn from the “MUST 

DO’s “within the CQC report to enhance the Safety, Effectiveness and 

Responsiveness of care provided by the Trust in the most recent report. 

The key themes of these recommendations were related to: 

• Improving patient flow throughout the hospital minimise transfers and 
ensure timely access to services to meet the patient’s needs. 

• Maintaining staffing levels to meet the needs of patients. 
• Achievement of consistent levels of mandatory training and appraisal in all 

areas. 
• Consistent management of medicines in line with best practice in all areas.  

We implemented actions or reviewed ongoing work programmes to ensure the 

issues identified were addressed. Oversight and improvement arrangements have 

been put in place to support the changes required. The required improvements have 

been integrated into the Trust Patient Safety Programme work streams or 

Improvement work streams which are systematically monitored and provide updates 

and assurance on progress through our Divisional and Corporate Governance 

structures.  

The Quality and Governance committee continues to oversee the organisational 

assurance of these actions and progress through direct reports to the committee or 

by use of Assurance walk rounds which committee members participate in to obtain 

real-time assurance on actions previously reported to the committee. 

At the time of writing this report the Trust has undertaken a planned “Use of 

resources” assessment with NHS improvement. The CQC proposed annual 

unannounced inspections and Well led review in have taken place covering a range 

of Adult and Childrens Community services as well as Hospital services. However, it 

is not anticipated that the outcome of these will be known prior to approval and 

publication of the Quality Account.  

Other Reports 

JAG (Joint Advisory Group on Gastrointestinal Endoscopy) Accreditation 

In November 2018, the Trust JAG accreditation (Joint Advisory Group on 

Gastrointestinal Endoscopy), was deferred for a 6 month period.  This accreditation 

is a quality improvement and service accreditation programme, which assesses 

endoscopy units, and provides assurance to patients and commissioners of the 

quality of service being provided.  

The assessment identified good practice relating to the management of capacity and 

demand and maintaining waiting times, but required action and assurance on other 

elements of service, policy and procedures to be taken prior to a revisit and 

documentation review. An action plan has been developed and implemented to 
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address identified compliance issues. A revisit by the accreditation team has been 

planned for 7th June 2019.    

GIRFT (Get It Right First Time) reports

The Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) Programme is helping to improve the quality 

of care within the NHS by reducing unwarranted variations, bringing efficiencies and 

improving patient outcomes. The Trust is engaging with these work streams and the 

analysis provided to identify learning and service changes that could impact on the 

Quality and Safety of Care and impact on the effective use of resources. 

Data Quality 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust recognise that good 

data quality and information underpins the effective delivery of patient care and is 

essential if improvements in quality of care are to be made. Improved Data quality 

will improve patient care and improve value for money.  

NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust submitted records 

during April 2018 to March 2019 to the Secondary Users Service (SUS) for inclusion 

in the Hospital Episode Statistics. These are included in the latest published data. 

The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid 

NHS number was: 

• 99.6% for admitted patient care; 
• 99.9% for outpatient care; and 
• 99.7% for accident and emergency care. 

The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid 
General Medical Practice Code was: 

• 98.5% for admitted patient care; 
• 99.6% for outpatient care; and 
• 98.6% for accident and emergency care. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust continue to take the 

actions to improve data quality. The Trust recognises that the metrics listed above 

constitute an extremely narrow view of data quality and has, therefore, created a 

forum to monitor and manage data quality, using a wider definition, across the 

organisation. The Data Quality Steering Group is designed to provide assurance on 

the implementation and maintenance of information quality assurance standards, 

ensuring that system users are engaged in the enterprise of continuous data-quality 

improvement through informed discussion and shared knowledge on the accuracy, 

completeness and timeliness of data entry and the resolution of any issues with data 

quality. The Data Quality Steering Group will manage and oversee the Trust’s Data 

Quality Improvement Plan and continuously reviews the Trust’s Data Quality 

Scorecard, identifying areas for improvement and supporting the development of 

strategies and processes to facilitate this. 
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Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels  

Information Governance is about how NHS and social care organisations and 

individuals handle information. This can be personal, patient, sensitive and/or 

corporate information. Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation 

Trust Information Governance Assessment Report for 2018/19 was 100% of 

mandatory evidence items and assertions confirmed completed. Graded Satisfactory  

Clinical Coding Error Rate  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to 
the Payment by Results (PbR) Clinical Coding Audit during 2018/19 by the Audit 
Commission.  

The Trust’s Clinical Coding Audit Report conducted in November 2018 by the Trust’s 
internal Accredited Clinical Coding Auditor, related to coded activity from the period 
1st April to 30th June 2018 and identified that: 

The general standard of clinical coding at the Trust is good.  90% of primary 
diagnoses audited and 94% of the primary procedures were correctly recorded.   
Therefore the Trust has achieved the Data Security and Protection mandatory level 
of attainment targets. Results are demonstrated in the table below. 

Table of main findings 

Total from 
episodes audited 

Total 
correct

Percent 
correct

Primary diagnosis 200 180 90 

Secondary diagnosis 944 874 93 

Primary procedure 140 131 94 

Secondary procedure 451 415 92 

In order to deliver further improvement the Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care 
NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following action to improve data quality 
through its Clinical Coding Department. 

• Auditor provides training and feedback to the Clinical Coders to discuss the 
discrepancies arising from audit.   

• Internal audit will continue the established audit programme and immediate 
actions including feedback and training or revision of processes dependant on 
the results. 

• The training programme will continue to established individual and 
departmental training requirements.  

The purpose of the training and audit programme is to ensure continuous 
improvement and increased effectiveness of the clinical coded data being produced. 
The impact of the training and validation during the last 12 months has resulted in 
continued improvement in data quality evidenced in the results provided.  

Future developments are being implemented to further assist the clinical coders to 
fully record the depth of coding required to capture the patient spell and further 
improve the data quality of the coded information. 
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Reporting against Quality Account Core indicators  

The prescribed requirement for reporting against core indicators listed below has 
been undertaken and is provided in the next section of the Quality account - How we 
performed on Quality in 2018/19 alongside the reporting of the current performance 
for the indicator. 

Core indicator requirement number and description 
Reported 
on 

12. (a) The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator 
(“SHMI”) for the trust for the reporting period; and 
(b) The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either 
diagnosis or specialty level for the trust for the reporting period.  

Page 88  

18. The trust’s patient reported outcome measures scores for: 
(i) hip replacement surgery, and 
(ii) knee replacement surgery, during the reporting period. 

Page 85 

19. The percentage of patients aged - (i) 0 to 15; and (ii) 16 or over, 
readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust within 28 days of being 
discharged from a hospital which forms part of the trust during the reporting 
period. 

Page 80  

20. The trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of its patients during the 
reporting period. 

Page 73 

21. The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust during 
the reporting period who would recommend the trust as a provider of care to 
their family or friends 

Page 76  

23. The percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were 
risk assessed for venous thromboembolism during the reporting period. 

Page 59  

24. The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection reported 
within the trust amongst patients aged 2 or over during the reporting period. 

Page 62 

25. The number and, where available, rate of patient safety incidents reported 
within the trust during the reporting period, and the number and percentage of 
such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death 

Page 65  

Friends and Family Test results Page 68  

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment (RTT) in 
aggregate – patients on an incomplete pathway  

Page 74  

A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission/ transfer/ 
discharge  

Page 74  

All cancers: 62-day wait for first treatment from:  Page 75  
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Part Three

How we performed on Quality in 
2018/19
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This section of the Quality Account provides an overview of the quality of care based 

on performance in 2018/19 against indicators selected by the Board in consultation 

with stakeholders following the regulatory reviews and agreed as part of the Trust 

Improvement programme. Where appropriate and available historic information has 

been provided, and where mandated for Core indicators with national benchmarking 

data and commentary as required. 

The benchmarking data provided reflects the information currently available via the 

NHS digital indicator portal at the time of finalising the report. 

Organisational Transformation and Quality and Safety Initiatives progressed 
throughout 2018/19

The Trust strategic plan sets out the organisational goals for continuous 
improvement by developing and transforming the services we provide whilst the 
Quality Improvement Strategy sets out how we ensure quality improvement. To 
implement  these strategies the Trust boards sets objectives annually which aim to 
deliver continuous improvement and progress the strategies through service 
development and transformation. In doing this we continue to ensure our service 
provision meets the requirements of the Fundamental Standards of Quality and 
Safety.  

Implementation has been monitored internally and systematic assurance provided 
through the Trust Governance structures. In order to ensure openness and candour 
with our key stakeholders we continue to routinely share information and provide 
assurances through the Quality monitoring processes and through Scrutiny of our 
commissioners and regulators.   

Service improvement and transformation  

Throughout 2018/19 we have continued our implementation and delivery of a 
number of system-wide transformation schemes.  The aim of the transformational 
schemes being to: 

• support local people to remain well by tackling the causes of ill health, 

supporting behaviour and lifestyle change, and maximising the role 

played by local communities.  

• ensure that those receiving support are equipped with appropriate 

knowledge; skills and confidence to enable them take greater control over 

their own care needs and the services they receive.  

• provide high quality integrated services that are designed around the 

needs of the individual and, where appropriate, are provided as close to 

home as possible. 

The programme contains New models of care programmes and Health Inequalities 

as well as whole system programmes. 

The impact of these schemes provides opportunity to deliver improvement in service 

provision which impact on all the dimensions identified in the Quality Improvement 

Strategy both within the Trust and across the wider health economy. 

The following highlights provide insight into some of these in this context.   
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Integrated Neighbourhood Teams 

The purpose of the neighbourhood teams is to support residents of Tameside & 
Glossop in choosing healthy lifestyles and encouraging them to take more control 
and responsibility for their own health. The teams enable care to be provided closer 
to the person’s home through a coordinated approach across primary care, health 
and social care services in addition to voluntary, community and faith sector 
services. Operating in a multi-disciplinary manner the teams facilitate the provision 
of, and access to, place-based care with local services responding to local need. 
Wherever possible people will be treated and cared for closer to home and will only 
access hospital based care when necessary. 

All Integrated Neighbourhoods provide a “core offer”. As the model has matured and 
with information gathered this has enabled a better understanding of issues at a 
local neighbourhood level. Each of the 5 Neighbourhoods have identified further 
priorities which are relevant to their population.  The process of identifying these has 
been developed through the Neighbourhood Delivery Groups which demonstrates 
the increasing maturity of these teams in becoming self-directing in the design and 
development of services which are responsive and effective in meeting the needs of 
the local population.  The diagram below summarises these developing priorities   

Integrated Neighbourhood core offer and priorities  

The Trust has continued to work in collaboration with Tameside Metropolitan 
Borough Council (TMBC) to co-locate district nursing and adult social care teams. 
This was completed in December 2018 with now all five neighbourhoods having a 
base: 

• Stalybridge – Stalybridge Civic Hall  

• Ashton – Ashton Primary Care Centre  
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• Denton – Denton Festival Hall  

• Glossop – Glossop Primary Care Centre  

• Hyde – Selbourne House  

The impact of co-locating teams is currently the subject of a research project being 
completed by Salford University. Although not yet published, the work has been 
presented by the researcher, supported by the Stalybridge Neighbourhood Team 
and demonstrates positive benefits for patients and staff, as well as some valuable 
insight into areas for consideration when integrating teams, both from a professional 
and leadership perspective.  

New Models of Care Transformation Programmes 

Digital Health Centre 

Digital Health was initially developed as a transformation scheme to better support 
care homes (both residential and nursing) in the management of patients who 
appear to require urgent care. The programme connects staff in care homes with an 
advanced practitioner in the Trust based Digital Health Centre (DHC) using Skype.  

The aim is to ensure that an individual’s needs are accurately assessed and met 
swiftly, with the individual remaining in their own home whenever possible. This has 
supported a significant reduction in hospital attendances from care homes and 
assisted in increasing the skills and knowledge of care home staff. 

Due to the success of this programme it was recognised that the opportunities for 
this technology were much broader. We have developed the service further this year 
in line with the NHS Long Term Plan, DHC has won awards and recognition from 
various bodies based on the work done to date. We now use this technology to 
provide virtual consultations by the digital health nurses when clinically appropriate.  

In doing this, we aim to improve care, prevent health conditions escalating, and to 
reduce unnecessary admissions which can be stressful and disruptive for 
individuals, as well as costly for the healthcare system.  

Using the Manchester Triage System, the DHC can determine the most appropriate 
pathway for those patients who may require a hospital attendance and direct 
referrals to ambulatory care, urgent outpatient appointment or to ED if necessary. 

These are being undertaken in partnership:-  

• With the North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) to reduce demand on 

ambulance services and the subsequent transfer of people to the Emergency 

Department (ED) some lower category (3 and 4) calls to NWAS are reviewed 

by the DHC team. The impact of this is ensure appropriate direction of these 

calls to the appropriate service or to receive the required advice. This in 

addition release ambulances to respond to higher priority calls (Category 1 

and 2) in a timelier manner.  

• GP’s now send urgent referrals to the DHC team, which previously would 

have gone to the Emergency Department (ED). This creates the opportunity 

to redirect patients to other services such as District Nurses or the Integrated 

Urgent Care Team (IUCT) thus avoiding hospital attendance.  
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This initiative has supported the Trust to maintain reduced bed occupancy across 
the last quarter with a significant proportion of these referrals being suitable for 
discharge following assessment and brief intervention. This has supported the 
delivery of improved bed occupancy levels, which in turn has impacted on the 
performance against the 4 hour Emergency Department standard with a significant 
reduction across the year in medical outliers and reduced use of escalation areas.  

Home First & Discharge to Assess 

In order to be responsive to patients needs and deliver against this principle the 
Trust has implemented the “Home First” service model, which responds to meet an 
urgent/crisis health and/or social care need for patients.  Home First is fundamental 
to the Intermediate Care Services and is a key interface between the Integrated 
Neighbourhoods, Community services and the Acute setting.  

The aim is to ensure that people are supported in the environment that is best suited 
to their own care needs and most likely to achieve positive outcomes.  “Home First” 
supports the intermediate care aims of; 

• Helping people avoid going into hospital unnecessarily;  

• Helping people to be as independent as possible after a stay in hospital; and 

• Preventing people from having to move into a residential home until 

absolutely necessary. 

The Home First service ensures individuals are supported through the most 
appropriate pathway with “home” always being the default position.  However, it is 
recognised that not all individuals requiring intermediate care can be managed 
safely in their own home. There is a need for an alternative community based bed, 
for a short period of time, to enable the appropriate interventions to be undertaken 
with an individual in order to enable them to return home safely; whether this is 
following an admission to hospital or to avoid the need for an admission in the first 
place.   

The focus of work over recent months in this area has been to continue to improve 
patient flow through a continued focus on reducing those patients with extended 
lengths of stay in hospital and monitored through Delayed Transfers Of Care 
(DTOC). Earlier discharge reduces the risks for individuals that can be associated 
with a long stay in hospital, but also assists with ensuring availability of beds in the 
hospital and reduces the risk of significant delays in the Emergency Department. 

In the period April to November 2017/18, the number of bed days lost was 7,244 
compared to 4,144 in the same period for 2018/19. This is a significant reduction 
and has assisted in keeping our bed occupancy below 90% since September. The 
most recent position show continued progress and is demonstrated to December 
2018 in the graph below. 
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Extensive Care  

Extensive Care is a fundamentally different way of organising care around the needs 
of a specific group of people which include all aspects of need: medical, social, 
psychological, functional, pharmaceutical and self-care.  

The aim of our extensive care service model is to work closely with people with long 
term conditions, complex needs and those who are intensive users of the health and 
social care system to move towards predicting exacerbations of underlying 
conditions, helping people improve the management of their condition and their 
overall general health and well-being with the aim of reducing the need for hospital 
admissions, and will also reduce the number of appointments that patients attend at 
different locations within our local health and social care system.  

The service includes health and well-being support that pulls together health and 
social support, including a range of community assets to ensure early intervention 
and proactive prevention. 

Taking on board the feedback from local primary care colleagues we have reviewed 
the scope or individuals offered the service in order to move towards a more 
preventative holistic service to avoid unnecessary non-elective attendances and 
admissions.   

At the start of this scheme the multi-agency design team agreed a number of key 
performance measures, for the patients who agreed to be part of the service.  These 
were to see for patients who were part of the service a:- 

• 14% reduction in ED attendances 

• 23% reduction in non-elective admissions 

• 4% reduction in out-patient attendances 

The performance in Q3 has been reported as follows for patients who were part of 
the service: 

• 45% reduction in ED attendances  

• 40% reduction in non-elective admissions  

• 21% reduction in out-patient attendances. 

In December 2018 the team commenced testing a new way of working with the 
hospital based respiratory team, providing early supported discharge for patients 
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diagnosed with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) as part of this 
approach it is anticipated that patients will have a reduced length of stay in an acute 
hospital bed. 

Advice & Guidance Services 

Advice & Guidance (A&G) services are intended to help ensure patients are seen 
and treated in the right place, at the right time as quickly as possible. They are 
intended to help GPs make a better and more informed decision on the most 
appropriate course of action for their patients.  

The GP Forward View sets out the need to break down barriers between primary 
and secondary care and improve GP access to consultant advice on potential 
referrals.  Better integration between primary and secondary care is also an integral 
part of the developing multispecialty community provider new care systems. A&G is 
one way the NHS can practically deliver these new ways of working. 

The expectation from NHS England is that all acute providers will have Advice & 
Guidance as a service offer across a minimum of 75% of referrals received at the 
Trust by the end of 2018-19.  Tameside & Glossop ICFT was compliant with this by 
the 1st March 2019. Feedback from our local primary care colleagues has been 
positively and has helped further build relationships, and providing an educational 
element to primary care. 

Single Point of Contact  

The establishment of a joint single point of contact (SPOC) for health and social care 
is a key element within our service model to develop integrated neighbourhood 
teams. This will ensure the first assessment is responsive, holistic and multi-
professional.  

The fundamental principle of the SPOC is to ensure that an individual is assessed 
for the level of care they require. It will also provide a centralised point of contact and 
appointment booking and scheduling for all our intermediate care services enabling 
better capture of data relating to activity and the capacity required to deliver this. 

The vision for this gateway is to provide a single access point to community health 
and social care services across Tameside and Glossop.  

The first two phases of the service model focus on integrating administrative support 
to the District Nursing neighbourhood teams, Integrated Urgent Care Team (IUCT) 
and the Adult Social Care neighbourhood teams are being delivered. As an 
Integrated Care NHS Trust, we have the opportunity to streamline administrative 
functions to ensure the provision of effective community services and the co-location 
of staff to develop a single point of contact. In doing this we aim to simplify access to 
services and enable access to the Neighbourhood Teams and Integrated Urgent 
Care Team for all new referrals and those in crisis. 

Health Inequalities Transformation Programmes 
In addition to supporting the delivery of the new models of care, neighbourhood 
teams are also undertaking work in collaboration with hospital based services across 
a range of areas which include;  

• Heart Disease 
• Frailty 
• Palliative Care and End of Life 
• Diabetes 
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• Respiratory. 

To a large extent this work has been informed by either the data provided by 
colleagues in public health who have produced neighbourhood insight profiles which 
are aimed at understanding the drivers behind urgent care admissions and 
premature mortality within our local economy or “RightCare” data. This information is 
produced by NHS England (NHSE) with one aim being to identify variation between 
demographically similar populations enabling them to adopt and implement optimal 
care pathways more effectively. This has been supplemented with information 
available at trust and national level which indicates that a focus is required on 
specific groups of people, such as the frail elderly. To reduce demand and acuity 
within hospitals these individuals require better supported to remain at home.  

Examples of two of our health inequalities transformation schemes are provided 
below. 

Frailty & Falls 
This work is taking place across the whole of Tameside and Glossop and is in line 
with the Greater Manchester Frailty Charter, indeed aspects of the work taking place 
in our locality relating to frailty have been cited as exemplar practice within Charter.  

We are continuing our collaboration with Health Innovation Manchester. The team 
are in the process of working with a technology company in the development of a 
digital falls assessment tool aimed at identifying those people over 65 year of age 
who are at most at risk of falling within the community. There were 3,108 falls within 
Tameside & Glossop footprint (CCG Improvement Assessment Framework 
November 2018). It is suggested that 20% of falls are serious, and NHS England 
attributing a cost of circa £7,500 to each of these. With appropriate risk assessments 
followed with appropriate interventions these can be reduced by 25 – 30%.  

Therefore there is an opportunity to prevent falls through the development of a digital 
standardised and effective approach to falls risk management. Following 
development of the tool it is intended to trial this in the Stamford Unit, with the 
anticipated benefit of reducing falls in this area, but also ensuring that those people 
being discharged from there would leave with their risk of falls having been identified 
and enabling a more responsive and effective discharge plan to be implemented. 

End of Life  
We have progressed the programme of work in relation to End of Life. At the 
beginning of January 2019, the Electronic Palliative Care Co-Ordination System 
(EPaCCS) became operational across Tameside & Glossop.  

The benefits for providing patient centred care using this system are significant and 
include for the patient:-  

• fewer unnecessary repeated ‘difficult’ conversations with professional in 
different settings. 

• reduced number of unnecessary emergency admissions to hospital. 
• increase of ensuring death in usual place of residence. 
• confidence that health professionals in multiple settings will know their 

current diagnosis, wishes and which professionals are already involved in 
their care. 
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and for the clinicians:- 

• automatic sharing of information (with consent of patient) with Out Of 
Hours Services colleagues and other settings. 

• standard template for information, increasing ease of use. 
• improved clinician productivity, due to wealth of information available. 
• all relevant clinicians have access to reasonably current data when the 

patient presents. 
• Less duplication, pulls through into consultation notes. 

The launch of the system has been facilitated through the joint working with primary 
care clinicians who will, in most instances, initiate the creation of the patient details 
on EPaCCS and enabled by the Trust’s IM&T team who have ensured that the tool 
is available within the EMIS system used in our community services. 

The programme has also linked with Digital Health Centre (DHC) to support the 
discharge of patients at the end of life to care homes and their own homes which is n 
informed by learning identified from occasions when this process has been 
problematic and not gone well. 

Neighbourhood Mental Health Programme 

A fundamental component of our integrated neighbourhood service offer for 
Tameside and Glossop is to improve and integrate mental health services to better 
support the needs of individuals in line with the Mental Health Five Year Forward 
View. This will be done by aligning all available resources within the locality including 
existing and new resources within the Single Commission with mental health 
transformational funding from Greater Manchester and the Care Together 
Programme.  

The overall aim of the IAPT plus service is to enable people with mild to moderate 
common mental health problems to access appropriate treatment to enable them to 
preserve or resume their optimal functioning in society. The interventions delivered 
by the service will be brief. The new name for the service is ‘Minds Matter’ and the 
service is currently producing literature for patients and staff to have available and 
on line for referrals. 

During 2018 there has been ongoing work to address the gaps in mental health 
services locally The initial work has been focused on addressing the gaps in 
provision.  

In 2018 the ICFT led on the procurement of the new mental health service – 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) plus service in the 
Neighbourhoods. The new service had its soft launch on the 1st October and has 
been working with the Neighbourhoods, Action Together, The Bureau, and Healthy 
Minds, Mind and our local GP practices and community groups to establish local 
bases in the Neighbourhoods. 

The new IAPT plus service will offer the following: 

• Drop-in support for people to discuss their emotional and mental 
wellbeing and options for support if needed 

• Support into Social Prescribing or community groups 
• One to one sessions to provide 
• Psychoeducation  
• Active monitoring/Guided learning sessions  
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• Counselling  
• Support for people waiting for Step2/3 and those stepping down 
• Delivering courses within the Self-care Education College  
• Referral for further assessment and interventions in line with pathway 

Person and Community Centred Approaches Programme Update 

The Person and Community Centred Approaches Programme (PCCA) works on the 
basis that in order to meet the challenges faced by the health and care system and 
of our population, we need to fundamentally reshape the relationship people have 
with their health, with the health and care system and with the people who work 
within it, moving away from passive receivership of health and care, towards active 
agency and collaboration with the system.  The PCCA Programme includes a series 
of projects that seek to address this challenge.  

The Social Prescribing Programme is now receiving around 200 referrals a month.  
There is a consistent improvement in participants’ wellbeing and a growing range of 
case studies to highlight the very real impact the service is having on people’s lives.  

Systems are also now in place to begin economic analysis to determine whether 
there is a decrease in activity amongst people receiving social prescribing support.   

Collaborative Practice – a model of connecting communities to gift their time to 
their local practice is now fully operational in 8 practices, with an additional practice 
commencing in January.  Over 230 people are engaged in supporting their practice 
to improve the health and wellbeing of their communities and are now responsible, 
along with practice staff for the emergence of a wide range of activities along with 
practical support offered to the practices.   

We have continued to use the 100 Day Challenge programmes approach to 
improvement. Three schemes are coming to a conclusion two focusing on frailty and 
one on respiratory care.  The teams have made significant progress and we will be 
able to report their outcomes in February 2019.  Work is now underway to look at 
how we develop a ‘Tameside and Glossop Approach’ to the 100 Day model.  

In addition we have progressed the following initiatives during 2018/19:- 

To improve patient safety  

• Continued to implement our Patient Safety Programme workstreams. This 
formed our “Signed up to Safety” campaign and is a key part of our 
Improvement programme to enhance the quality and safety of care provided. 
The workstreams are: 

o Pressure Ulcer Prevention 
o Early recognition of the deteriorating patient and managing the acutely unwell 
o Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury 
o Improved nutritional care and hydration  
o Reduction of harm from Venous Thrombosis 
o High Risk Medicines and Safe Medicine Management  
o Infection prevention 
o Local Safety Standards for invasive procedures  
o Maternity services governance  
o Results governance  
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• We have implemented a system of patient bed mattresses which are able to 
be adapted to provide additional pressure relieve if required without the 
need to transfer the patient or wait the delivery of specialist equipment.  

• Continued to implement best practice with regard to Infection prevention and 
delivered a health-economy wide programme to enable awareness of good 
hand hygiene with patient relatives and carers to improve the rate of 
acquired infections. 

• Continued to implement our policies and ensure best practice relating to 
harm free care including Implemented revised Care bundles with increased 
surveillance to improve compliance with clinically effective care pathways for 
Sepsis, Acute Kidney Injury, and hypercalcemia. 

• Continued to increase our incident reporting rate and embed the incident 
reporting culture across the organisation, whilst ensuring that lessons are 
learnt.   

• Continued to work across the Health Economy to promote best practice in 
relation to Pressure ulcer prevention and management  

• Continued to undertake Mortality reviews on every death in hospital.   

• Sharing our learning through a range of media including our “Closing the 
Loop” newsletter and our newsletter for Learning from Deaths. 

• Completed implementation of our locally developed electronic record in the 
emergency department. which was developed with the clinicians to ensure 
effective capture of data and recording of key measures is accurate and 
timely and help us improve the escalation, management, discharge and 
handover of patients 

To improve our effectiveness  

• Continues to Implement and develop initiatives to enable admission 
avoidance through Digital health. 

• Continued to implement our “on the move on the mend” process to 
encourage patients to be more active in preparation for discharge including 
our pledge to “end PJ paralysis”. 

• Expanded our GP streaming to reduce the pressure on the emergency 
department   

• Continued to deliver our Health Care assistant - Care Certificate training 
programme for new recruits and existing staff.  

• Recruited additional New Trainee Nurse Associates to the Trust  programme  

• Continued Implementation of our Medicines Optimisation action plan through 
our integrated Medicines optimisation group which now spans the health 
economy 

• Continued implementation of a Clinical handover policy and professional 
standards to improve consistency of the clinical handover process and 
improve continuity of care.  

• Implemented Co-location of District Nursing  and Social services teams in all 
five neighbourhoods to improve the integrated working. 
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To improve our responsiveness   

• Implemented monthly review/reset weeks to ensure that issues relating to 
patient flow are optimised  

• Continued to implement and expand our range of initiatives aimed at 
admission avoidance including Digital health services to provide remote 
consultation with nursing homes and other agencies to provide advice and 
clinical review and develop links with social care provider tele-healthcare 
provision.   

• Continued to implement the Home first initiative to ensure wherever possible 
patients are managed in their home environment wherever possible. 

• Continued to implement and expand the provision and scope of the 
extensive care service. 

• Completed implementation of our locally developed electronic record in the 
emergency department; which was developed with the clinicians to ensure 
effective capture of data and recording of key measures is accurate and 
timely and help us improve the escalation, management, discharge and 
handover of patients 

• Continued work to improve the percentage of discharge summaries issued in 
2 days for urgent and 5 days for routine 

• Continued to implement and further strengthen our clinical coding service 
team and continue to deliver our data quality assurance programme 

To improve our caring 

• Continued to implement values based recruitment for all staff.  

• Continued to implement and strengthen the use of Volunteer dining 
companions in selected wards to support meal times 

• Continued to reinforce the “Hello my name is campaign”  and appoint further  
Kate Granger professionals as champions of these values 

• Continued implementation of the dementia strategy with increased dementia 
awareness 

• Continued to deliver on our patient and service user experience strategy 

• Increased the number of wards where Dining companions are available 

To ensure we are well led  

• Continued to implement our Quality Improvement Strategy  

• Continue to deliver and develop our programme of service transformation 
and Service integration across Trust services 

• Continued to run streamlined Nurse Recruitment process as a “one stop 
shop”. Shortening the time to undertake Nurse Recruitment.   

• Continued to implement our “If in doubt speak out - Speak out” campaign to 
remind staff that they are able to raise concerns or issues of concern.  

• Continue to ensure the presence of our “Freedom to Speak up Guardian” 
and the associated reporting from them is captured and informs the 
organisation.  

• Continued implemented a Mandatory training improvement programme. 
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• Continue to strengthened the Finance function to ensure managers and 
directors receive high quality information to ensure all resources are used 
effectively and efficiently in order to deliver safe high quality care  

• Delivered our cost improvement programme and used the “Model Hospital” 
to assess our cost effectiveness of services  

• Continued to implement our healthy eating and sugar free initiatives. 
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How we performed on Quality in 2018/19 

This section indicates how some of the Quality Initiatives were progressed during 

2018/19 and outlines the performance against the priorities and goals we set 

ourselves in 2017/18 Quality Account.   

The following symbols have been used to identify our performance and whether we 

achieved our goals.  

Achieving our aim/goals 

Improving Performance 

No change in Performance  

Deteriorating Performance 

Significant Concerns about Performance 

National Benchmarking data used in the sections below has been sourced from 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ unless otherwise indicated. 
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Patient Safety 

Patient Safety Programme 

The Trust has continued to use the Patient Safety Programme as a focus for 
ensuring quality improvement. Each work stream has agreed performance 
monitoring metrics in place to identify improvement and how well we are protecting 
patients from avoidable harm. 

• Pressure Ulcer prevention, improved Tissue Viability  
• Earlier recognition of the deteriorating patient and management of the acutely 

unwell (including improved communication/ handover).  
• Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  
• Improved nutritional care and hydration.  
• Reducing harm from Venous Thrombosis.  
• Reducing harm from high risk medicines and providing safe and effective 

medicines management.  
• Improving peri-operative outcomes through safer surgery.  
• Infection prevention. 
• Maternity  
• Results Governance  

Performance against the 10 work streams are captured in this part of the Quality 
account with further metrics being developed for each work stream for 19/20.  

We continue to produce monthly know your safety data packs which provide 
speciality level range of safety metrics with the ambition of providing a source of 
information to help drive local quality improvement and consistent measurement.  

We will continue to embed and develop these work streams and work to further 
improve our performance during 2019/20. 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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The Safety Thermometer is a monitoring tool for inpatients areas including 

Community Wards to identify the provision of harm free, safe care in relation to 4 

Patient safety areas of Pressure ulcers, Falls, Catheter acquired urinary tract 

infections and Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE). 

It is well documented that health care has high levels of system harm; the Safety 

Thermometer tool is unique in identifying the impact of collective harms within the 

ward areas and attempts to measure this as a composite score across 4 key areas 

to understand the impact and support improvements to deliver harm free care to our 

patients.  

The thermometer captures a snap shot sample of data from 100% of patients on 

sample day in order to attempt to suggest the prevalence of harm across those 

patient groups sampled.  

We pledged to improve patient safety by increasing the percentage of harm free 

care from our revised baseline of 98.5% with the aim of harm free care for every 

patient. We did not consistently achieve this but achieved an average of 98.0% in 

2018/19. 

New Harm free care graph for all 4 harms  

The performance data is reported monthly and included in our board reports 

available on the Trust website. We continue to aim for our stretch target for Harm 

free care to be consistently at or better than 98.5% all new harms in 2019/20.    

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 
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T&G Integrated Care - Safety Thermometer New Harm Free Care Performance 

Pressure Ulcer prevention 

We pledged to improve patient safety by reducing the number of avoidable Inpatient 

(including community wards) acquired pressure ulcers and we will reduce the 

incidence of pressure sores Grade 2 and above. 

In 2018/19 we aimed to ensure less than a 1.5% incidence rate recorded using the 

Safety Thermometer, which we have achieved with an average of 1.19%. 

Within our local quality initiatives for 2018/19 we committed to a work programme to 

improve pressure care further across both Acute and Community service settings.   

We have rolled out the Sskin care bundle and have achieved reductions in reported 

harm levels. In 2018-19 the Trust has sustained no category 4 pressure ulcers. 

Implemented a 48 hour review of incidents which has reduced the number of RCA’s 

required. 

We have continued to reduce the level of reported harm with avoidable harm in 

2016-17 standing at 56% dropping to 19% in 2017-18. In 2018/19 overall reported 

Trust harm (Hospital & Community) is currently at 18%.  
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Catheters & New Urinary Tract infection (UTI) Performance  
We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction in catheter associated urinary 

tract infection ensuring 99% of patients receive no avoidable UTI. 

In 2018/19 we achieved this with an average 0.21% incidence of Inpatient (including 

community wards) acquired Catheter Acquired Urinary Tract infections. We aim to 

maintain or improve on this performance in 2019/20 

Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  

We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction inpatient (including community 

wards) falls resulting in harm ensuring less than 1% incidence resulting in 99% of 

patients receiving harm free care.  

In 2018/19 we achieved this with an average 0.42% incidence of falls resulting in 

harm. In January 2019 we have revised all of our falls documentation including 

assessments and care plans. We have involved front line staff in the production of 

these and used the ‘you said, we did approach’. 
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We have developed a falls group in the Stamford Unit to focus on falls prevention 

specifically in that area due to an increase in incidents of falls, since the group 

started and have been working through the action plan there has been a reduction in 

incidences of falls 

A clinical audit and a discussion with colleagues revealed that some Junior Doctors 

lacked in confidence when reviewing patients post fall and a post falls proforma was 

produced which is in line with NICE Guidance  

The overall incidences of falls per month has been decreasing throughout the year 

and Q3 2018/2019 showed a 15% decrease compared to Q3 in 2017/2018 and a 

28% decrease compared to 2016/2017 

Our Patient Safety programme includes a work stream on earlier recognition of the 

deteriorating patient and management of the acutely unwell. This workstream 

involves many areas of clinical care. We have specifically focussed on the 

management of Sepsis, Acute kidney injury and Hyperkalemia.  

Sepsis 

Whilst we have consistently achieving the Sepsis CQUIN, we have further 

developed our capability by implementing a Community sepsis screening bundle. 

We have developed and implemented a Sepsis link nurse programme to ensure 

consistent awareness and training. Implemented Sepsis boxes in all clinical areas to 

ensure consistent availability and easy access to the required treatment if required. 

Sepsis prevention training is delivered to all Junior Doctors on induction and all 

clinical staff on Trust induction  

Acute Kidney Injury  (AKI) 

A clinical audit in 2017 showed that we needed to make improvements in AKI 

management, a number of improvements were introduced and there was a re audit 

at the end of 2018, these resulted in significant improvements: 

• Urine dip compliance increased by 32% making us 93% compliant  
• NEWS score compliance increased by 13% making us 100% compliant  
• Sepsis screen compliance increased by 26% making us 100 complaint  
• Lactate measuring compliance increased by 26% making us 90% compliant  
• Fluid balance chart completion increased by 39% making us 100% complaint  
• Fluid assessment compliance increased by 41% making us 80% complaint  
• Stopping nephrotoxic medications compliance increased by 32% making us 

100% compliant  
• 24 hour pharmacy review compliance increased by 12% making us 80% 

complaint  
• AKI prevention training delivered to all Junior Doctors on induction and all 

clinical staff on trust induction  
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Hyperkalaemia  

Feedback from Junior Doctors and mortality reviews showed that there was a lack of 

consistency with the management of hyperkalaemia in line with national guidance, a 

clinical audit was commenced and confirmed this.  We developed a hyperkalaemia 

care bundle in line with national guidance and training was provided to all Junior 

Doctors and is now included in their induction.  As a consequence of this when the 

Patient Safety Alert was published in August 2018 relating to timely management of 

hyperkalaemia- we had already implemented all of the requirements before this was 

received. 
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Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE) Risk Assessment 

We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction in harm from VTE through 

appropriate risk assessment and thromboprophylaxis for all inpatients (including 

Community wards). 

In 2018/19 we achieved this with an average 0.26% incidence of number of new 

VTE risk assessments not being completed using the Safety Thermometer data. 

The Trust also records assessment of all inpatients (including Community wards) 

requiring a VTE risk assessment on Lorenzo, and this data is produced by ward to 

ensure that compliance is monitored daily. The tables below demonstrate the 

continued year on year improvement where we are now consistently recording over 

98% compliance with these risk assessments 

2018/19 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Average 

Recorded 
Risk 

assessment 
98.9% 98.9% 98.8% 99.0% 98.5% 99.0% 98.7% 99.0% 98.0% 98.5% 98.1% 98.1% 98.6% 

Target 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 

2017/18 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Average 

Recorded 
Risk 

assessment 
97.3% 97.8% 97.8% 98.8% 98.5% 98.4% 98.6% 98.2% 98% 98.4% 98.9% 99.1% 98.3% 

Target 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 98% 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust consider that this 

data is as described for the following reasons. We have taken the assertive action to 

ensure compliance with the required standard.  

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 
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• Having a VTE workstream in place as part of our Patient Safety Programme 
to monitor and drive improved provision of the correct care to prevent VTE 
for all patients and the avoidance of hospital acquired VTE.  

• Reviewed the process for recording to ensure correct data collection 
guidance is followed for patient  

• Ward based system in place to ensure completion of VTE assessment and 
electronic recording. 

• Continued reinforcement and training of medical, nursing and administration 
staff in assessment and data collection.  

• Daily compliance data provided at ward level with follow up visits by VTE 
nurse to drive compliance. 

VTE risk assessments
Q1 2017-

18 
Q2 2017-

18 
Q3 2017-

18 
Q4 2017-

18 
Q1 2018-

19 
Q2 2018-

19 
Q3 2018-

19 

Rank in 
most 

recent 
reporting 

period

THFT Risk assessment 
rate 

97.7% 98.6% 98.4% 98.8% 98.9% 98.9% 98.6% 15 

Lowest Nationally 51.4% 71.9% 76.1% 67.0% 75.8% 68.7% 54.9% n/a 

Highest Nationally 100% 100% 100.0% 100% 100% 100% 100.0% n/a 

National average 95.1% 95.2% 95.4% 95.2% 95.6% 95.5% 95.7% n/a 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 

action described above to improve this indicator and so the quality of its services 

by the implementation of a Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key 

stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust board.  

Performance is expected to continue to improve with continued year on year 

improvement demonstrable in 2019/20. 
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Infection Prevention and Control – MRSA bacteraemia  
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 

environment and protecting them from avoidable harm 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust aimed to comply with 

the NHSE ‘zero tolerance’ trajectory for MRSA bacteraemia.  

The Trust continues to systematically implement its agreed policies and procedures   

to minimise the occurrence of Service Acquired MRSA cases and has a zero 

tolerance approach to these. In year the Trust recorded 6 Hospital cases and 5 

community cases, of these 2 hospital and 1 community have been identified as 

having lapses in care that could have led to infection.  

All cases of MRSA infection undergo a detailed post infection review and 

multidisciplinary team discussion to identify how and why the infection occurred, to 

ensure learning and to further reduce harm. The Trust has robust systems and 

processes in place to reduce harm however, where it is recognised that a change to 

practice is needed steps will be taken to ensure full compliance with the zero 

tolerance approach.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust aims to continue to 
achieve a reduction in the rate of numbers of MRSA Bacteraemia working to 
achieving ‘zero’. We will improve our performance by a number of actions included 
in the Trust annual infection prevention programme including: 

• Continuous surveillance of MRSA bacteraemia throughout the WHE (Whole Health 
Economy) with prompt identification, isolation and monitoring of MRSA bacteraemia 
patients 

• Review of all (WHE) MRSA bacteraemia cases via the post infection review process 
to provide assurance on stakeholder participation and learning from ‘lapses in care’ 

• Multidisciplinary WHE education and training focusing on hand hygiene, Aseptic Non 
Touch Technique (ANTT) and care of invasive devices 

• Appropriate management of antibiotics

• Working alongside Tissue viability to improve wound care

• Working alongside estates and facilities to improve the environment and cleanliness

• Updating our MRSA policy and screening regime to ensure it is fit for practice
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Infection Prevention and Control – C difficile 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust aimed to achieve or 

better the CDI target of 46 hospital attributable (post 3 day) cases. For this last year 

2018/19 we are on track to achieve this with 19 reported hospital cases with five 

cases having lapses in care that may have led to infection, where opportunity to 

improve practice have been identified action has been taken.  

In community services in 2018/19 we identified 41 cases with four cases having 

lapses in care that may have led to infection against an NHSI trajectory of 51 which 

is an improvement on 2017/18.  

The national benchmarking identifies how the Trust compares nationally for 
inpatients:  

 Rate of C difficile per 100,000 bed days for patient aged 2 years and over 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Rank in most 
recent 

reporting 
period 

National rate 17.4 14.7 15.0 14.9 13.2 14.0 n/a 

Tameside  
(Trust apportioned) 

21.6 32.5 24.4 12.7 20.4 15.0 105/153 

Best performing  
nationally 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 n/a 

Worst performing  
nationally 

31.2 37.1 62.6 66.0 82.7 91.0 n/a 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 
data is as described because of the work undertaken through the Trust annual 
infection prevention programme and collaboration across the Whole Health 
Economy to reduce Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI’s). 
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Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust will continue to 
assertively progress the reduction in HCAI’s and will proactively aim to reduce the 
avoidable infection. 

This will be achieved by a number of actions included in the Trust infection 
prevention annual programme including: 

• Continuous surveillance of CDI throughout the WHE 
• Prompt identification, isolation and monitoring of CDI patients 
• Strict Antimicrobial  prescribing  
• Review of all Whole Health Economy CDI cases via a process which gives 

assurance on stakeholder participation and learning from ‘lapses in care’ 
• Multidisciplinary education and training focusing on CDI prevention and management 
• Instigation of environmental actions (infrastructure and cleaning) to prevent any 

indirect / direct transmission  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust aims to continue to 
achieve a reduction in the rate of numbers of C difficile infection cases based on 
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Infection Prevention and Control – MSSA and E –Coli bacteraemia 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a 
safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

E Coli  

MSSA

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust also monitor and aim 

through best practice to reduce infections associated with MSSA and gram negative 

blood steam infections, initially focusing on E Coli Bacteraemia. 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Acute Acute Acute Community Acute Community Acute Community 

E Coli 
Bacteraemia: 

27 30 25 144 17 118 23 163 

MSSA 
Bacteraemia: 

6 15 9 30 10 34 9 24 

In 2018/19 the Trust has reported further reductions in the number of infections for 

both E Coli and MRSA in the hospital, but not in community settings a 38% increase 

from those reported in 2017/18. However, there has been reduced incidence in both 

Hospital and community settings of MSSA infections with 24 compared to 44 in 

2017/18.  

The Trust expectation was to continue a reduction of MSSA on those reported in 

2017-18 and a 10% reduction in E-Coli bacteraemia across the whole health 

economy in line with the national ambition by the end of 2019. This has been 

achieved for MSSA but not for E-Coli. We will continue to work to reduce further the 

infection rates by utilising the same actions as those employed to reduce our rates of 

MRSA bacteraemia (as noted above). 



Annual Quality Account 2018-19 Final Draft   Page 66 of 104

Incident Reporting 

We aim to increase the number of reported incidents whilst reducing harm associated 
with these.  

The NRLS identifies that organisations who report high levels of incidents are likely to 

be safer organisations, since the certainty that incidents will be reported is higher. We 

therefore pledged to improve patient safety by ensuring incident our reporting rate will 

increase and result in the Trust and being identified as having a good incident 

reporting culture.  

The National benchmarking data now groups all acute non specialist Trusts together 

and activity is benchmarked per 1000 bed days. We have maintained our reported rate 

of incident to NRLS in 2018/19 in the reporting period April – September 2018 and we 

continue to be in the top 10% of Trusts for incident reporting and the underlying 

trajectory for the Trust is increasing year on year.  

However, the reported levels of harm reported have been affected and increased due 

to decisions made by the Trust to revise and increase the harm categories for deep 

tissue injuries to moderate harm from Nov 2017 and also increase the grading of 

fractured Neck of femur to severe in April 2018 in line with national audit 

recommendations. These changes were reported through the Trust Governance 

processes and agreed with our Commissioners and notified to Regulators. 

These increases are reflected in the information published from the NRLS which 

demonstrates that the number of and percentage of incidents reported with moderate, 

severe harm or death has increase but been maintained in the reporting period. 

However we believe this is a consequence of the revised coding used rather than 

increased actual harm. 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm. 
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Reporting rate incidents per 
1000 bed days published by 

the NRLS 

October 
2015 – 

March 2016 

April - 
September 

2016

October 
2016 – 
March 
2017

April – 
September 

2017 

October 
2017 – 
March 
2018

April – 
September 

2018

Rank in 
most 

recent 
reporting 

period 
Tameside & Glossop 
Integrated Care NHS 

Foundation Trust  
51.04 57.29 38.28 62.47 59.68 62.30 12/131 

Highest value for Acute Non 
specialist Trusts 

75.91 71.81 68.97 111.69 124 107.4 n/a 

Lowest rate for Acute Non 
specialist Trusts 

14.77 21.15 23.13 23.47 24.19 13.1 n/a 

% of incidents with Moderate, 
Severe and death reported 

October 
2015 – 

March 2016 

April - 
September 

2016

October 
2016 – 
March 
2017

April – 
September 

2017 

October 
2017 – 
March 
2018

April – 
September 

2018

Rank in 
most 

recent 
reporting 

period 
Tameside & Glossop 
Integrated Care NHS 
Foundation Trust % 

1.3 0.9 2.2 2.2 3.3 3.0 44/131 

Highest % for Acute Non 
specialist Trusts 

15 11.6 11.3 11.1 7.0 0.3 n/a 

Lowest % for Acute Non 
specialist Trusts 

0.5 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.2 6.4 n/a 

National Average % 3.1 2.8 2.6 2.3 2.1 2.4 n/a 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data 

is as described because of the assertive action taken to increase the number of 

incidents reported and the move towards electronic reporting and the use of incident 

trigger lists to ensure standardised and consistent reporting of issues across all areas 

of the organisation. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following 

action to improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation 

of a Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 

monitored by the Trust Board. The Trust has as part of this continued to reinforce 

incident reporting, which will ensure feedback to incident reporters on action taken.  
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Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators

NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury

See individual 
indicators below

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust made goals regarding 
other key patient safety indicators, progress of which is identified in the table below 
and monitored through the Dr Foster intelligence tools used by the Trust. 

Indicator 
Observed 
Rate per 

1000 

Dr Foster 
rating 

Accidental puncture or laceration  0.6 Lower risk

Deaths after Surgery  89.4 
Risk as 

expected

Deaths in low-risk diagnosis groups  0.1 Lower risk

Decubitus Ulcer  61.2 
Higher 

risk 

Infections associated with central line   0 
Risk As 

expected

Obstetric trauma - caesarean delivery 3.1 
Risk As 

expected

Obstetric trauma – vaginal delivery with instrument 57.8 
Risk As 

expected

Obstetric trauma – vaginal delivery without 
instrument 

36.3 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative Haemorrhage or Haematoma  0.9 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative hip fracture   0.1 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative Physiologic and Metabolic 
Derangement  

0.0 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative pulmonary embolism or deep vein 
thrombosis  

3.0 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative respiratory failure  1.6 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative sepsis  3.4 
Risk As 

expected

Postoperative wound dehiscence  0.4 
Risk As 

expected
Dr Foster As at Feb 2019 

We pledged to implement and deliver the Trust Safety plan for 2017/18 measuring 

and monitoring safety objectives across the Trust. The metrics reported in this 

Quality account are evidence of this achievement. 
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Patient Experience - Friends & Family Test

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care 

The Friends and Family test was introduced to collect Patient feedback by asking 

“How likely are you to recommend our ward, department or service to your friends and 

family if they needed similar care or treatment?” The Trust performance is reported to 

the Trust Board monthly.  

We pledged in 2018/19 to ensure that we would improve our Friends & Family Test 

response and specifically manage the FFT within the Emergency department to 

achieve a 20% response rate and a >90% positive response.  

Whilst the Trust FFT position has improved overall, and is shown on the tables below, 

we have not achieved our pledge throughout 2018/19 in relation to the Emergency 

department. Check year end performance. Action has been taken to improve this 

process with the introduction of patient experience ambassadors. Through the Chief 

Nurse a patient experience ambassador has been identified in all clinical areas of the 

Integrated Care organisation. A ‘role description’ is agreed with the aim of enabling 

these champions on a regular basis to better implement feedback systems and work 

more closely with clinical areas to listen to feedback and improve services. 
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Our patient experience strategy and revised expectations are identified in the 
objectives set expectations for all areas to achieve. 

National Benchmarking demonstrates how the Trust compares nationally 
Inpatient Friends and Family test 

Friends and Family Inpatient 
response rate 

Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

THFT response rate 29% 18% 24% 30% 26% 

Rank 63/167 119/166 95/166 60/167 90/167 

Worst performing trust 2% 2.1% 1.8% 1.9% 0.9% 

Best performing Trust 109% 108% 100% 100% 100% 

England average 24.6% 22.2% 24.0% 24.6% 24.6% 

Friends and Family Inpatient 
percentage recommended 

THFT percentage recommended 98% 99% 98% 96% 98% 

Rank 55/167 21/166 50/166 96/167 55/167 

Worst performing trust 80% 81% 76% 76% 77% 

Best performing Trust 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

England average 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 

Accident and Emergency Friends and Family test 

Friends and Family A&E 
response rate 

Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

THFT response rate 17% 18% 15% 15% 21% 

Rank 46/137 37/136 56/136 56/136 20/136 

Worst performing trust  0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Best performing Trust  37.0% 32.1% 31.1% 35.6% 37.1% 

England average 12.1% 11.4% 11.9% 12.2% 12.3 

Friends and Family A&E 
percentage recommended  

THFT percentage recommended 85% 86% 86% 84% 86% 

Rank 93/137 74/136 85/136 89/136 84/136 

Worst performing trust  63% 43% 60% 57% 56% 

Best performing Trust  100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

England average 87% 86% 86% 85% 86% 

* = Joint Ranks 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 

data is as described because of the assertive improvement programme implemented 

in place and the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust being provided to the 

standards expected more consistently and the assertive work of the patient 

experience team with clinical colleagues to ensure that receipt of feedback is 

prioritized.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 

following action to further improve this indicator and so the quality of its services 

through the continued implementation of its Patient and Service User Strategy and 

agreed objectives which are reported through to Trust Board.   
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Complaints and Concerns Monitoring

The percentage of total cases closed within an agreed time or negotiated extension 

of time frame is 95% at the end of March 2019. 

We have continued to refine the way we handle Complaints and PALS cases in 

order that we become more responsive to patient and carers that raise issues with 

the complaints and PALS service. The clinical and operational teams continue to 

streamline their processes to ensure where increasing divisional ownership and 

management rather than being reliant on the corporate centrally based service. 

• We have continued to aim to provide person centred and real time response 
management.  

• We have continued to show Openness and Candour in the way we work and 
through the responses we provide. We believe this is evident in number of 
cases reviewed and accepted by the Parliamentary Health Service 
Ombudsman (PHSO).  

• All complaints are triaged for harm and aligned, if applicable to the Serious 
Incident and have an escalated investigation process.  

• We continue to recommend and undertake face to face resolution meetings 
which are recorded and a copy of the meeting provided for complainants to 
keep.  

• We offer apology and appropriate redress for harm in line with the PHSO 
redress principles.  

• We use the learning from complaints to provide our patient stories and inform 
the organisational development and learning through our Governance 
Processes across the organisation. 

Our responsiveness to concerns and complaints has been maintained but was 

impacted by some staff absence as demonstrated below 

We have continued to maintain and manage the number of ongoing cases. 

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care 
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The table above shows the average number of ongoing complaints and concerns not 

yet responded to on a monthly basis. We did not achieve the expected reduction to 

80 ongoing cases as our average in 2018/19 due to staff sickness but would aim to 

achieve this in 2019/20. 

We pledged to reduce the number of KO41 complaints per 1000 patient contacts to 

below 1.15. We have continued to achieve this in 2018/19 and have improved on the 

ratio of complaints per 1000 patient contacts compared to 2017/18. 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Number of K041 
complaints received 403 450 532 445 450 468 444 

Complaints per 1000 
patient contacts across 
the Trust including 
community services  

1.15 0.95 1.11 0.80 0.52 0.58 0.52 

Month 
Apr-
18 

May-
18 

Jun-
18 

Jul-
18 

Aug-
18 

Sep-
18 

Oct-
18 

Nov-
18 

Dec-
18 

Jan-
19 

Feb-
19 

Mar-
19 

Complaints 
per 1000 
contacts 

0.63 0.34 0.46 0.48 0.56 0.43 0.45 0.64 0.50 0.78 0.65 0.31 
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Compliments  

We pledged to increase in the number of recorded compliments per 1000 patient 

contacts by 25% from the baseline of 4092 in April 2016.  

We continue to implement more consistent and robust recording methods of 

capturing this data and the compliments recorded at ward level. These continue on 

an upward trend throughout the year. We have achieved this pledge by continuing to 

increase the number of compliments received. In 2018/19 we captured a total of 

14198 compliments. This equates to 31.98 compliments for every K041 complaint 

received. This is an increase of 31% since 16/17 baseline and 7% increase on 

17/18. 

Apr-
18 

May-
18 

Jun-
18 

Jul-
18 

Aug-
18 

Sep-
18 

Oct-
18 

Nov-
18 

Dec-
18 

Jan-
19 

Feb-
19 

Mar-
19 

Number of 
compliments 
received 

951 1043 899 848 1069 1022 1310 1225 2002 1076 1412 1341

Compliments 
per 1000 
patient Trust 
contacts  

13.64 14.20 12.64 11.59 15.46 15.04 16.89 16.30 31.28 14.41 20.72 19.18

Compliments to 
complaints 
ratio 

21.61 41.72 27.24 24.23 27.41 35.24 37.43 25.52 62.56 18.55 32.09 60.95

In 2019/20 the Trust will aim to reduce further the rate of complaints received and 

improve the percentage of responses provided within an agreed timeframe whilst 

maintaining the low rate of comeback letters, and improving the Compliments to 

complaints ratio. 
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Responsiveness to the patients personal needs 

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care 

The 2018 in patient survey results are not yet available. The results of the 2017 In-

patient Survey are based on responses from patients discharged in August 2017 

and January 2018 and reported in June 2018. 

Section 2015 Survey 2016 Survey 2017 survey 2018 Survey
The A&E department About the same About the same About the same 

Results not 
available at the 

time of 
publication

Waiting list and Planned 
admissions 

About the same About the same About the same 

Waiting to get a bed on a 
ward 

Worse About the same About the same 

The Hospital and Ward About the same About the same About the same 

Doctors Worse About the same About the same 

Nurses About the same About the same About the same 

Care and Treatment About the same About the same About the same 

Operations and procedures About the same About the same About the same 

Leaving Hospital About the same About the same About the same 

Overall view and experience About the same About the same About the same 

The overall scores for the 2017 Survey remained similar to the previous year and 

remained in the “about the same” category, however, we pledged in our Patient and 

Service User Experience Strategy to improve the scores in the inpatient survey for  

• Reduction in disturbance from noise at night  
o Improved scores for noise at night compared to the previous year for both 

noise by Patients (3%) points and Staff (6%)  
• Improved levels of support at mealtimes are not specifically reported in the results 

summary. But we have reported earlier on the increase in Dining companions 
training and availability this year  

• Improved involvement in decision making  

o Improved scores of 1% compared to previous year are noted 

Benchmarking scores  

NHS England provides benchmarking scores which are demonstrated below for the 

Trust.  

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
2016/17 

(adjusted) 
2017/18 

Tameside score 69.3 73.7 75.2 72.2 72.6  75.7 75.3 

England Average score 75.6 76.5 76.9 76.6   77.3  78.0 78.4 

NHS England provide the following explanation of the scores.  

The scores are out of 100. A higher score indicates better performance: if patients reported all aspects of their 

care as "very good" we would expect a score of about 80, a score around 60 indicates "good" patient experience. 

The overall score is the average of the domain scores.   

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 
data is as described because of the feedback received from Patients, and the 
improvement achieved due to the improvement programmes implemented related to 
patient experience and safety.   

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 
following action to further improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by 
the continued implementation of its Trust wide quality improvement programme 
agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust board. 
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NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury

We pledged to achieve all access standards – we have not achieved all of these. 

Performance against the access standards is reported monthly in the Trust board 

papers. The reported position for March 2019 is shown below.  

Referral-to-Treatment  

In this year’s Quality account we identified our improvement programme to ensure 
we met the RTT requirements. The Trust met the national Referral-to-Treatment 
standard in each month from August 2016, and has continued to do this throughout 
2018/19. 

The Four-hour Target 

The Trust did not meet the emergency access four-hour standard of 95% in any 
quarter of 2018/19. However, performance has improved during 2018/19 and has 
become more consistent. We believe this is in part due to the transformation 
schemes implemented to avoid hospital admission and enable earlier discharged 
delivered through our service transformation programmes described earlier.  Our 
performance overall against the 95% standard continues to be a national challenge 
but we have performed well compared to other Trusts locally and nationally. In 
achieving 91.71% overall we have routinely been ranked 30th out of 133 Trusts.  

Six week Diagnostic target 

We have met the requirement throughout the year and maintained our processes for 
managing breeches of this target. 

Target Actual 4-mth Actual Current 1-mth

18/19 YTD Trend Month Period F'cast

4-hour wait*

≥95% 91.68% 87.09%

Type 1 activity NA 86.10% 79.74% NA NA

Waiting times

≥92% 92.35% 92.43%

RTT waits- incompletes (>52 weeks) 0 0 0

A&E

HAS compliance ≥95% 93.0% 94.2%

Notify to Handover (30-60mins) ≤30 656 59

Notify to Handover (>60mins) ≤10 88 6

Key Performance Indicators

Type 1 and Type 3 activity

18-week incomplete*
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Cancer indicators - including 62 Day cancer performance:

The monitoring of Cancer performance is undertaken by the Trust board through its 

routine reporting process. The performance indicators are set to identify best 

practice minimum standards to ensure that patients receive care and treatment in 

the most effective way. With respect to the Cancer performance criteria we believe 

that this has been achieved in 2018/19. 

Measure 
Target

% 

YTD 

% 

Two-week wait 93 97 

Breast symptomatic target 93 98 

31-day target 96 99 

Subsequent 31-day target (Drug  treatments) 98 100 

Subsequent 31-day target (Surgery) 94 96 

62-day target (CWT) 85 90 

Upgrade 62-day target 85 86 

NHS Cancer Screening Programmes(62-days) 90 100 

Cancer composite indicator number achieved out of 8  

The Trust aims to maintain compliance with all national and local performance 

standards as identified in the Trust Objectives for 2019/20.

NHS Outcome framework indicators 
All domains 
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Staff Survey Results (including Friends and Family Test) 

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care 

Staff Survey Results 2018 

The 2018 NHS Staff Survey was completed from September to December 2018. 

The results are presented as themes and questions from the questions asked within 

the survey, and in the context of the best, average and worst results for similar 

organisations where appropriate. The results for Tameside and Glossop Integrated 

Care NHS Foundation Trust are benchmarked against 43 other organisations within 

the Combined Acute and Community Trust category. 

The ICFT has previously undertaken a census approach using a random sample of 

staff; during 2018 the Trust undertook a full census with the survey being sent to all 

staff to complete. The number of completed questionnaires was 1,517 providing a 

response rate of 40%. The average response rate for Combined Acute and 

Community Trusts 41% 

1. Overall Themed Results  

Theme 
T&G ICFT 

2018 
Average 

Best Results for 
combined 
acute and 

community trusts 
(CA&CT) 

Worst Results for 
combined 
acute and 

community trusts 
(CA&CT) 

Equality & Diversity 9.1 9.2 9.5 8.3 

Health & Wellbeing 5.9 5.9 6.4 5.5 

Immediate Managers 6.8 6.8 7.3 6.5 

Morale 6.1 6.2 6.5 5.7 

Quality of Appraisals 5.4 5.4 6.2 4.5 

Quality of Care 7.6 7.4 7.9 7.1 

Safe Environment –Bullying 
& Harassment 

7.9 8.1 8.6 7.4 

Safe Environment – 
Violence 

9.5 9.5 9.7 9.3 

Safety Culture 6.6 6.7 7.1 6.3 

Staff Engagement 7.1 7.0 7.4 6.6 
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Indicator 21. The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust during the 
reporting period who would recommend the trust as a provider of care to their family or 
friends. 

Trust 
Score 
2018

Trust 
Score 
2017

Average
for combined 

acute and 
community trusts 

(CA&CT) 

Best score for 
combined 
acute and 

community trusts 
(CA&CT) 

Worst score 
for combined 

acute and 
community 

trusts (CA&CT) 

Q21a "Care of patients / 
service users is my 
organisation's top priority 

76.4% 82.1% 76.5% 88.7% 50.9% 

Q21c “I would recommend my 
organisation as a place to 
work” 

59.9% 68.7% 61.1% 77.3% 47.2% 

Q21d "If a friend or relative 
needed treatment, I would be 
happy with the standard of 
care provided by this 
organisation 

65.2% 70.8% 69.9% 90.3% 49.2% 

1. PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE KEY THEMES 

Key Findings 
Trust 
Score 
2018 

Trust 
Score 
2017 

National 
Average for 
CA&CT 2018 

Best score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Worst score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion  

Q14 Does your organisation act 
fairly with regard to career 
progression / promotion, regardless 
of ethnic background, gender, 
religion, sexual orientation, disability 
or age? 

82.6% 88.2% 85.5% 91.5% 70.5% 

Q15a In the last 12 months have 
you personally experienced 
discrimination at work from patients 
/ service users, their relatives or 
other members of the public?  

4.8% 4.5% 5.2% 2.1% 13.7% 

Q15b In the last 12 months have 
you personally experienced 
discrimination at work from manager 
/ team leader or other colleagues? 

8.1% 7.5% 7.0% 4.5% 14.5% 

Q28b Has your employer made 
adequate adjustment(s) to enable 
you to carry out your work? 

75.6% 76.7% 73.3% 82.2% 52.3% 

Health & Wellbeing 

Q5h The opportunities for flexible 
working patterns 

53.9% 56.7% 52.8% 60.3% 44.3% 

Q11a Does your organisation take 
positive action on health and well-
being? 

30.9% 40.9% 27.8% 40.2% 15.9% 
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Key Findings 
Trust 
Score 
2018 

Trust 
Score 
2017 

National 
Average for 
CA&CT 2018 

Best score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Worst score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Q11b In the last 12 months have 
you experienced musculoskeletal 
problems (MSK) as a result of work 
activities? 

25.8% 21.5% 27.4% 21.4% 34.3% 

Q11c During the last 12 months 
have you felt unwell as a result of 
work related stress? 

40.0% 33.4% 38.8% 32.0% 44.2% 

Q11d In the last three months have 
you ever come to work despite not 
feeling well enough to perform your 
duties? 

59.1% 53.7% 56.3% 48.4% 61.4% 

Immediate Managers 

Q5b The support I get from 

my immediate manager 
68.9% 68.1% 70.0% 76.5% 63.3% 

Q8c My immediate manager gives 
me clear feedback on my work 

62.7% 63.2% 61.1% 65.9% 54.6% 

Q8d My immediate manager asks 
for my opinion before making 
decisions that affect my work 

54.4% 54.5% 54.6% 61.7% 49.6% 

Q8f My immediate manager takes a 
positive interest in my health and 
well-being 

68.3% 68.8% 67.8% 74.1% 62.1% 

Q8g My immediate manager values 
my work 

70.7% 72.4% 71.9% 77.0% 66.5% 

Q19g My manager supported me to 
receive this training, learning or 
development 

50.5% 53.7% 54.3% 66.1% 46.1% 

Morale 

Q4c I am involved in deciding on 
changes introduced that affect my 
work area / team / department 

53.1% 58.5% 53.1% 62.0% 44.3% 

Q4j I receive the respect I deserve 
from my colleagues at work 70.9% n/a 72.1% 78.5% 66.9% 

Q6a I have unrealistic time 
pressures 

19.8% n/a 22.5% 27.8% 16.4% 

Q6b I have a choice in deciding how 
to do my work 

55.2% n/a 56.3% 62.2% 49.6% 

Q6c Relationships at work are 
strained 

43.7% n/a 45.8% 53.5% 38.2% 
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Key Findings 
Trust 
Score 
2018 

Trust 
Score 
2017 

National 
Average for 
CA&CT 2018 

Best score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Worst score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Q8a My immediate manager 
encourages me at work 

68.6% n/a 68.8% 74.1% 61.2% 

Q23a I often think about leaving this 
organisation 

29.5% n/a 28.8% 22.2% 37.3% 

Q23b I will probably look for a job at 
a new organisation in the next 12 
months 

21.3% n/a 20.7% 30.5% 14.1% 

Q23c As soon as I can find another 
job, I will leave this organisation 

15.4% n/a 14.7% 9.7% 23.9% 

Quality of Appraisals 

Q19b It helped me to improve how I 
do my job 

23.1% 22.5% 21.5% 30.9% 14.2% 

Q19c It helped me agree clear 
objectives for my work 

33.3% 37.2% 33.3% 43.4% 27.2% 

Q19d It left me feeling that my work 
is valued by my organisation 

30.9% 29.4% 31.1% 38.0% 21.2% 

Q19e The values of my organisation 
were discussed as part of the 
appraisal process 

35.7% 40.7% 35.2% 52.1% 19.4% 

Quality of Care 

Q7a I am satisfied with the quality of 
care I give to patients / service 
users  

82.1% 89.4% 80.5% 89.0% 75.4% 

Q7b I feel that my role makes a 
difference to patients / service users 

89.4% 91.9% 89.4% 92.9% 86.9% 

Q7c I am able to deliver the care I 
aspire to  

70.8% 75.9% 67.3% 78.5% 60.0% 

Safe Environment – Bullying and Harassment 

Q13a In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced harassment, bullying or 
abuse at work from patients / 
service users, their relatives or other 
members of the public? 

25.2% 27.9% 25.8% 20.9% 34.1% 

Q13b In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced harassment, bullying 

or abuse at work from managers? 

15.8% 14.3% 12.1% 8.0% 20.5% 

Q13c In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced harassment, bullying or 
abuse at work from other 
colleagues? 

20.8% 15.2% 18.4% 14.4% 25.8% 



Annual Quality Account 2018-19 Final Draft   Page 81 of 104

Key Findings 
Trust 
Score 
2018 

Trust 
Score 
2017 

National 
Average for 
CA&CT 2018 

Best score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Worst score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Safe Environment – Violence

Q12a In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced physical violence at 
work from patients / service users, 
their relatives or other members of 
the public? 

12.5% 14.1% 12.6% 8.1% 17.5% 

Q12b In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced physical violence at 
work from managers? 

1.0% 1.3% 0.5% 0.0% 1.6% 

Q12c In the last 12 months how 
many times have you personally 
experienced physical violence at 
work from other colleagues? 

1.9% 1.5% 1.5% 0.6% 4.8% 

Safety Culture

Q17a My organisation treats staff 
who are involved in an error, near 
miss or incident fairly 

57.8% 57.5% 59.0% 68.2% 46.1% 

Q17c When errors, near misses or 
incidents are reported, my 
organisation takes action to ensure 
that they do not happen again 

64.7% 68.8% 70.0% 80.9% 61.8% 

Q17d We are given feedback about 
changes made in response to 
reported errors, near misses and 
incidents 

51.3% 58.5% 58.9% 69.6% 48.9% 

Q18b I would feel secure raising 
concerns about unsafe clinical 
practice 

74.6% 72.0% 70.3% 76.4% 65.3% 

Q18c I am confident that my 
organisation would address my 
concern 

56.8% 58.3% 58.0% 67.7% 49.9% 

Q21b My organisation acts on 
concerns raised by patients / 
service users 

72.5% 80.7% 73.1% 83.8% 59.6% 

Staff Engagement – Motivation

Q2a I look forward to going to work 61.2% 58.4% 59.3% 66.2% 50.8% 

Q2b I am enthusiastic about my job 77.4% 77.7% 74.8% 81.9% 67.7% 

Q2c Time passes quickly when I am 
working 

77.2% 81.2% 77.6% 82.3% 72.8% 
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Key Findings 
Trust 
Score 
2018 

Trust 
Score 
2017 

National 
Average for 
CA&CT 2018 

Best score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Worst score 
for CA&CT 

2018 

Staff Engagement – Ability to contribute to improvements

Q4a There are frequent 
opportunities for me to show 
initiative in my role 

75.5% 75.6% 73.4% 79.3% 67.6% 

Q4b I am able to make suggestions 
to improve the work of my team / 
department 

77.6% 78.5% 75.2% 81.4% 67.1% 

Q4d I am able to make 
improvements happen in my area of 
work 

57.2% 59.6% 56.5% 62.3% 48.3% 

Staff Engagement – Recommendation of the organisation as a place to work/receive treatment 

Q21a Care of patients / service 
users is my organisation's top 
priority 

76.4% 82.1% 76.5% 88.7% 59.9% 

Q21c I would recommend my 
organisation as a place to work 

59.9% 68.7% 61.1% 77.3% 47.2% 

Q21d If a friend or relative needed 
treatment I would be happy with the 
standard of care provided by this 
organisation 

65.2% 70.8% 69.9% 90.3% 49.2% 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 

data is as described because of the assertive improvement programme implemented 

including staff engagement undertaken in the past year to ensure delivery of 

Services, Care and Treatment and staff support was enabled and was being 

consistently provided to the standards required.  

However, the overall Trust-level picture of the staff survey results is that across 

almost all areas the Trust is around the average for a provider organisation with 

community services (we are one of 43 providers in this group).  However the results 

show a decline in some areas over the past 4 years despite remaining at or above 

average scores, for example morale and staff engagement scores. 

Statistical significance testing showed deterioration in three headline areas:  Health 

& Wellbeing, Quality of Care, and Safety Culture. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Trust intends to take the following 

actions to improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by:-  

Ensuring each division produce a staff survey action plan covering six core themes: 

• The Trust acts fairly with regard to career progression/promotion 
regardless of ethnic background, gender, religion, sexual orientation, 
disability or age.   

• The Trust takes positive action on health and wellbeing.   
• Quality of Care.   
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• Bullying/harassment/abuse.   
• Response to reported incidents.  
• Quality of appraisals. 

It addition each service area have been asked to identify local priorities based on 

their staff survey results.  

Delivery of divisional action plans will be tracked through local management 

meetings and by the Workforce Committee. 

The results of the staff survey by Protected Characteristics will be addressed 

through the development of the Trust Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy. The 

development of this strategy will take into account these staff survey results and will 

be explored further through staff and stakeholder engagement events planned. 

These will be given to the Trust’s Equality and Diversity Group for action, including 

considering as part of the Equality Delivery Scheme, Workforce Race Equality 

Standard, and Workforce Disability Equality Standard.   

To support the response to the staff survey results the HR Directorate will: 

• Review the appraisal policy, process and documentation to assist in 
driving the quality of appraisal upwards. 

• Establish a working group to consider if the Social Partnership Forum’s 
Call to Action on Bullying and Abuse may provide a framework for 
increasing engagement 

The Nursing and Integrated Governance directorate are to undertake a review of 

policy, process and systems for raising incidents and concerns, and receiving 

feedback in response to the results regarding incident and feedback.  
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Safe Staffing levels 

Safe Staffing levels continue to have a high profile within the organisation and are 
reported on Monthly to Trust board. The graph and table below demonstrate the 
data which has been presented throughout the year with Registered Nurse staffing 
and Care staff achieved fill rates for day and night shifts. 

Percentage  
Apr-
18 

May-
18 

Jun-
18 

Jul-18 
Aug-
18 

Sep-
18 

Oct-
18 

Nov-
18 

Dec-
18 

Jan-
19 

Feb-
19 

Mar-
19 

Registered Nurse 
percentage of shifts 

filled – DAY 

92.9 95.1 93.1 90.2 89.0 90.0 92.9 93.1 91.6 94.6 92.8 94.4 

Registered Nurse 
percentage of shifts 

filled - NIGHT 

96.3 95.1 95.6 94.0 90.5 92.4 96.3 98.9 97.8 98.6 97.2 98.3 

Care Staff percentage 
of shifts filled DAY 

101.1 94.6 98.2 98.0 94.8 95.4 96.3 97.4 96.0 100.1 98.8 95.9 

Care Staff percentage 
of shifts filled NIGHT 

115.2 117.2 112.3 114.4 111.0 112.4 115.3 116.2 116.5 120.1 123.3 118.7 
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NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 

PLACE inspections 
(Patient-led assessments of the care environment) 

PLACE inspection covers a number of criteria related to: Environment, Cleanliness, 

Food, Condition, Appearance and Maintenance, Dementia and Privacy, Dignity and 

Wellbeing and Disability. Staff and Volunteers undertake these and choose which 

areas to audit.  This ensures that as many areas as possible are audited and also 

means that the audits are led by the volunteers. 

In 2017/18 we aimed to further improve the PLACE scores and be above the 

national average. The graph demonstrates the 2018 Trust results for the Hospital 

site and Stamford unit along with the Trust Average and National average scores. 

When the Trust 2018 and 2017 average scores are compared we have 

demonstrated some improvement in five of the categories (cleanliness, food, 

organisational food, dementia and disability). This is shown in the table 1 below.  

Comparison of PLACE results 
2017 - 2018 Cleanliness Food Org Food 

Ward 
Food 

Privacy, 
Dignity and 
Wellbeing 

Condition, 
Appearance and 
Maintenance 

Dementia Disability 

1 
2017 Trust  Average score 98.4% 90.0% 88.5% 91.3% 85.4% 94.0% 76.2% 84.1% 

2018 Trust  Average score 98.8% 90.4% 91.8% 89.9% 82.0% 93.7% 80.9% 84.4% 

Comparison against national average 

2 

Tameside Hospital Site 98.9% 90.7% 91.9% 90.3% 80.3% 93.5% 80.2% 83.3% 

Stamford Unit 98.6% 88.6% 91.3% 86.7% 94.6% 95.0% 85.4% 92.7% 

2018 Trust  Average score 98.8% 90.4% 91.8% 89.9% 82.0% 93.7% 80.9% 84.4% 

2018 National Average 98.6% 90.6% 89.7% 91.6% 85.6% 94.5% 81.4% 85.4% 

However, the Trust 2018 scores only demonstrate that we achieved at the average 

or above for cleanliness and organisational food, but analysis at site level identifies 

some better the performance in the Stamford unit (table 2 above).  

In 2019/20 we aim to see PLACE scores reported in 2019 are improved against 

those reported in 2018 and against the national average score.
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Patient Outcomes 

PROMS (Patient Reported Outcome Monitoring) 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 

The Trust continues to participate in the Patient Reported Outcome monitoring 

measures identified below. The information provided demonstrates the Trust 

Performance compared to the national benchmarking which demonstrates that in the 

main patients are reporting benefits from the outcome of the procedures reviewed.  

The information provided below is the nationally published year on year comparison 

data of our involvement and benchmarked comparison of pre- and post-operative 

patient questionnaires (a combination of five key criteria concerning patients' self-

reported general health called EQ-5D Index' scores). The EQ5D scores are 

compared to the England average scores in the table below.  

A positive number indicates a net health gain being identified and comparison to the 

England Average is also provided. This is the case for all data reported below. 

Whilst Trust performance is identified as lower than the national average these 

values fall within the expected 95% control limits.      

Hip Replacement 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

TGH  EQ5D Adjusted Average Health Gain 0.369 0.415 0.398 0.460 0.411 

England average  EQ5D index Adjusted 

Average Health Gain 
0.436 0.436 0.438 0.449 0.458 

 Knee Replacement  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

TGH  EQ5D index Adjusted Average 

Health Gain 
0.261 0.319 0.284 0.303 0.284 

England average  EQ5D index Adjusted 

Average Health Gain 
0.259 0.315 0.320 0.337 0.337 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that these 

data are as described because of the improvement programme put in place and the 

implementation of care pathways being implemented. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 

following action to further improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by 

the continued implementation of a Trust wide improvement programme agreed with 

key stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust board.   
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Readmission Rates  

NHS Outcome framework 3: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 

The Trust Board monitors readmission rates for patients recently discharged from 

hospital as a Quality indicator. The Board performance report monitors 30 day 

readmissions as this is the Quality measure within the contract. The graph below 

demonstrates the performance this year. We are aiming to reduce readmission rates 

from both elective and non-elective patients.  

We pledged to see a reduction in 30 day re-admission rates. We have not 

demonstrated further improvement on this year. We continue to review readmissions 

to ensure that these are understood and that these are correctly captured in the 

context of the work to ensure timely discharge with the appropriate care support 

packages. We have further work to do to achieve the target rate which is being 

progressed through the service improvement workstream. 

Re-admission rates 2018/19 

The Quality Account requires us to benchmark 28 day readmissions, and these are 

set out in the table below but have not been available nationally to report on   

2010/11 2011/12 
2012/13 – 
2017/18 

Comparison 
v. National  

Improvement 
Banding  

Explanatory Commentary 

Age 16+ NHS Digital reports that there is an 
ongoing review of emergency 
readmissions indicators across the 
frameworks, many of which have 
not been published since 2014. 
Phase one of this review involved 
the publication of two indicators 
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set 
indicator 3.2 and NHS Outcomes 
Framework indicator 3b – 
Emergency readmissions within 30 
days of discharge from hospital. 
This will be followed by the 
publication of Compendium 
emergency readmissions indicators 
in April / May 2019. 
Source https://digital.nhs.uk/data-
and-information/publications/clinical-
indicators/nhs-outcomes-
framework/current#data-sets

Tameside 11.84 12.47 
Data not 
available

W D 

Best 
nationally 

7.14 0.00 
Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Worst 
nationally 

12.70 15.11 
Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Age 0-15 

Tameside 11.24 11.6 
Data not 
available

A5 D 

Best 
nationally 

6.26 0.00 
Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Worst 
nationally 

12.75 14.87 
Data not 
available

Data not 
available

Data not 
available
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Key to The Health and Social Care Information Centre Comparison and improvement bandings 
W = National average lies within expected variation (95% confidence interval); 
D = some deterioration (not significant) 
A5 = significantly poorer than the national average at the 95% level but not at the 99.8% level; 

Notes: 
• The readmission rate figures are standardised to persons 2006/07 
• Indirectly age, sex, method of admission of discharge spell, diagnosis (ICD 10 chapter/selected sub-

chapters within medical specialties) and procedure (OPCS 4 chapter / selected sub-chapters within 
surgical specialties) standardised rates 

• Ages 16+ 
• Best and worse readmission rates selected from Trusts classed as “Small acute” or “Small acute or 

multi service categories”. 
Source: The Health and Social Care Information Centre  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 

data is as described because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust whilst 

demonstrating improvement in year was still not being consistently provided to the 

standards required.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has taken the 

following action to further improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by 

continuing to implement and monitor care pathways and ensure they are 

systematically implemented. 
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Improving Hospital Mortality

NHS Outcome framework  
1: Preventing People from dying prematurely  
2: Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions 

We pledged to see reduction in mortality rates and implementation of a systematic 
review process to levels that are not statistically significant and show a reduction in 
the raw death rate and the implementation of a systematic review process. 

The Hospital Risk adjusted mortality indices SMR (Standardised Morality Ratio) and 
SHMI (Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator) and raw Mortality are routinely 
reported in the Trust Board papers available on the Trust website. These indicators 
are published and reported retrospectively. All three reported indicators (SMR, SHMI  
and raw mortality)  have this year not remained within normal limits. In the reporting 
period the SMR and SHMI indicators increased and flagged as “worse than 
expected”.  

Throughout this time we continued to seek assurance on the quality of care provided 
by undertaking mortality reviews for every death occurring in hospital, and have not 
identified any themes or issues of concern in this regard. The initial reviews within 14 
days have systematically been achieved for each month of the year. Where an issue 
is identified we have continued to undertake comprehensive MDT reviews and 
further investigation or external reviews as appropriate. These cases are 
systematically followed up and results reported through the Mortality Steering Group 
reporting to the Service Quality and Operational governance group.

Throughout the period we have made our regulators and commissioners aware of 
our reported position including the peak in the SHMI mortality indicator and sort 
assistance from the regulators from experts to assist our understanding. The expert 
assistance provided by the regulatory agencies have reviewed our approach, 
analysis and the actions taken and planned.  

We identified that changes in the Clinical Coding of Severe Sepsis implemented in 
the Trust, and a reduction in the depth of coded data may have negatively impacted 
the indices. We have taken action to continue to improve the depth of coded 
information and have seen more recently improvement in the direction of indicators. 
We anticipate that this improvement in position will continue and that we will return 
to the “as expected” position with respect to the SHMI indicator  
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The Trust continues to take the following actions to improve these indicators, and 
ensure our mortality rates reduce further and are not higher than expected:  

We continue to   

• Maintain an Executive clinically led mortality steering group to review 

intelligence available.  

• Ensure that we report on our learning from deaths  

• Routinely monitor and investigate and understand the areas that alert on the 

mortality indices. 

• Analyse and understand our data and develop the capability of the clinical 

divisions to review and analyse the mortality data at specialty level in the 

clinical divisions  

• Commission specific reviews/audits of areas of concern when required. 

• Develop more care pathways and care bundles to improve standardisation 

and reliability of care delivery. 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust considers that this 
data is as described because the because of the improvement programme put in 
place and the implementation of care pathways being implemented.  

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust is taking the 
following action to further improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by 
implementation of the Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key 
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stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust board, and in addition a work 
programme including: 

The Palliative Care Coding rate compared to the national rate is displayed in the 
table below. 

Indicator 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Tameside Palliative 
Care coding rate  

4.8% 3.3% 3.76% 3.28% 3.56% 3.64% 2.72% 

National Palliative Care 
coding rate  

2.6% 3.3% 3.57% 3.79% 4.03% 4.17% 4.06% 

The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded are:- 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Tameside 18.7 12.3 14.5 17.3 17.9 15.9 20.2 

Highest Nationally 97.6 94.1 92.3 95 96.1 93.3 59.5 

Lowest nationally 1.7 2.4 6.4 8 6.3 3.9 14.2 

National average 17.6 20.7 23.3 26.2 28.6 29.7 33.6 

The Table below demonstrates the current SHMI 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Tameside 118 112 118 114 110 108 122 
Best Nationally 71 63 60 65 69 73 69 
Worst nationally 125 116 120 118 116 125 127 
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Improved Nutritional Care and Hydration.  

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 

We pledged to provide improved care in relation to nutrition and hydration. The work 
on this is monitored through the Patient Safety Programme  

The Trust routinely undertakes a nutritional risk assessment using the MUST 
screening tool for all inpatients over 60. Historically the percentage completed has 
been reported to the Patient Safety Programme which routinely has been reported 
exceeding 90%. The process of reviewing these has been revised by the new 
Nutrition Specialist Nurse appointed this year who has reviewed, redesigned and 
implemented revised training. The graph below presents the improved compliance of 
the monthly audit of MUST records across the Trust. The improved level of 
compliance is expected to be maintained and improved in 2019/20. 

Nutritional Risk Assessments Compliance Audit 
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Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators

NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury

See individual 
indicators below

Patient Safety Indicator 
2015/16 

Performance 
2016/17 

Performance 
2017/18 

Performance 
2018/19 

Performance 

Failure of the safer-surgery process 0 0 0 0 

StEIS Serious Incidents reported 27 38 87 53 

Duty of Candour breeches 0 0 0 0 

Never events reported  1 0 3 1 

Coroners Section 28 letters 7 2 5 2 

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care Trust understands the data presented above 
and the number of STEIS reported incidents has reduced due to revised criteria 
agreed with the Commissioners which has reduced the number of pressure ulcers 
reported on STEIS. At the same time we have also broadened the scope of Issues 
we now reported on StEIS to include some other categories.    

We have had one Never Event which has been reported through the Trust processes 
and to Commissioner and Regulators. Initial findings were that the appropriate Trust 
policy was followed. At the time of drafting the investigation and report are not 
finalised. Any further learning and associated action if required from this incident will 
be shared once completed. 

We have received 2 Coroners regulation 28 letters (PFD) which is a reduction of 
over 60% on the number received the previous year. These have been responded to 
in detail along with our learning and evidence of action taken by the Trust in 
response to these. We will continue to build and strengthen our relationship with the 
Coroner to ensure the process better assists and informs families through this 
process at a difficult time. 
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Trust Corporate Objectives 2019/20 
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Annex 1 - Comments from Other 
Agencies on the 2018/19 Quality 
Account 
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Statement from Tameside and Glossop CCG  

Statement from Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC) to Tameside and 
Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Account

Tameside & Glossop CCG and Tameside Council are integral partners in Tameside 
and Glossop strategic Commission, the Strategic Commission welcome the 
opportunity to comment on the quality of services provided by Tameside & Glossop 
Integrated Care Foundation Trust. Quality accounts enhance public accountability 
and engage the leaders of an organisation and the organisations that commission 
them in engaging and understanding the continuous quality improvement and patient 
safety agenda.  They allow formative challenge and celebration of good practice. 
The strategic commission contract a variety of services from The Trust including a 
range of acute, public health, community, and children’s health provision. 

The commissioners welcome the further progress The Trust has made in moving 
towards an integrated health and care organisation. The commissioners are 
particularly pleased with the further development of integrated neighbourhood 
provision, which is bringing adult care closer to where people live. The Trust has 
made great strides in working alongside primary care and adult social care 
colleagues to improve outcomes for our population. The Trust employs GPs as 
clinical directors within neighbourhoods, which is an innovative way of blurring the 
boundaries between primary and secondary care. During this year, the Trust has 
continued to broaden its community scope by embedding proactive third sector 
provision in asset base approaches. They have commissioned provision for early 
intervention in mental health, supporting people into therapy and working across 
organisations to support early intervention and prevention. The Trust is helping 
people to better look after themselves and providing a range of services that present 
alternatives to hospital provision. 

Over the past year, we have continued to build upon the closer working relationships 
between commissioners and The Trust to support the delivery of good quality, safe 
services for our population. Commissioners are pleased to see the ambition from the 
organisation to become a CQC outstanding provider and will support the Trust in 
achieving this ambition. The Strategic Commission commend The Trust for the 
continued quality and patient safety improvement initiatives which are outlined in this 
account.  

Tameside & Glossop Strategic Commission have continued to work closely with The 
Trust to monitor the quality of services provided via contract meetings and monthly 
meetings focussed on quality and safety. The Strategic Commission’s Director of 
Quality & Safeguarding continues to be invited as a regular participant to the Trusts 
internal quality and governance forum and participate in a quality visits. The 
Strategic Commission would like to acknowledge the continued level of transparency 
and openness demonstrated by The Trust.  

The Strategic Commission are pleased to reflect on the work programmes developed 
by The Trust to improve performance and quality during the year 2018/19.  These 
work programmes include a wide range of service improvement and transformation 
embedding new models of care in service delivery. The Strategic Commission 
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commends The Trusts work on Digital Heath and initiatives to ensure people do not 
spend too much time in hospital such as   Home First and Discharge to Assess.  

Patient Safety 
The Strategic Commission are pleased to see the Trust continuing to implement their 
patience safety programme. The progress against the programme is demonstrated in 
the performance metrics which track the 10 focused work streams. These metrics 
provide a speciality level range of safety data which offers a source of information to 
drive quality improvement. 

The Strategic Commission acknowledges the considerable improvement work the 
Trust has built upon from the previous year in continuing to drive developments in 
pressure ulcer prevention, nutritional assessment and hydration and falls prevention 
which spans the health and social care economy. The focussed work on managing 
the deteriorating patient and increasing Sepsis detection and management is 
commendable. We also commend the continued work on medicines management, 
antibiotic stewardship and infection prevention that The Trust is now leading for the 
health and social care economy.  There are continued efforts to progress the 
reduction in healthcare acquired infections across the whole health economy.   

The Strategic Commission would like to specifically acknowledge the continued work 
the Trust has implemented in learning from mortality and the continued 
implementation of mortality reviews for people with a learning disability. We also 
commend the Trusts commitment to safe staffing and care contact time by having a 
continual focus on recruitment and retention. 

Patient Experience 
The Strategic Commission acknowledge that the Trust continues to see significant 
improvement in patient’s experience of services. This can be seen in overall 
response rates for the Friends and Family Test, particularly within the in- patient and 
maternity settings. However, it is recognised that there is further work to improve the 
positive responses within the Emergency Department; it is clear that improvement 
plans are in place with the introduction of patient experience ambassadors within 
each clinical area.  

Staffing and Culture  
The response rate for the Annual Staff Survey is 40%, which is average for 
combined acute and community trusts.  The overall Trust results demonstrate the 
investment the trust has made in ensuring staff can deliver services which are caring 
and safe. The results also demonstrate the investment made by The Trust in staff 
support and development.  However there is a decline in positive scores in some 
areas from the previous survey results, for example, morale and staff engagement 
scores.  The Trust is committed to improving morale and staff engagement and other 
core themes surrounding the survey in the coming year.  

Patient Outcomes 
The Trust has continued to participate in both national and local clinical audits; 
learning from these audits is implemented in practice and shared with the Strategic 
Commission.  
The Trust continues to participate in the Patient Reported Outcome monitoring 
measures. The information provided demonstrates that in the main patients are 
reporting benefits from the outcomes of reviewed procedures carried out in the Trust.   
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Areas for Improvement 2019/20 
Tameside & Glossop Strategic Commission will continue to work with the Trust to 
support them in maintaining their overall CQC rating as Good and their ambition to 
become a CQC Outstanding organisation. 

The Strategic Commission would like to see the Trust continue to deliver good 
quality, safe care to patients with a focus of delivery in neighbourhoods and further 
progress in the integration of the mental health offer within the services.  

The Strategic Commission will support The Trust in ensuring a well-trained, effective, 
skilled workforce are recruited and retained to support great patient care. 

The Strategic Commission looks forward to supporting The Trust to develop 
neighbourhood delivery models for children’s services. 

 We will aim to support the Trust to deliver the NHS Long Term Plan and the place 
based plan to deliver fundamental change to the way health and social care is 
delivered within Tameside and Glossop.  

The Strategic Commission would like to see The Trust continue to build upon 
improvements in urgent care performance, length of stay and delayed transfer of 
care. 

The Strategic Commission would like to see further progress on the integration and 
transformation of community and social care services. Building upon the progress 
made this year.  

The strategic commission will continue to support the trust in monitoring quality and 
safety of their commissioned services. 

In conclusion the Single Commission are confident the Trust has demonstrated their 
commitment to quality, experience and safety in their continual improvement journey. 
We thank The Trust for the honest and open culture fostered within the organisation 
and their continued focus on putting patients first. We look forward to seeing the 
further transformation of The Trust to an integrated health and social care 
organisation and the continued commitment to system quality and leadership.  

Steven Pleasant MBE  
Chief Executive, TMBC and Accountable Officer, CCG
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Statement from the Healthwatch  

Healthwatch Tameside welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Trust’s Quality 
Account which we saw in draft. 

The Trust has a long history of working collaboratively with Healthwatch and we 
value our positive working relationship with them. We look forward to another year 
working with the Trust, fulfilling role which requires us to be independent but trusted, 
challenging but valued. In short, we have a duty to represent the voices of people 
who use the Trust’s services at the same time that we want to support the Trust’s 
actions and initiatives that focus on good quality care. 

We are pleased to see the Trust clearly articulating quality in terms of safety, clinical 
effectiveness and patient experience. In challenging and changing times it is 
important to retain a focus on all three of these aspects of quality. 

We note that Hospital Mortality indicators have posed a challenge for the Trust for a 
number for years and accept that an element of this challenge can be explained by 
data coding. Whilst we are concerned that these indicators are worse than expected 
we do know that the Trust has developed and implemented systems and processes 
for mortality reviews which provide a mechanism for checking the quality of care that 
has been provided and for care processes to be changed if necessary. The 
published mortality indicators do not tell this fuller story of the hospital’s work around 
this important topic. 

We recognise that, like most NHS organisations, the Trust is facing challenges in 
terms of staffing. We know that there are national shortages of trained and qualified 
staff across a broad range of health care professions. We are pleased to read that 
the Trust has looked at a number of ways to address this challenge, including 
changing some staff rotas to provide better cover. 

We welcome the Trust’s commitment to continually improving and to learning from its 
own experiences and engaging with external organisations. We would be particularly 
interested in conversations about how our insight can further help hospital 
improvements – both in terms of the quality of care and of people’s experience of the 
complaints process. 

We look forward to another year of working with the hospital to help to maintain and 
improve the quality of care and support for local people through our well established 
working relationships. 

Peter Denton 
Liaison Manager, Healthwatch in Greater Manchester 
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Statement from TMBC Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel  

Not received at the time of publication. We requested this feedback from the panel 
on 12th April 2019 but they were unable to provide feedback owing to the Purdah 
period for Local and European Elections. 
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Annex 2 – Statement of Directors 
Responsibilities on the 2018/19 
Quality Account 
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2018/19 Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality 
Report  

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.  

NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust boards on the 
form and content of Annual Quality Reports (which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put 
in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.  

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that:  

• The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2018/19 and supporting 
guidance Detailed Requirements for Quality Reports 2018/19;  

• The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and 
external sources of information including:  

• Board minutes and papers for the period April 2018 to March 2019  

• Papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2018 
to March 2019  

• Feedback from commissioners dated 8th May 2019  

• Feedback from governors dated 21st March 2019  

• Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 13th May 2019  

• The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 
Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009  

• The 2017 national patient survey 13th June 2018 

• The 2018 national staff survey 26th February 2019  

• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control 
environment dated March 2019  

• CQC inspection report dated 7th February 2017  

• The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation 
Trust’s performance over the period covered;  

• The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and 
accurate;  

• There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the 
measures of performance included in the Quality Report, and these 
controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in 
practice; 

• The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the 
Quality Report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality 
standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and 
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• The Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS 
Improvements annual reporting manual (which incorporates the Quality 
Accounts regulations) as well as the standards to support data quality for 
the preparation of the Quality Report. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.  

By order of the board  

                                  Signature                                             Date 

Chair ____________________________             May 2019 

Chief Executive ____________________________            May 2019 









Signed

Name Karen James

Position Chief Executive

Date 22-May-19

Foreword to the accounts

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2019, have been prepared by Tameside and 

Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of 

Schedule 7 within the National Health Service Act 2006.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Note £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 3.1/3.2 205,136 198,304

Other operating income 3.3 20,659 14,454

Total operating income from continuing operations 225,795 212,758

Operating expenses 4 (236,824) (230,912)

Operating deficit from continuing operations (11,029) (18,154)

Finance income 9 60 28

Finance expenses 10 (4,964) (4,315)

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount 19 (2) (2)

PDC dividends payable - (1)

Net finance costs (4,906) (4,290)

Gains/(losses) on disposal of assets 0 0

Deficit for the year (15,935) (22,444)

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

   Impairments 12 (7,202) (138)

Revaluations 12 2,298 14,407           

Other recognised gains and losses 0 0

Other reserve movements 0 0

May be reclassified to income and expenditure when certain conditions are met:

Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments 0 0

Recycling gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments 0 0

Total comprehensive expense for the period (20,839) (8,175)

Financial performance for the year -                                                                         

memorandum only, does not form part of the accounts

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000

Deficit for the year (15,935) (22,444)

Net impairments (74) (50)

Loss on asset disposals 0 0

Donations received for PPE & intangible assets 0 (1,488)

Depreciation  - donated assets 169 256

Operating deficit for the year (15,840) (23,726)

Adjusted financial performance excluding PSF (23,348) (23,726)

Page 1 SOCI
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Statement of Financial Position

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

Note £000 £000

Intangible assets 11 521 413

Property, plant and equipment 12 129,232 135,212

Trade and other receivables 14 6,653 5,735

Total non-current assets 136,406 141,360

Current assets

Inventories 13 1,568 1,671

Trade and other receivables 14 12,728 7,047

Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,300 1,415

Total current assets 16,596 10,133

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 (22,996) (22,514)

Other liabilities 17 (1,474) (1,584)

Borrowings 18 (56,626) (21,692)

Provisions 19 (178) (151)

Total current liabilities (81,274) (45,941)

Total assets less current liabilities 71,728 105,552

Non-current liabilities

Other liabilities 17 0 0

Borrowings 18 (93,082) (107,302)

Provisions 19 (569) (701)

Total non-current liabilities (93,651) (108,003)

Total assets employed (21,923) (2,451)

Financed by 

Public dividend capital SoCIE 54,885 53,446

Revaluation reserve SoCIE 41,822 48,011

Income and expenditure reserve SoCIE (118,630) (103,908)

Total taxpayers' equity (21,923) (2,451)

The notes on pages 5 to 37 form part of these accounts.

Signed

Name Karen James

Position Chief Executive

Date 22 May 2019

Page 2 SoFP
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2019

Public 

Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 

Reserve

Income and 

Expenditure 

Reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 53,446 48,011 (103,908) (2,451)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 (15,935) (15,935)

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 (72) (72)

Public dividend capital received 1,439 0 0 1,439

Impairments 0 (7,202) 0 (7,202)

Revaluations 0 2,298 0 2,298

Other reserve movements 0 (1,285) 1,285 0

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2019 54,885 41,822 (118,630) (21,923)

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018

Public 

Dividend 

Capital

Revaluation 

Reserve

Income and 

Expenditure 

Reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 53,285 35,291 (83,013) 5,563

Prior period adjustment 0 0 0 0

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2017 - restated 53,285 35,291 (83,013) 5,563

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0 (22,444) (22,444)

Public dividend capital received 161 0 0 161

Net impairments 0 (138) 0 (138)

Revaluations - property, plant and equipment 0 14,407 0 14,407

Other reserve movements 0 (1,549) 1,549 0

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2018 53,446 48,011 (103,908) (2,451)

Page 3 SoCIE
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Statement of Cash Flows

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Note £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus/(deficit) SOCI (11,029) (18,154)

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 4 5,671 5,411

Impairments and reversals of impairments 4 (74) (50)

(Gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 0

Income recognised in respect of capital donations 3.3 0 (1,488)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other assets 14 (6,671) 5,588

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 13 103 (241)

Increase/(decrease) in payables and other liabilities 16 1,061 (2,165)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 17 (110) (758)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 19 (107) 6

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities (11,156) (11,851)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 9 60 28

Purchase of intangible assets 11 (191) (413)

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment property 12 (4,704) (6,044)

Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets 0 1,488

Sales of property, plant, equipment and investment property 0 0

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities (4,835) (4,941)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received 1,439 161

Public dividend capital repaid 0 0

Movement on loans from the Department of Health 21,728 20,600

Capital element of PFI, LIFT and other service concession payments (1,391) (1,337)

Interest paid on PFI, LIFT and other service concession obligations (3,352) (3,243)

Interest paid on Loans from Department of Health (1,548) (907)

PDC dividend (paid)/received 0 (1)

NHS charitable funds: net cash flows from financing activities 0 (11)

 16,876 15,262

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 885 (1,530)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 1,415 2,945

Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 15 2,300 1,415

Page 4 CF
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Notes to the Accounts

Note 1 Accounting policies and other information

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet 

the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM 

Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2018/19 issued by the 

Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the 

extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 

Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the 

particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are 

described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts

Note 1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.2 Going concern

IAS 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation process, the NHS Foundation Trust’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. The financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis unless management either intends to apply to the Secretary 

of State for the dissolution of the NHS Foundation Trust without the transfer of the services to another entity, or has no realistic alternative but 

to do so.

Having given careful consideration to all information in their possession, the Directors have concluded that there is a reasonable expectation 

that Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 12 

months following the approval of this statement.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

In coming to this conclusion, the Directors recognise that there is material uncertainty that affects whether the Trust should adopt this basis. 

The Directors have had particular regard to the following matters.

The Trust is planning for an income and expenditure deficit of £5.7 million in 2019/20, on the basis that the Trust will achieve the necessary 

performance to receive the agreed allocation from the Provider Sustainability Fund and the Financial Recovery Fund.  As at 31st March 2019, 

the Trust had net liabilities of £25.2 million, and anticipates this will increase to £34.0 million by 31st March 2020, reflecting the planned deficit 

for 2019/20. In order to deliver the agreed financial plan, the Trust will have to achieve efficiency savings of at least £11.5m within the year.

In order to meet the Trust's liabilities within the year, the Directors anticipate seeking a further £11.0 million from the Department of Health and 

Social Care (DHSC) in loan support. This would bring the total Trust loan liability to £108.5 million. 

The Directors have cause to believe that DHSC will provide the required loans, as NHS Improvement has indicated that they will approve a 

financial plan for the year predicated on those loans becoming available. The Directors have also had regard to the guidance issued by the 

Secretary of State under Section 42A of the National Health Service Act 2006, regarding his policy on granting loan support to NHS provider 

organisations.

If loan support is not provided, the Trust would not be able to meet its debts as they fell due.  The Trust would need to enter discussions with 

Commissioners and regulators regarding the future of provision, particularly Commissioner-Requested Services under Condition CoS 7 of the 

Trust's Provider Licence.

The Directors have also considered the following factors in concluding that the Trust is a going concern;

·         The level and basis of expected income for 2019/20, supported by fully signed off contracts and agreed activity levels;

·         Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  (Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group) to the Trust’s overall service 

strategy; 

·         Robust assessment of the impact of the block contract agreed with the main commissioner, specifically for 2019/20 but looking to the 

medium-term; 

·         Robust assessment of the impact of Payment by Results tariffs for secondary commissioner contracts, specifically in 2019/20 but 

looking to the medium-term; 

·         Full identification of potential risks and opportunities incorporated into the financial plan for 2019/20, including the potential impact of 

planned demand management initiatives;

·         The long-term financial settlement announced by HM Government for the NHS;

·         The priorities set out in the 10-year plan published by NHS England, and in particular the expectations within that for the provider sector 

and individual providers to become financially self-sustainable in the medium-term;

·         Prior Board agreement to apply to DHSC for loan funding as required during the course of the 2019/20 year, up to a total of £11.0 

million.  

The capital expenditure programme for 2019/20, as agreed by the Board, has been risk assessed to reflect the requirements of the Trust to 

ensure delivery of Commissioner-Requested Services

Based on these indications the directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.  

However, the matters referred to above represent a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s future to continue as a 

going concern.  The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.  

Note 1.3 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to 

include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office 

of National Statistics (ONS). As directed by the GAM, the transition to IFRS 15 in 2018/19 has been completed in accordance with paragraph 

C3 (b) of the Standard: applying the Standard retrospectively but recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application (1 April 

2018). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised 

goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year 

end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for 

those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further 

factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a 

performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract liability. 

Revenue from NHS contracts

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A performance obligation relating to delivery 

of a spell of health care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and consumed simultaneously by the customer as the Trust 

performs it. The customer in such a contract is the commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are provided to their patient. Even 

where a contract could be broken down into separate performance obligations, healthcare generally aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the 

Standard entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are substantially the same and have a similar pattern of transfer. At the year 

end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient care spell is incomplete.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that collection of consideration is probable. Where contract challenges from commissioners are expected 

to be upheld, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price and derecognises the relevant portion of income.] 

Where the Trust is aware of a penalty based on contractual performance, the Trust reflects this in the transaction price for its recognition of 

revenue. Revenue is reduced by the value of the penalty.

The Trust does not receive income where a patient is readmitted within 30 days of discharge from a previous planned stay. This is considered 

an additional performance obligation to be satisfied under the original transaction price. An estimate of readmissions is made at the year end 

this portion of revenue is deferred as a contract liability.

The Trust receives income from commissioners under Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) schemes. The Trust agrees 

schemes with its commissioner but they affect how care is provided to patients. That is, the CQUIN payments are not considered distinct 

performance obligations in their own right; instead they form part of the transaction price for performance obligations under the contract.

Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are satisfied. For some contracts, it 

is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is 

assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable 

right to payment for the performance completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and 

the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract.

NHS injury cost recovery scheme

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom 

personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives 

notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are 

no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an 

allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected credit losses over 

the lifetime of the asset.

Other Income

Other income inclides income from Car parking and catering and this is recoginesed at a point in time.
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4 Note 1.4 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are recognised in the period in 

which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the 

period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs 

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 

scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and 

Wales. The scheme is not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 

liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme. Employer's pension cost contributions are 

charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by 

the scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 

expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

Note 1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is measured at the fair value of 

those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset 

such as property, plant and equipment. 

6 Note 1.6 Property, plant and equipment

6 Note 1.6.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:    

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably

• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, where the assets are 

functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have similar disposal dates and are under single 

managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, e.g., plant and 

equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

6 Note 1.6.2 Valuation

All land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount.  Plant and equipment assets are stated at their depreciated replacement costs.  

Upon initial recognition, all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation 

directly attributable to bringing them into working condition.  The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for 

impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

All land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 at least every five years.  A three yearly desktop 

interim valuation is also carried out, as a minimum.  The NHS Foundation Trust may also consider additional valuations due to significant 

changes in external environmental factors.  In addition the Trust carries out an annual verification exercise that identifies whether the asset 

is still in existence and in use. Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers, District Valuer Services, in accordance with the 

Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals and Valuation Manual.

Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) valuation for 

specialised operational property, this is in accordance with the requirements of RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual.  The Modern 

Equivalent Asset valuation is the cost of replacing an existing building at current cost, using modern building equipment, structures and 

technology. Non-Specialised operational property is valued at existing use.  This is in line with Department of Health guidance.  The value of 

land for existing use purposes is assessed at existing use value.  For non-operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are 

carried out at open market value.  

During 2018/19, the NHS Foundation Trust had a desk top site valuation.  The valuation resulted in the land and building decreasing in 

value by £4.8m. The net impairment reversal after charging to the revaluation reserve resulted in £74k of income to the Statement of 

Comprehensive Expenditure.

It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects of an assumption or another source of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period. On the basis of existing knowledge, outcomes within the next financial year that are different from the assumption around 

the valuation of the Trust's land, property, plant and equipment could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets 

note 12.

Properties in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five and three-yearly 

valuation or, for new buildings, when they are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at 

depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different 

from current value in existing use. 

6 Note 1.6.3 Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the 

asset, when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a 

component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is 

replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is 

de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and 

maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
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7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

7 Note 1.6.4 Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives on a straight line basis. Freehold land is 

considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the reclassification. Assets in the 

course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is 

brought into use or reverts to the trust, respectively. 

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into operational use.

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the asset as advised by the 

District Valuer.  Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Useful Economic lives of property, plant and equipment

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful economic lives are shown in 

the table below:

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life or the lease term, unless the FT expects to 

acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned assets above.

7 Note 1.6.5 Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that 

has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and 

thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other 

comprehensive income’.

7 Note 1.6.6 Impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are 

charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an 

amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to 

that asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the 

circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored 

to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the 

revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and 

expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.

7 Note 1.6.7 De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met: 

• the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for such sales;

• the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

      - management are committed to a plan to sell the asset

      - an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale

      - the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price

      - the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘held for sale’ and

      - the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’.  

Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’ and instead is retained 

as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
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Note 1.7 Donated and grant funded assetsDonated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to 

income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be 

consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future 

financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and equipment.

Note 1.8 Private Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI and LIFT transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted 

for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and 

equipment, together with an equivalent finance lease liability. Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as property, plant and equipment 

and/or intangible assets as appropriate.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges for services. The finance 

cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income.

An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance with IAS 17 - 

Leases,  this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In 

substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income.

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they meet the NHS 

Foundation Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured initially 

at their fair value.  

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract from the 

operators' planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term 

finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. 

Note 1.9 Intangible assets 

Note 1.9.1Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s 

business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will 

flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

·  it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the NHS Foundation Trust;

·  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably;

·  the cost is at least £5,000; and

·  the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Note 1.9.2 Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant 

and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Note 1.9.3 Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to 

the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to 

the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, intangible assets are valued at 

the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and 

impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it 

back into use is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or “fair value less costs to sell”.

Note 1.9.4 Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service 

delivery benefits.Useful economic life of intangible assets

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.  The range of useful economic lives are shown in 

the table below:

Note 1.9.5 Valuation

All Intangible Assets are stated at their valuation amount, which is reviewed by management on an annual basis.
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Note 1.10 Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using the first in, first out (FIFO) 

method. Pharmacy stock is measured at a weighted average cost.

Note 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 

equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 

integral part of Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trusts cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are 

recorded at current values.

Note 1.12 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

Note 1.12.1 Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and as a result has 

a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include 

legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to 

transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s 

normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e., when receipt or 

delivery of the goods or services is made.

Note 1.12.2 De-recognition

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the trust has transferred 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Note 1.12.3 Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs except where the 

asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise 

determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised and measured in 

accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows and where cash 

flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and other payables, 

rights and obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and payable.

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less 

any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a 

financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or amortised 

cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and a financing income or expense.  In the case of loans 

held from the Department of Health and Social Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model objectives are met by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Movements in the 

fair value of financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. 

On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income 

and expenditure, except where the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition. 

The Trust has not got any equity instruments at fair value.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value trough income and expenditure

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or at fair value 

through other comprehensive income. This category also includes financial assets and liabilities acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

in the short term (held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are embedded in other contracts, but which are separable from the host 

contract are measured within this category. Movements in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as 

gains or losses in the Statement of Comprehensive income. 

Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract assets, the Trust recognises 

an allowance for expected credit losses. 

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, measuring 

expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. 

The Trust has three categories of receivable, oversea visitors (OSV), salary overpayment (SOP) and general. The Trust adopts a average 

debt collection percentage over the last twelve months to determine the percentage to be used to recognise the credit loss. The OSV and SOP 

is at 54 days, at this point it is referred for external debt collection.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition, expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the 

difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount.  

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the net carrying value of the 

financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Note 1.12.4 Deregonition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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# Note 1.13 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.  All other 

leases are classified as operating leases.

# Note 1.13.1 Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust, the asset is recorded as 

property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value 

of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item of property plant 

and equipment. 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of 

the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-

recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

# Note 1.13.2 Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Operating lease incentives are added 

to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

# Note 1.13.3 Contingent rentals

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

#

# Note 1.13.4 Leases for land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated.  Leased land is treated as an operating lease.  

Leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

# Note 1.13.5 The Trust as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

# Note 1.14 Provisions 

The NHS Foundation Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for 

which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The 

amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the 

effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and 

mandated by HM Treasury.  

# Note 1.15 Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution 

to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical 

negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the 

NHSLA on behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 18.1 but is not recognised in the NHS Foundation Trust’s accounts. 

# Note 1.16 Non-clinical risk pooling 

The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 

schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs 

of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any “excesses” payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses when the liability arises. 
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# Note 1.17 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence  of one 

or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS Foundation Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised 

because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently 

reliably.  

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more future events not wholly 

within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets. Contingent liabilities are not recognised, unless the probability of a transfer of 

economic benefits is remote. 

Contingent liabilities are defined as:

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

not wholly within the entity’s control; or

• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the 

amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent Liabilities are not recognised unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote.

# Note 1.18 Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment 

of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is 

calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial 

year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery 

funded assets), (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, 

excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable 

or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is 

calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is 

not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.

The Trust does not pay PDC due to having negative liabilities.

# Note 1.19 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 

fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

# Note 1.20 Foreign exchange 

#

The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the 

transaction. 

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at “fair value through income and expenditure”) are translated at the spot 

exchange rate on 31 March

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction and

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the fair value was 

determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the Statement of Financial Position 

date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains and losses on these items.

# Note 1.21 Third party assets 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the NHS Foundation Trust 

has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM 

Treasury’s FReM. 

# Note 1.22 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with 

the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and 

special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been 

made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being 

included as normal revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an accrual 

basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

# Note 1.23 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2018/19.
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Note 1.24 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Note 1.24.1 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the NHS Foundation Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ 

from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Note 1.24.2 Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Trust's accounting policies that have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Partially Completed Spells

The calculation is to establish a value, and therefore recognise the value  of  “work in progress”  in line with accounting standards. The 

calculation is based on the total number of inpatients as at 31
st
 March 2019, taking into account our current average length of stay and 

average income per patient based on the current years tariff package calculating the income due for their care in the current financial year.

Maternity Pathway

Under the current national tariff system Antenatal Care is paid for by Commissioners at the time of booking, a single payment covers all 

aspects of the care, outpatient inpatient and community care up until the point the pregnancy ends. Given that this care is delivered over a 

number of months it is necessary to only recognise in the Trusts Accounts the actual value of income reflective of the care the patient has 

received up to 31
st
 March 2019. The calculation is based on the number of patients booked per month and their expected delivery month in 

the following financial year.

Valuation of Land and Buildings

See 1.6.2 -Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers, District Valuers Services, in accordance with the Royal Institute of 

Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals and Valuation Manual and this includes external factors including indices.

Note 1.25 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

The Treasury Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards to be applied in 2018/19:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Not yet EU-endorsed. Applies to first time adopters of IFRS after 1 January 2016. Therefore not applicable to DH group bodies.

IFRS 16 Leases *

Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not 

therefore permitted.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not 

therefore permitted.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts of the NHS Foundation Trust for 2018/19, 

were they applied in that year.
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Note 2 Operating Segments

Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities

All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.3

Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities 

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Acute services £000 £000 

Elective income 21,081 23,601

Non elective income 54,864 59,531

First outpatient income 12,676 13,452

Follow up outpatient income 11,276 11,905

A & E income 12,034 10,917

High cost drugs income from commissioners 5,338 5,224

Other NHS clinical income 52,376 42,988

Community Services 29,495 28,194 

All other services

Private patient income 0 9

Overseas Visitors 105 185

Injury cost recovery scheme 1,073 879

Prescription Inccome 37 135

AfC pay award central funding 2,905 0

Other clinical income 1,876 1,284

Total income from activities 205,136 198,304

Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities 

Income from patient care activities received from:
31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

NHS England 6,751 8,558

CCGs 167,317 180,023

Local Authorities 26,656 8,047

NHS Foundation Trusts 158 244

NHS trusts 8 14

Department of Health and Social Care 2,905 0

NHS other (including Public Health England) 0 14

Non NHS: private patients 0 9

Overseas Visitors 105 185

Injury cost recovery scheme 1,073 879

Non NHS: other 163 331

Total income from activities 205,136 198,304

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 205,136 198,304

Related to discontinued operations 0 0

All activity for Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust is healthcare related.  As the operating 

segments have similar characteristics there is no requirement to report segmentally.

Whilst The Trust has a divisional structure in place, the services that are provided are essentially all the same (patient 

care) and the majority of risks faced by each division are fundamentally the same.
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3 Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Income recognised this year 105 185 

Cash payments received in-year 85 81 

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables 108 91 

Amounts written off in-year 52 6 

3 Note 3.3 Other operating income

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Other operating income recognised in accordance with IFRS 15:

Research and development 394 351

Education and training 4,876 5,095

Non-patient care services to other bodies 5,012 4,664

Provider Sustainability Funding 7,508 0

Other (recognised in accordance with IFRS 15)* 2,187 2,496

Other operating income recognised in accordance with other standards:

Education and training (excluding notional apprenticeship levy income) 231 25

Cash grants for the purchase of capital assets - received from other bodies 0 1488

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 72 104

Profit on disposal of non-current assets 0 0

Reversal of impairments 0 0

Rental revenue from operating leases 65 24

Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis   314 207

Other income 0 0

Total other operating income 20,659 14,454

# Of which:

Related to continuing operations 20,659 14,454

Related to discontinued operations 0 0

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Other Income * £000 £000 

Car Parking 1,178 1,097             

Staff Accommodation rentals 53 71                  

Catering 359 343                

Clinical Excellence Awards 46 46                  

Other 551 939                

2,187 2,496
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3 Note 3.4 Additional information on revenue from contracts with customers recognised in the period

2018/19

£000 

1,584 

0

4 Note 3.5 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

31 March 

2019

£000 

within one year 1,326 

after one year, not later than five years 148 

after five years 0

Total revenue allocated to remainig performance obligations 1,474 

4 Note 3.6 Income from activities arising from commissioner requested services

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000 

Income from services designated as commissioner requested services 203,795 197,119 

Income from services not designated as commissioner requested services 1,341 1,185 

Total 205,136 198,304 

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract liabilities at the 

previous period end

Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods

Revenue from existing contracts allocated to remaining performance obligations is 

expected to be recognised:

The Trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this disclosure. 

Revenue from (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts where the Trust recognises 

revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.

Under the terms of its provider licence, the Trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has 

arisen from commissioner requested and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services 

are defined in the provider license and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the 

event of provider failure. This information is provided in the table below:
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Note 4 Operating expenses

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 5,163 5,655 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 2,678 1,333 

Staff and executive directors costs 164,011 159,092 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 117 115 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 14,683 14,369 

Supplies and services - general 2,825 2,888 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 10,794 10,084 

Consultancy costs 37 147 

Establishment 1,838 1,448 

Premises 9,235 8,853 

Transport (including patient travel) 708 745 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5,588 5,411 

Amortisation on intangible assets 83 0

Net impairments (74) (50)

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets (28)

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments (18) 97

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 1 0

Change in provisions discount rate(s) (12) 9 

Audit fees payable to the external auditor

audit services- statutory audit 62 62 

other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 12 12 

Internal audit costs 84 83 

Clinical negligence 8,305 11,994 

Legal fees 335 349 

Insurance 230 252 

Research and development - staff costs 274 245 

Education and training - staff costs 652 605 

Education and training - non-staff costs 612 434 

Education and training - notional expenditure funded from apprenticeship fund 231 25 

Rentals under operating leases 4,333 2,475 

Redundancy 0 23 

Charges to operating expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schemes (e.g. PFI ) 3,495 3,373 

Hospitality 22 5 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 220 131 

Other 328 648 

Total 236,824 230,912 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations - - 

Related to discontinued operations 0 0
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Note 4.1 Other auditor remuneration

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:

1. Audit of accounts of any associate of the trust 0 0

2. Audit-related assurance services 12 12

3. Taxation compliance services 0 0

4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above 0 0

5. Internal audit services 0 0

6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5 0 0

7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above 0 0

8. Other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above 0 0

Total 12 12

Note 4.2 Limitation on auditor's liability

Note 5 Impairment of assets

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Net impairments charged to operating deficit resulting from:

Changes in market price (74) (50)

Other 0 0

Total net impairments charged to operating deficit (74) (50)

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 7,202 138

Total net impairments 7,128 88

Impairments have resulted from a annual valuation exercise carried out by the District valuer.

The External Auditors Liability is limited to £2m.  The scope of work for the External Auditors is to provide a Statutory 

Audit to the NHS Foundation Trust.  This will be conducted in accordance with the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 

(the Audit Code) issued by Monitor in accordance with paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of the Act.  The scope of the work is 

for the External Auditors to be satisfied that the NHS Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The External Auditors are to provide their opinion on the 

financial statements.
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Note 6 Employee benefits

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Total Total

£000 £000 

Salaries and wages * 123,080 118,201 

Social security costs 11,705 10,914 

Apprenticeship levy 576 539 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 13,864 13,139 

Temporary staff - external bank 9,246 6,809

Temporary staff - agency/contract staff 6,437 10,772

164,908 160,374

Recoveries in respect of seconded staff 0 (409)

Total staff costs 164,908 159,965

Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 40 0

Note 6.1 Retirements due to ill-health

Note 6.2 Directors' remuneration

The aggregate amounts payable to directors were:

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Salary 807 884

Taxable benefits 0 0

Performance related bonuses 0 0

Employer's pension contributions 372 339

Total 1,179 1,223 

* Increase is due to pay award and incremental drift.

The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.

Further details of directors' remuneration can be found in the remuneration report on page 25 of the Annual Report.

During 2018/19 there is 1 early retirement from the NHS Foundation Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (1 in the year ended 

31 March 2018).  The estimated additional pension liability of this ill-health retirements is £12k (£66k in 2017/18).  

Average number of employees (WTE basis) is on page 38 of the Annual Report
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Note 7 Pension costs

The NHS Foundation Trust offers Retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHS Pension Scheme.  

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of 

the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes 

that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and 

Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 

liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in 

each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four 

years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end 

of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership 

and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 

valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with 

summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant 

FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS 

Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be 

obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent 

demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation 

set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme 

Regulations confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012 

valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation 

process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 
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8 Note 8 Operating leases

8

Note 8.1 Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust as a 

Lessor

1

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

Operating lease revenue £000 £000 

Minimum lease receipts 65 24 

Total 65 24

2

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease receipts due: 

- not later than one year; 41 24 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 104 97 

- later than five years. 425 447 

Total 570 568 

8

Note 8.2 Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust as a 

Lessee

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Operating lease expense

Minimum lease payments 4,333 2,475 

Total 4,333 2,475

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

- not later than one year; 4,213 2,456 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 12,944 6,136 

- later than five years. 6,687 80 

Total 23,844 8,672 

This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care 

NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Tameside and Glossop 

Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust is the lessee.

The Trust has two lessors, relating to the PFI building and the renting of two shops for the length of the contract.

The Trust has four significant leases, one with London and Manchester Healthcare Ltd (L&M Ltd) for the Stamford Unit, 

Ashton & Glossop Primary Care Centres and Olympus Keymed Ltd for a managed clinical equipment service.

Ashton & Glossop Primary Care Centre leases are new in 2018/19 totalling £1.6m per annum for a period of 10 years.
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Note 9 Finance income

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Interest on bank accounts 60 28 

Total 60 28 

Note 10 Finance expenditure

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money.

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Interest expense:

Loans from the Department of Health 1,612 1,062 

Interest on late payment of commercial debt 0 10 

Main finance costs on PFI scheme obligations 2,217 2,274 

Contingent finance costs on PFI scheme obligations 1,135 969 

Total 4,964 4,315

The interest charge on the Interim Revenue Support loans was £1.612k in 2018/19.  The Trust is expecting to receive 

additional Interim Revenue Support loans of £11m in 2019/20, which will also incur interest of 1.5%.  

The Trust received interest from cash deposited with HM Treasury, and the Government Banking Service provided by Citi 

Bank.
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Note 11 Intangible assets - 2018/19

Software 

Licences

Licenses & 

Trademarks Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 413 0 0 413

Valuation/gross cost at start of period for new FTs 0 0 0 0

Additions 191 0 0 191

Impairments 0 0 0 0

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0

Gross cost at 31 March 2019 604 0 0 604

Amortisation at 1 April 2018 - brought forward 0 0 0 0

Amortisation at start of period for new FTs 0 0 0 0

Provided during the year 83 0 0 83

Impairments 0 0 0 0

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0

Amortisation at 31 March 2019 83 0 0 83

Net book value at 31 March 2019 521 0 0 521

Net book value at 1 April 2018 413 0 0 413

Note 11.1 Intangible assets - 2017/18

Software  

licences

Licenses & 

Trademarks Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2017 - as previously stated 0 0 0 0

Prior period adjustments 0 0 0 0

Gross cost at 1 April 2017 - restated 0 0 0 0

Gross cost at start of period for new FTs 0 0 0 0

Additions 413 0 0 413

Impairments 0 0 0 0

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2018 413 0 0 413

Amortisation at 1 April 2017 - as previously stated 0 0 0 0

Prior period adjustments 0 0 0 0

Amortisation at 1 April 2017 - restated 0 0 0 0

Amortisation at start of period for new FTs 0 0 0 0

Provided during the year 0 0 0 0

Impairments 0 0 0 0

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0

Amortisation at 31 March 2018 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2018 413 0 0 413

Net book value at 1 April 2017 0 0 0 0
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Note 12 Property, plant and equipment - 2018/19

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2018 - brought 

forward 14,481 112,706 480 738 16,463 91 7,304 120 152,383 

Additions 0 0 0 3,471 736 0 231 0 4,438 

Additions  - Donantions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 - 

Impairments (900) (6,159) (143) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,202)

Reclassifications 0 3,304 0 (3,508) 13 0 145 46 - 

Revaluations 0 (1,673) 189 0 0 0 0 0 (1,484)

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 (1,309) (19) 0 0 (1,328)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2019 13,581 108,178 526 701 15,903 72 7,680 166 146,807

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 - 

brought forward 0 0 11 0 11,531 91 5,431 107 17,171

Depreciation at start of period as FT 0

Provided during the year 0 3,834 11 0 1,138 0 601 4 5,588

Impairments 0 71 0 0 0 0 0 0 71

Revaluations 0 (3,760) (22) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,782)

Reversals of impairments 0 (145) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (145)

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals/ derecognition 0 0 0 0 (1,309) (19) - 0 (1,328)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019 0 0 0 0 11,360 72 6,032 111 17,575

Net book value at 31 March 2019 13,581 108,178 526 701 4,543 0 1,648 55 129,232

Net book value at 1 April 2018 14,481 112,706 469 738 4,932 0 1,873 13 135,212

Total Revaluation 0 2,087 211 0 0 0 0 0 2,298

Total Impairment (900) (6,085) (143) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,128)

(900) (3,998) 68 0 0 0 0 0 (4,830)

Note 12.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2017/18

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2017 - as 

previously stated 13,668 99,490 482 720 15,586 91 6,341 114 136,492

Valuation/gross cost at start of period as FT 0 0 0 2,602 1,615 0 192 6 4,415

Additions - purchased/ leased/ grants/ 

donations 0 1,488 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,488

Reversals of impairments (15) (94) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (138)

Reclassifications 0 1,798 0 (2,584) 0 0 786 0 0

Revaluations 828 10,024 27 0 0 0 0 0 10,879

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 (738) 0 (15) 0 (753)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2018 14,481 112,706 480 738 16,463 91 7,304 120 152,383

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2017 - as 

previously stated 0 0 0 0 11,109 83 4,803 96 16,091

Depreciation at start of period as FT 

Provided during the year 0 3,578 11 0 1,160 8 643 11 5,411

 Impairments 0 184 0 0 0 0 0 0 184

Reversals of impairments 0 (3,528) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,528)

Reclassifications 0 (234) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (234)

Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals / derecognition 0 0 0 0 (738) 0 (15) 0 (753)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2018 0 0 11 0 11,531 91 5,431 107 17,171

Net book value at 31 March 2018 14,481 112,706 469 738 4,932 0 1,873 13 135,212

Net book value at 1 April 2017 13,668 99,490 482 720 4,477 8 1,538 18 120,401

Total Revaluation 828 13,552 27 0 0 0 0 0 14,407

Total Impairment (15) (278) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (322)

813 13,274 (2) 0 0 0 0 0 14,085
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Note 12.2 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2018/19

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2019

Owned 13,581 66,758 526 701 4,398 - 1,648 55 87,667

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service 

concession arrangements 0 38,965 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,965

Donated 0 2,455 0 0 145 0 0 0 2,600

NBV total at 31 March 2019 13,581 108,178 526 701 4,543 0 1,648 55 129,232

Note 12.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2017/18

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2018

Owned 14,481 70,251 469 738 4,647 0 1,873 13 92,472

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service 

concession arrangements 0 40,929 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,929

Donated 0 1,526 0 0 285 0 0 0 1,811

NBV total at 31 March 2018 14,481 112,706 469 738 4,932 - 1,873 13 135,212 
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# Note 13 Inventories

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Drugs 401 782 

Consumables 1,139 858 

1 Energy 28 31 

Total inventories 1,568 1,671 

# Note 14 Trade receivables and other receivables

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Current

Contract receivables (IFRS 15): invoiced 5,002             3,206

Contract receivables (IFRS 15): not yet invoiced / non-invoiced 6,037             1,372

Contract assets (IFRS 15) 784                667

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (596)

Allowance for impaired other receivables (121)

Provision for impaired receivables (367)

Provision for impaired CRU (324)

Prepayments (non-PFI) 882 1,803

VAT receivable 712 540

Other receivables 28 150

Total current trade and other receivables 12,728 7,047

 

Non-current

PFI prepayments:

Lifecycle replacements 5,703 4,983

Contract assets (IFRS 15) 950

  Other receivables (CRU) 0 752

Total non-current trade and other receivables 6,653 5,735

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme (CRU), designed to reclaim the cost of treating 

injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer.  The Trust 

recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation 

Recovery Unit  (CRU) that the individual has lodged a compensation claim.  The income is measured at the agreed tariff 

for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful 

debts.

Following the application of IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018, the trust's entitlements to consideration for work performed 

under contracts with customers are shown separately as contract receivables and contract assets. This replaces the 

previous analysis into trade receivables and accrued income.  IFRS 15 is applied without restatement therefore the 

comparative analysis of receivables has not been restated under IFRS 15.
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Note 14.1 Allowances for credit losses - 2018/19

Contract 

receivables 

and contract 

assets

All other 

receivables

£000 £000 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2018 - brought forward 691 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 (and IFRS 15) on 1 April 2018 624 (552)

New allowances arising 195 30

Reversals of allowances (148) (42)

Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (75) (6)
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2019 596 121 

Note 14.2 Allowances for credit losses - 2017/18

All 

receivables

£000 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2017 - as previously stated 594 

Prior period adjustments - 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2017 - restated 594 

Transfers by absorption

Increase in provision 97 

Amounts utilised - 

Unused amounts reversed - 
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2018 691 

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are adopted without restatement therefore this analysis is prepared in line with the requirements of 
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# Note 15 Cash and cash equivalents movements

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

1 At 1 April 1,415 2,945

Prior period adjustments 0 0

At 1 April (restated) 1,415 2,945

At start of period for new FTs 0 0

Transfers by absorption 0 0

Net change in year 885 (1,530)

At 31 March 2,300 1,415

2 Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 67 87 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 2,233 1,328 

Deposits with the National Loan Fund 0 0

Other current investments 0 0

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 2,300 1,415

Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks) 0 0

Drawdown in committed facility 0 0

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 2,300 1,415

# Note 15.1 Third party assets held by the NHS Foundation Trust

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Bank balances 2 5 

Monies on deposit 0 0

Total third party assets 2 5

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust hold cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies 

held by The Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in 

the accounts.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily 

convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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Note 16 Trade and other payables

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Current 

Trade payables 8,141 5,807 

Capital payables 297 563 

Accruals 7,030 8,769 

Social security costs 1,842 1,653 

Other taxes payable 1,452 1,339 

PDC dividend payable 0 0

Accrued interest on loans* 313 

Other payables 4,234 4,070 

Total current trade and other payables 22,996 22,514 

Non-current

Total non-current trade and other payables 0 0

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 3,239 4,429 

Non-current 0 0

Note 17 Other liabilities

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Current 

Other deferred income 1,474 1,584

Total other current liabilities 1,474 1,584

Non-current

Other deferred income 0 0

Total other non-current liabilities 0 0
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Note 18 Borrowings

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Current 

Loans from the Department of Health 55,177 20,300 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts (excl. lifecycle) 1,449 1,392 

Total current borrowings 56,626 21,692

Non-current

Loans from the Department of Health 42,328 55,100 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts 50,754 52,202 

Total non-current borrowings 93,082 107,302

Total borrowings 149,708 128,994

Note 18.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Loans 

from 

DHSC

PFI and 

LIFT 

schemes Total

£000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2018 75,400 53,594 128,994 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal 21,728 (1,391) 20,337 

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (1,548) (2,217) (3,765)

Non-cash movements: - 

Impact of implementing IFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 313 0 313 

Application of effective interest rate 1,612 2,217 3,829 
Carrying value at 31 March 2019 97,505 52,203 149,708 
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# Note 19 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

Pensions - 

former 

directors

Pensions - 

injury 

benefits

Other legal 

claims Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2018 0 585 267 0 852 

At start of period for new FTs 0 0 0 0 0

Change in the discount rate 0 (12) 0 0 (12)

1 Arising during the year 0 0 69 0 69 

Utilised during the year 0 (31) (65) 0 (96)

Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal groups 0 0 0 0 0

Reversed unused 0 0 (68) 0 (68)

Unwinding of discount 0 2 0 0 2 

At 31 March 2019 0 544 203 0 747 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

2 - not later than one year; 0 31 147 0 178

- later than one year and not later than five years; 0 119 56 0 175

- later than five years. 0 394 0 0 394

Total 0 544 203 0 747 

Below is a table detailing a breakdown of the above provisions:
31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000

Employer's liabilities - NHS Resolution 188 233

Public liabilities - NHS Resolution 15 34

Total legal claims 203 267

544 585

Total pensions 544 585

Other provisions - industrial tribunal claims 0 0

0 0

Other provisions - probable repayment of income liabilities 0 0

Other provisions - business rates 0 0

Total Other provisions 0 0

Total provisions 747 852

#

Injury benefits - NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division

Other provisions - VAT costs

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the 

settlement.  The cost and timing of the provision for employer's and occupier's liability has been calculated 

using the information provided by the NHS Litigation Authority.  The injury benefits provision is an amount that 

is payable for the remaining life of three individuals.  The provision has  been calculated based on the historic 

annual payment and the expected remaining life of the individual.  

Page 30



Annual Accounts - Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust - 2018/19

Note 19.1 Clinical negligence liabilities

Note 20 Contractual capital commitments

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Property, plant and equipment 95 493 

Intangible assets 0 0

Total 95 493 

Note 20.1 Other financial commitments

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000 

Not later than 1 year 4,876 2,974 

after 1 year and not later than 5 years 8,101 5,813 

paid thereafter - - 

Total 12,977 8,787 

Note 21 Private Finance Initiative contracts

Note 21.1 PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position

Note 21.2 PFI scheme on-Statement of Financial Position

At 31 March 2019, £202,252k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence 

liabilities of Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2018: £178,815k).

The trust is committed to making payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, PFI contracts or other 

service concession arrangement), analysed by the period during which the payment is made:

A key feature of the PFI scheme is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is 

maintained to an agreed standard for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The 

cost which the operator expects to incur in doing this is reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two 

elements:

• maintenance (planned and reactive); and

• replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.

After the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort Healthcare to operate out of these buildings will 

expire and the Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.

The building is valued within the cycle of the Trusts land & building valuation exercise. The building was 

valued exclusive of VAT in 2016/17. This is  allowable as the VAT is recovered on all payments relating to a 

fully managed and serviced building under a PFI.

The Trust has the right to use the buildings, however Consort Healthcare has the responsibility for 

maintaining the buildings to an agreed standard. All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of 

Consort Healthcare.

The Trust has no contingent liabilities in 2018/19, which relate to the Employer's and Occupier's Liability.  

This is the difference between the provision which the Trust as made for the claim and the actual excess 

which the Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

The Trust does not have any PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position.

In 2011 extensive new acute facilities were built through PFI investment by Consort Healthcare.

The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the contract term (28th August 2041) and there is 

no provision within the contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility 

for variations to the contract and the Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with Standing 

Financial Instructions. The Annual Service Payment will be inflated each April based on the preceding 

February RPI.
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#

# Note 21.3 On-Statement of Financial Position PFI, LIFT or other service 

concession arrangements

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

1 £000 £000 

Gross PFI, LIFT or other service concession liabilities             80,747             84,356 

- not later than one year; 3,607 3,610 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 14,437 14,437 

- later than five years. 62,703 66,309 

Finance charges allocated to future periods (28,544) (30,762)

2 Net PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangement obligation 52,203 53,594 

- not later than one year; 1,449 1,392 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 6,438 6,178 

- later than five years. 44,316 46,024 

52,203 53,594 

# Note 21.4 Total on-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangement commitments

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Total future payments committed in respect of the PFI, LIFT or other service 

concession arrangements 271,656 280,685 

Of which liabilities are due:

- not later than one year; 9,182 8,960 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 39,083 38,137 

- later than five years. 223,391 233,588 

271,656 280,685 

# Note 21.5 Analysis of amounts payable to service concession operator

This note provides an analysis of the Trust's expenditure in 2018/19:

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

Unitary payment payable to service concession operator 8,960 8,647 

Consisting of:

- Interest charge 2,217 2,274 

- Repayment of finance lease liability 1,393 1,336 

- Service element 3,495 3,373 

- Contingent rent 1,135 969 

- Addition to lifecycle prepayment 720 695 

Total amount paid to service concession operator 8,960 8,647 

The Trust has the following obligations in respect of the finance lease element of on-Statement of Financial Position 

PFI and LIFT schemes:

The Trust's total future obligations under these on-SoFP schemes are as follows:
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Note 22 Financial instruments

Note 22.1 Liquidity Risk

The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG's), 

which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust has agreed a block contract with Tameside and 

Glossop CCG, the main commissioner for the Trust. The Trust receives cash each month based on the profiling of the contract 

value.  The Trust financial plan and budgets are based on this contract value.  This means that in periods of significant over-

spend on budgets, there can be a significant cash flow impact. Wherever possible this is mitigated by rephrasing income 

payments with Commissioners.  As the Trust has a deficit financial plan, there is also a reliance on a revenue support loan from 

the DH to provide the cash to support financial obligations.

The Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made available from Government, 

in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed limit.  In addition, the Trust can borrow, both from the 

Department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance capital schemes. Although given current Department of 

Health loan conditions, this is only possible with NHSI approval.  Financing would be drawn down to match the capital spend 

profile of the scheme concerned and the Trust would not therefore be exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area; the Trust 

did not borrow under this arrangement in the year 2018/19.

Note 22.2 Interest-Rate Risk

All of the Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.  The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to 

significant interest-rate risk.  The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest generated on the Trust's investment which 

may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the year, due to fluctuating interest rates on National Loan Fund (NLF) 

investments.  The value of interest generated in 2018/19 was £60k (2017/18 was £28k).  

Note 22.3 Credit Risk

The main source of income for the is from NHS Commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local

agreements and NHS Contracts. Non NHS customers do not represent a large proportion of income, the majority of this relates

to other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The Trust is therefore, not exposed to significant credit risk.

Note 22.4 Treasury Management Arrangements

The Trust operates within an agreed Treasury Management policy that governs the nature of the cash investments.  The 

financial performance of the Trust's cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the Trust's Finance and Performance Committee.  

The credit risk to the Trust is minimal for the investments.  Investments are limited to a maximum amount of £3m with each 

commercial bank and a maximum period of 95 days.  Investments can only be placed with commercial banks who have a Fitch 

credit rating of AA+.  The Trsut is also able to place investments with HM Treasury in the NLF.  The Treasury Management 

policy states an unlimited value can be placed with the NLF.

The Trust also has Interim Revenue Support Loans from the DHSC.  The Trust is required to repay the 1.5% interest element 

on the loan every six months, with the principle of the loan being required to be repaid at the end of the 2 year loan period.  If 

required, the NHS Foundation Trust is able to apply for an extension on this loan for a further 3 year period,  extending the loan 

to 5 years, when the principle would be expected to be repaid in full. Total loan liability for the Trust is £97.5m. DHSC is 

reveiwing their loans policy in 2019/20.

Note 22.5 Currency Risk

The Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances.  There is no currency or translation risk to the Trust.
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Note 23 Carrying values of financial assets

£000 £000 £000 

Receivables (excluding non financial assets) - 

with DHSC group bodies 9,002            0 0 9,002 

Receivables (excluding non financial assets) - 

with other bodies 3,082            0 0 3,082 

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 2,300 0 0 2,300 

Total at 31 March 2019 14,384 0 0 14,384 

Loans and 

receivables 

Assets at fair 

value 

through the 

I&E

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non 

financial assets 4,728 0 0 0 4,728 

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 1,415 0 0 0 1,415 

Total at 31 March 2018 6,143 0 0 0 6,143 

Note 23.1 Carrying value of financial liabilities

£000 £000 £000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 97,505 0 97,505 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts 52,203 0 52,203 

Trade and other payables (excluding non financial 

liabilities) - with DHSC group bodies 3,219 0 3,219 

Trade and other payables (excluding non financial 

liabilities) - with other bodies 14,569 0 14,569 

167,496 0 167,496 

£000 £000 £000

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 75,400 0 75,400 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts 53,594 0 53,594 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 17,716 0 17,716 

146,710 0 146,710 

Note 23.2 Maturity of financial liabilities

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 

74,414 39,409 

43,840 56,547 

4,926 4,730 

44,316 46,024 

167,496 146,710 

In more than two years but not more than five years

In more than five years

Total

In one year or less

In more than one year but not more than two years

Total at 31 March 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applied restrospectively from 1 April 2018 without restatement of comparatives. As such, 

comparative disclosures have been prepared under IAS 39 and the measurement categories differ to those in the current year 

analyses.

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value through 

the I&E

Total book 

valueCarrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2019 under IFRS 9

Total at 31 March 2019

Other 

financial 

liabilities

Held at fair 

value through 

the I&E

Total book 

value

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2018 under IAS 39

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 

March 2018 under IAS 39

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applied restrospectively from 1 April 2018 without restatement of comparatives. As such, 

comparative disclosures have been prepared under IAS 39 and the measurement categories differ to those in the current year 

analyses.

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value through 

I&E

Held at fair 

value through 

OCI

Total book 

value

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 

March 2019 under IFRS 9

£000 

Held to 

maturity

Available-for-

sale

Total book 

value
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# Note 24 Losses and special payments

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Number £000 Number £000 

Losses

Bad debts and claims abandoned 60 82 15 16 

1 Stores losses and damage to property 12 59 1 49 

Total losses 72 141 16 65 

Special payments

Ex gratia payments in respect of: 

 Loss of personal effects 15 4 18 9 

 Clinical negligence with advice - - 

 Personal injury with advice 6 18 3 3 

 Employers negligence and injury 9 55 9 40 

 Other 7 1 3 13 

Total special payments 37 78 33 65 

Total losses and special payments 109 219 49 130 

2 Compensation payments received 0 0

# Note 25 Events after the reporting date

#

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

There were no cases exceeding £250,000 in either the current or prior year.

Note:  the amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses.

The Trust has no events after the reporting date to report.
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Note 26 Initial application of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the Trust from 1 April 2018. 

The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as an adjustment to 

reserves on 1 April 2018.

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and introduces a revised approach to classification and measurement of financial assets and 

financial liabilities, a new forward-looking 'expected loss' impairment model and a revised approach to hedge 

accounting.

Under IFRS 9, borrowings from the DHSC, which were previously held at historic cost, are measured on an amortised 

cost basis. Consequently, on 1 April 2018 borrowings increased by £313k, and trade payables correspondingly 

reduced.

Reassessment of allowances for credit losses under the expected loss model resulted in a £72k decrease in the 

carrying value of receivables.

The GAM expands the definition of a contract in the context of financial instruments to include legislation and 

regulations, except where this gives rise to a tax. Implementation of this adaptation on 1 April 2018 has led to the 

classification of receivables relating to Injury Cost Recovery as a financial asset measured at amortised cost. The 

carrying value of these receivables at 1 April 2018 was £1,419k.

Note 27 Initial application of IFRS 15

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as interpreted and adapted by the GAM has been applied by the 

Trust from 1 April 2018. The standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial application 

recognised as an adjustment to the income and expenditure reserve on 1 April 2018.

IFRS 15 introduces a new model for the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers replacing the previous 

standards IAS 11, IAS 18 and related Interpretations. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue 

when it satisfies performance obligations through the transfer of promised goods or services to customers at an amount 

that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

As directed by the GAM, the Trust has applied the practical expedient offered in C7A of the standard removing the 

need to retrospectively restate any contract modifications that occurred before the date of implementation (1 April 

2018).
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Note 28 Related parties

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

NHS England - Core 4,764 0 314 0

NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 1,396 586 1,383 1,400

HM Revenue & Customs 712 540 3,294 2,992

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust 522 613 122 72

NHS Manchester CCG 395 0 22 543

Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust * 377 458 1,231 1,123

Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 374 278 0 0

Other CCGS 359 298 42 33

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 329 469 70 196

Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 264 447 2 115

NHS Stockport CCG 176 0 4 67

Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust 157 202 225 185

Health Education England 139 29 2 0

NHS Property Services 127 3 0 0

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 75 48 117 314

Other NHS Bodies (including Welsh Health Bodies) 60 77 146 102

NHS England - Greater Manchester Local Office 46 0 0 110

NHS Oldham CCG 40 0 74 770

Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust 38 99 140 238

NHS England - Central Specialised Commissioning Hub 23 0 0 0

NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 18 10 2 1

NHS Pension Scheme 0 0 1,914 1,806

NHS Professionals 0 0 1,010 441

NHS England - North West Specialised Commissioning Hub 0 0 552 0

Community Health Partnerships 0 1 6 0

NHS England - Cheshire and Merseyside Local Office 0 0 0 174

Other Local Authorities 0 1 0 0

Public Health England (PHE) 0 0 0 1

Total 10,391 4,159 10,672 10,683 

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 

NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG 152,193 164,704 1,836 2,121

Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 26,214 7,386 891 1,068

NHS England - Core 7,552 1,389 0 0

NHS Oldham CCG 6,384 6,120 34 51

NHS Manchester CCG 6,326 5,799 0 0

NHS England - North West Specialised Commissioning Hub 5,345 5,936 0 0

Health Education England 4,967 4,774 6 0

Department of Health and Social Care 2,905 0 2 5

NHS Stockport CCG 1,636 1,211 0 0

NHS England - Greater Manchester Local Office 1,528 1,268 0 0

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 1,414 1,442 468 649

Other CCGS 1,076 1,026 0 0

Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust * 762 379 3,701 1,788

NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG 724 632 0 0

Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 456 661 0 0

Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust 343 282 242 251

Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust 252 254 35 42

NHS Bury CCG 168 118 0 0

NHS Trafford CCG 162 198 0 0

NHS Salford CCG 144 143 0 0

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust 137 178 370 307

Other NHS Bodies (including Welsh Health Bodies) 108 116 477 336

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 99 91 474 580

NHS Property Services 97 94 0 0

NHS England - South West (North) 68 0 0 0

NHS England - Central Specialised Commissioning Hub 20 0 0 0

Other Local Authorities 3 1 4 0

Bolton NHS Foundation Trust 1 0 125 50

NHS Pension Scheme 0 0 13,864 13,139

HM Revenue & Customs 0 0 12,281 11,453

NHS Professionals 0 0 10,165 9,322

NHS Resolution 0 0 8,468 12,122

Community Health Partnerships 0 0 1,641 0

NHS Blood and Transplant 0 0 621 615

Care Quality Commission 0 0 149 202

Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust 0 0 105 116

Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 0 0 34 138

Public Health England (PHE) 0 0 1 34

Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust * 0 596 0 995

University Hospital of South Manchester NHS Foundation Trust * 0 2 0 647

Total 221,084 204,800 55,994 56,031 

The Trust is a public benefit body authorised by NHS Improvement, the independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

During the period there has been no material transactions with any member of the Board or members of key management staff or 

parties related to them, with Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party.  During the year Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is 

regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed below, along with details of Income and Expenditure and the Debtor and 

Creditor balances.

Receivables Payables

Income Expenditure
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